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Balance Sheet as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 Balance Sheet as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 (AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

NotesNotes 31.12.201931.12.2019 31.12.201831.12.2018

Assets

Cash and deposits at central banks 4 190,988,448 159,372,252

Loans and advances to credit institutions repayable on demand 5 24,428,190 26,739,729

Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit and loss 6 69,425,364 26,620,444

Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through other  
comprehensive income

7 34,178,458 198,119,726

Financial assets at amortised cost

Debt securities 8 529,302,406 274,968,716

Loans and advances to Customers 9 442,701,013 420,264,577

Loans and advances to credit institutions repayable on demand 10 17,012,282 13,312,565

Other tangible assets 11 61,282,073 65,709,104

Property and equipment 12 35,981,690 32,625,573

Non-current assets held for sale 13 88,628,779 65,790,661

Current tax assets 2,056,239 1,014,785

Deferred tax assets 14 2,288,990 2,536,619

Other assets 15 103,205,141 71,697,218

Total assets 1,601,479,073 1,358,771,969

Liabilities and equity

Deposits from central banks and other credit institutions 16 176,493,638 160,054,580

Deposits from Customers and other deposits 17 1,234,985,588 1,042,924,548

Financial liabilities and liabilities at fair value through profit and loss 6 207,095 50,510

Provisions 18 8,382,018 5,161,101

Current tax liabilities 14 - -

Deferred tax liabilities 14 68,602 862,012

Other liabilities 19 18,024,543 14,679,727

Total liabilities 1,438,161,484 1,223,732,478

Share capital 20 53,821,603 53,821,603

Share premium 20 34,810,069 34,810,069

Treasury stock 20 (492,182) (492,182)

Other reserves and retained earnings 21 44,552,606 17,327,517

Revaluation reserves 21 160,631 2,347,396

Profit/(loss) for the period 30,464,862 27,225,088

Total equity attributable to the equity holders of the Bank 163,317,589 135,039,491

Total liabilities and equity  1,601,479,073 1,358,771,969

The following notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

Income Statement for the periods ended at 31 December 2019 and 2018  Income Statement for the periods ended at 31 December 2019 and 2018  
(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

NotesNotes 31.12.201931.12.2019 31.12.201831.12.2018

Interest and similar income 22 119,613,445 118,452,965

Interest and similar expense 22 (53,255,332) (51,223,346)

Net interest income 66,358,113 67,229,619

Fees and commissions income 23 16,813,068 21,250,115

Fees and commissions expense 23 (1,786,607) (610,385)

Profit/(loss) from fees and commissions 15,026,461 20,639,730

Net gains/(losses) arising from financial assets and liabilities  
through profit or loss

24 (287,653) (1,134,897)

Net gains/(losses) arising from available for sale financial assets 25 1,053,520 2,729,250

Net gains/(losses) arising from foreign exchange differences 26 3,124,635 13,456,258

Net gains/(losses) arising from the disposal of other assets 27 25,719,887 2,770,784

Net gains/(losses) from financial operations 29,610,389 17,821,395

Operating income 110,994,963 105,690,744

Staff costs 28 (21,146,974) (22,481,591)

Supplies and services 29 (12,855,806) (16,946,248)

Depreciation and amortisation for the period 11 and 12 (6,424,570) (4,608,577)

Provisions net of reversals
13, 15 

and 18
(2,764,676) (9,106,581)

Impairment for financial assets at amortised cost 8 and 9 (28,870,784) (24,537,890)

Impairment for financial assets through other comprehensive income 21 175,354 (210,720)

Other operating income 30 (8,395,016) (1,492,901)

Profit/(loss) before tax from continuing operations 30,712,491 26,306,236

Income tax (247,629) 918,852

Current 14 - 131,263

Deferred 14 (247,629) 787,589

Profit/(loss) after tax from continuing operations

Net profit/(loss) 30,464,862 27,225,088

Weighted average number of ordinary shares issued 31 53,821,603 53,821,603

Basic earnings per share (in kwanzas) 31 0.57 0.51

Diluted earnings per share (in kwanzas) 31 0.57 0.51

The following notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

Financial 
Statements 
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Statement of Comprehensive Income for the periods ended  Statement of Comprehensive Income for the periods ended  
at 31 December 2019 and 2018at 31 December 2019 and 2018 (AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

NotesNotes 31.12.201931.12.2019 31.12.201831.12.2018

Net profit/(loss) for the period 30,464,862 27,225,088

Items that may be reclassified into the income statement

Debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income

Profit/(losses) for the period 21 (3,155,529) 2,352,363

Transfer to profit/(loss) for impairment recognised in the period 21 175,354 (210,720)

Deferred taxes 21 793,410 (116,139)

(2,186,765) 2,025,504

Total comprehensive income for the period 28,278,097 29,250,592

StatStatement of Changes in equity for the periods ended  ement of Changes in equity for the periods ended  
at 31 Decembeat 31 December 2019 and 2018r 2019 and 2018 (AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

Reserves and retained earningsReserves and retained earnings

Share Share 
CapitalCapital

Share  Share  
premiumspremiums

Treasury Treasury 
stockstock

Fair values Fair values 
reservesreserves

Other  Other  
reserves  reserves  

and and 
retained retained 
earningsearnings

TotalTotal Net profit/Net profit/
(losses) for (losses) for 
the periodthe period

Total  Total  
equityequity

Balance on 31 
December 2017 53,821,603 34,810,069 (492,182) 1,741,492 14,829,558 16,571,050 23,828,500 128,539,040

Transition adjustments 
to IFRS 9 - - - (1,419,600) (2,442,065) (3,861,665) - (3,861,665)

Balance on 1 January 
2018 53,821,603 34,810,069 (492,182) 321,892 12,387,493 12,709,385 23,828,500 124,677,375

Fair value changes,  
net of taxes - - - 2,025,504 - 2,025,504 - 2,025,504

Net profit/(losses) 
for the period - - - - - - 27,225,088 27,225,088

Total comprehensive 
income for the period - - - 2,025,504 - 2,025,504 27,225,088 29,250,592

Application of 2017 
profits

Reserves and retained 
earnings - - - - 4,765,700 4,765,700 (4,765,700) -

Distribution of profits - - - - - - - -

Dividends for 
Shareholders - - - - - - (18,888,476) (18,888,476)

Dividends for 
treasury stock - - - - 174,325 174,325 (174,325) -

Balance on 31 
December 2018 53,821,603 34,810,069 (492,182) 2,347,396 17,327,517 19,674,914 27,225,088 135,039,491

Fair value changes,  
net of taxes - - - (2,186,765) - (2,186,765) - (2,186,765)

Net profit/(losses)  
for the period - - - - - 30,464,862 30,464,862

Total comprehensive 
income for the period - - - (2,186,765) - (2,186,765) 30,464,862 28,278,097

Application of 2018 
profits

Reserves and retained 
earnings - - - - 27,225,088 27,225,088 (27,225,088) -

Balance on 31 
December 2019 53,821,603 34,810,069 (492,182) 160,631 44,552,606 44,713,237 30,464,862 163,317,589

The following notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Cash Flow Statement for the periods ended at 31 December 2019 and 2018 Cash Flow Statement for the periods ended at 31 December 2019 and 2018   
(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

NotesNotes 31.12.201931.12.2019 31.12.201831.12.2018

Cash flows arising from operating activities

Interest income received 114,636,165 172,516,228

Interes expense paid (49,129,904) (56,185,755)

Payments to employees and suppliers (42,135,806) (38,407,323)

Cash flows befores changes in operating assets and liabilities  23,370,455 77,923,150

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:  

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss (39,805,512) (8,973,995)

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (132,955,504) (96,163,581)

Financial assets at amortised cost

Debt securities 33,065,947 (55,272,137)

Loans and advances to Customers (22,910,209) (89,358,490)

Loans and advances to credit institutions repayable on demand (3,655,819) 17,932,364

Deposits from credit institutions 19,274,779 41,053,783

Non-current assets held for sale 1,184,489 (21,354,788)

Deposits from Customers 184,271,473 246,712,642

Other operating assets and liabilities (27,221,525) (37,432,434)

Net cash flows arising from operating activities, 
before income taxes

 
 34,618,574 75,066,514

Taxes on income paid (585,409) (1,393,336)

Net cash flows arising from operating activities  34,033,165 73,673,178

Cash flows arising from investing activities  

Dividends received - 73,812

Acquisition of financial investments (3,283,932) (6,866,892)

Net cash flows arising from investing activities  (3,283,932) (6,793,080)

Cash flows arising from investing activities  

Reimbursement of bonds and subordinated debt (1,444,576) -

Dividends from ordinary shares paid - (18,888,476)

Net cash flows arising from financing investments  (1,444,576) (18,888,476)

Net changes in cash and cash equivalents  29,304,657 47,991,622

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period  186,111,981 138,120,359

Net changes in cash and cash equivalents  29,304,657 47,991,622

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period  215,416,638 186,111,981

Cash and cash equivalents includes:  

Cash 4 16,117,014 11,206,639

Loans and advances to central banks 4 174,871,434 148,165,613

Loans and advances to credit institutions 5 24,428,190 26,739,729

Total  215,416,638 186,111,981

The following notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Note 1.
Introduction

Banco Millennium Atlântico, S.A., which also 
uses the brand ATLANTICO (hereinafter 
referred to as "Banco" or "ATLANTICO"), 
was incorporated by Public Deed on 31 
August 2006. Through communication of 
Banco Nacional de Angola (hereinafter also 
referred to as "BNA") dated 6 November 
2006, ATLANTICO was authorized and 
definitively registered as ATLANTICO, and 
started its business activity on 17 November 
2006. ATLANTICO operates and has its 
head office in Angola, at Rua do Centro de 
Convenções de Talatona, Via S8, GUOSB, 
Edifício ATLANTICO, Bloco 7/8, Bairro 
Talatona, Distrito Urbano da Samba, Luanda.

The Bank is dedicated to obtaining resourc-
es from third parties in the form of deposits 
or other, which applies, together with its 
own resources, in the granting of loans, in 
deposits at BNA, in investments in credit 
institutions, in the acquisition of securi-
ties and other assets, for which it is duly 
authorized. The Bank also provides other 
bank services and performs various types 
of transactions in foreign currency through 
a network, as at 31 December 2019, of 130 
service points (31 December 2018: 136 ser-
vice points).

Regarding the shareholder structure, as 
detailed in note 20, the Bank is owned mainly 
by private Angolan Shareholders.	

In May 2016, the former Banco Privado 
Atlântico entered into a merger by incor-
poration with Banco Millennium Angola, 
creating Banco Millennium Atlântico. For 
accounting purposes, the merger produces 
effects on 1 January 2016.

Note 2.
Accounting policies

2.1. Basis of presentation
In accordance with the provisions of Notice 
No. 6/2016 of 22 June, from Banco Nacional 
de Angola, the financial statements of 
Banco Millennium Atlântico, S.A., (Bank or 
ATLANTICO) are prepared in accordance 
with the International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS”).

IFRS include accounting standards issued 
by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (IASB) and the interpretations issued 
by the International Financial Reporting 
Interpretation Committee (IFRIC) and their 
predecessor bodies.

The individual financial statements of 
Banco Millennium Atlântico, S.A, now pre-
sented relate to the period ended as at 31 
December 2019.

For the period ended 2017 and 2018, Banco 
Nacional de Angola (“BNA”) expressed 
an interpretation referring that not all 
the requirements of IAS 29 - Financial 
Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies 
("IAS 29") have been fulfilled in order for 
the Angolan economy to be considered 
hyperinflationary and, thus, the Board 
of Directors of the Bank decided not to 
apply the provisions of that Standard to 
its financial statements as of that date. The 
effect resulting from the application of this 
standard in those financial years is not also 
reflected in the financial statements of 31 
December 2019. 

The accounting policies presented in this 
note were applied consistently with those 
used in the financial statements as of 31 
December 2018, except for the changes 
resulting from the adoption of IFRS 16 – 
Leases which replaces IAS 17 – Leases. The 
most relevant changes are described in note 
2.11 - Leases.

The financial statements are expressed 
in thousands of kwanzas, rounded to the 
nearest thousand. These were prepared in 

accordance with the historical cost princi-
ple, with the exception of assets and liabili-
ties recorded at fair value, namely financial 
assets at fair value through other compre-
hensive income and financial assets at fair 
value through profit and loss.

The preparation of financial statements in 
accordance with IFRS requires the Bank to 
make judgments and estimates and to use 
assumptions that affect the application of 
accounting policies and the amounts of 
income, expenses, assets and liabilities. 
Changes in such assumptions or differenc-
es between them and reality may have an 
impact on current estimates and judgments. 
Areas that involve a higher level of judg-
ment or complexity, or where assumptions 
and significant estimates are used in the 
preparation of the financial statements are 
analysed in Note 3.

The Bank’s financial statements for the 
period ended on 31 December 2019 were 
approved by the Board of Directors on 15 
April 2020.

2.2. Comparability of the information
The Bank adopted the standards whose 
application is mandatory for periods 
beginning on or after 01 January 2019. The 
accounting policies were applied consist-
ently and are consistent with those used in 
the prior year financial statements, except 
for the changes resulting from the adoption 
of IFRS 16, whose impact is presented in 
note 2.11.

The requirements presented by IAS/IFRS 
are generally applied retrospectively, by 
adjusting the opening balance sheet to the 
date of initial application (1 January 2018). 

2.3. Transactions in foreign 
currency
Transactions in foreign currency are trans-
lated into the functional currency (kwanza) 
at the exchange rate published on the date 
of the transaction. Monetary assets and 
liabilities expressed in foreign currency are 
converted into the functional currency at 
the exchange rate published at the balance 
sheet date. Foreign exchange differences 

resulting from the conversion are recognised 
in the income statement. Non-monetary 
assets and liabilities expressed in foreign 
currency and recorded at historical cost are 
converted to the functional currency at the 
exchange rate published on the date of the 
transaction. Non-monetary assets and liabil-
ities recorded at fair value are translated into 
the functional currency at the exchange rate 
published on the date when the fair value is 
determined and recognised in the income 
statement, except for those recognised in 
available-for-sale financial assets, whose 
difference is recorded in equity.

The reference exchange rates of kwanza 
towards US dollar (USD) and euro (EUR) 
were the following:
 

Currency Currency 31.12.201931.12.2019 31.12.201831.12.2018

AOA/USD 482.227 308.607

AOA/EUR 540.817 353.015

2.4. Loans granted and accounts 
receivable
Loans granted and accounts receivable are 
non-derivative financial assets with fixed or 
determinable payments which are not quoted 
in an active market and are not intended to 
be sold in the short term. These categories 
include loans granted to Customers, cash and 
cash equivalents, other loans and advances 
to credit institutions and other receivables 
that are not traded in an active market. These 
are recorded by the contracted amounts, 
when originated by the Bank, or by amounts 
paid, when purchased from other entities.

Loans granted and accounts receivable are 
initially accounted at fair value plus trans-
action costs and are subsequently meas-
ured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest rate method and are presented in 
the balance sheet net of impairment losses. 
Interest calculated at the effective interest 
rate is recognised in Net interest income on 
a straight-line basis.

Loans granted and accounts receivable 
are derecognised from the balance sheet 
(write-offs) when (i) the contractual rights 
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of the Bank to their respective cash flows have 
expired, (ii) the Bank transferred substantially 
all associated risks and rewards of ownership, 
or (iii) notwithstanding the fact that the Bank 
may have retained part, but not substantially 
all the associated risks and rewards of owner-
ship, control over the assets was transferred.

2.5. Financial instruments

Classification, initial recognition and 
subsequent measurement
In accordance with IFRS 9 – "Financial 
instruments", financial assets can be clas-
sified into three categories with different 
measurement criteria:

■ �Financial assets measured at amortised cost, 

■ �Financial assets measured at fair value 
through profit and loss; and 

■ �Financial assets measured at fair value 
through other comprehensive income.

The classification of assets depends on the 
characteristics of the contractual cash flows 
and the business model related to them.

With regards to the characteristics of con-
tractual cash flows, the criteria is to assess 
whether these reflect solely payments of 
principal and interest (SPPI).

Business model
The standard identifies two relevant business 
models for the Bank’s activity:

■ �Business model whose purpose is to held 
the asset to collect its contractual cash 
flows (Hold to collect); and,

■ �Business model whose purpose is both to 
collect its contractual cash flows and the 
sale of financial assets (Hold to collect 
and sell).

A debt financial instrument that (i) is man-
aged under a business model whose pur-
pose is to held financial assets in the port-
folio and receive all of its contractual cash 
flows and (ii) has contractual cash flows 
on specific dates corresponding to solely 
payments of principal and interest on the 

outstanding principal - should be measured 
at amortised cost, unless it is designated at 
fair value through profit and loss under the 
fair value option – “Hold to collect”.

A debt financial instrument that (i) is man-
aged under a business model whose pur-
pose is both to collect its contractual cash 
flows and the sale of financial assets and 
(ii) contains contractual clauses that give 
rise to cash flows corresponding to solely 
payments of principal and interest on the 
outstanding capital - should be measured 
at fair value through other comprehensive 
income ("FVTOCI"), unless it is designated 
at fair value through profit and loss under 
the fair value option "Hold to collect & sale".

All other debt financial instruments should 
be measured at fair value through profit and 
loss ("FVPL").

The Bank assessed its business models 
based on a wide set of indicators, including 
its business plan and current risk manage-
ment policies.

The Bank conducted an assessment of the 
business model in which the financial instru-
ment is held, at a portfolio level, as this 
approach reflects the best way in which 
assets are managed and how the infor-
mation is made available to management 
bodies. The information considered in this 
assessment includes:

■ �policies and goals established for the 
portfolio and the practical operability 
of these policies. In particular, how the 
management strategy focuses on receiv-
ing contractual interest, keeping a cer-
tain interest rate profile, adjusting the 
lifetime of financial assets to the lifetime 
of liabilities that sponsor these assets or 
generating cash flows through the sale 
of the assets; 

■ �how the portfolio’s performance is 
assessed and reported to the Bank’s man-
agement bodies;

■ �assessing the risks that affect the per-
formance of the business model (and 

of the financial assets held under this business model) and how these 
risks are managed;

■ �the remuneration of business managers – e.g. to what extent the com-
pensation depends on the fair value of assets under management or 
contractual cash flows received; and

■ �frequency, volume and periodicity of sales in previous periods, the reasons 
for such sales and the expectations about future sales. However, sales 
information should not be considered separately, but as part of an overall 
assessment of how the Bank sets goals for managing financial assets and 
how cash flows are obtained.

Assess if contractual cash flows correspond solely to payments of prin-
cipal and interest (SPPI)
For the purpose of this assessment, "principal" is defined as the fair value 
of the financial asset at initial recognition. "Interest" is defined as the com-
pensation for the time value of money, the credit risk associated with the 
outstanding amount over a given period of time and for other risks and 
costs associated to the activity (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative costs), 
as well as a mark-up rate.

In the assessment of financial instruments in which contractual cash flows 
relate exclusively to the payments of principal and interest, the Bank con-
sidered the original contractual terms of the instrument. This assessment 
included the analysis of existing situations in which the contractual terms 
can change the periodicity and the amount of cash flows which fail to com-
ply with the SPPI condition. In the assessment process, the Bank considered:

■ �contingent events that may change the periodicity and amount of cash flows; 

■ characteristics resulting in leverage;

■ prepayment and extension of maturity terms;

■ �provisions that may restrict the Bank’s right to claim cash flows relating 
to specific assets (e.g. non-recourse loans); and

■ �characteristics that may change time-value compensation of money 
(e.g. periodic resetting interest rates.

As previously mentioned, the "Hold to collect" business model establish-
es quantitative thresholds based on past experience in order to evaluate 
the frequency and materiality of sales. The sales forecast for the financial 
assets classified under this business model do not exceed the thresholds 
set by the Bank.

With regards to the other financial instruments, namely equity instruments 
and derivatives, these are by definition classified at fair value through 
profit and loss. For equity instruments, there is an irrevocable option to 
designate that all fair value changes are recognised in other comprehen-
sive income, in which case only dividends are recognised in profit and loss 
as long as they do not clearly represent a recovery of part of the investment 
cost as the gains and losses are not reclassified to profit and loss even when 
they are derecognised.
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Reclassifications
Financial assets are not reclassified after their initial recognition, except for 
the period after the Bank changes its business model to the management 
of financial assets.

Financial assets are reclassified to other categories only if the business 
model used in their management changes. In such case, all affected finan-
cial assets are reclassified.

The reclassification is applied prospectively from the date of reclassification, 
and no gains, losses (including impairment losses) or previously recognised 
interest are restated.

Reclassification of investments in equity instruments measured at fair value 
through other comprehensive income or financial instruments designated 
at fair value through profit and loss, is not allowed.

Financial assets measured at amortised cost
The Bank measures a financial asset at amortised cost if it meets, simulta-
neously, the following requirements and is not recorded at FVTPL (use of 
the Fair Value Option):

■ �the financial asset is held in a business model whose main purpose is 
to held the asset to collect its contractual cash flows (HTC – Held to 
collect); and

■ �its contractual cash flows occur on specific dates and correspond solely 
to payments of principal and interest on the SPPI (Solely Payments of 
Principal and Interest).

These instruments are initially recorded at fair value and subsequently 
valued at amortised cost, based on the effective interest rate method and 
are subject to impairment tests.

Included in this category are debt securities, loans and advances to Customers 
and other loans and advances to credit institutions and other receivables. 

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income include equi-
ty and debt instruments that are recorded at fair value at the time of their initial 
recognition. Gains and losses on subsequent fair value variation are recorded in 
a specific equity caption referred to as "Accumulated comprehensive income 
reserve" until its sale where they are reclassified to profit and loss for the peri-
od, except for equity instruments that are reclassified to retained earnings.

Interest is calculated using the effective interest rate method and recorded 
in the income statement under "Interest and similar income".

Income from variable income securities is recognised in the income state-
ment under "Income from equity instruments (Dividends)" at the date these 
are allocated. According to this criteria, prepaid dividends are recorded as 
income for the period in which its distribution is approved.

Financial assets and liabilities at fair 
value through profit and loss
All financial assets that are not measured 
according to the methods described above 
are measured at fair value through profit 
and loss. In addition, at initial recognition, 
the Bank may irrevocably classify a financial 
asset, which otherwise meets the require-
ments to be measured at amortised cost or 
at fair value through other comprehensive 
income and at fair value through profit and 
loss, if the classification significantly elimi-
nates the accounting mismatch that would 
otherwise exist (Fair Value Option).

This category included mainly securities 
acquired for the purpose of realising gains 
from short-term fluctuations in market pric-
es fall within this category. Also included in 
this category are financial derivative instru-
ments, excluding those that meet hedge 
accounting requirements. 

Gains and losses generated by the subse-
quent valuation recorded in the income 
statement, under "Gains/(losses) arising 
from financial assets and liabilities meas-
ured at fair value through profit and loss". 
Interest is reflected under the caption 
"Interest and similar income".

Debt instruments whose contractual cash 
flow characteristics do not comply with the 
SPPI criteria and that would otherwise be 
measured at amortised cost or at fair value 
through other comprehensive income are 
mandatorily measured at fair value through 
profit and loss.

Financial assets held for trading include 
variable income securities in active markets 
acquired for the purpose of being traded in 
the short term. Trading derivatives with net 
value receivable (positive fair value) and 
options purchased are included in the finan-
cial assets held for trading. Trading deriva-
tives with a net amount payable (negative 
fair value) and options sold are included in 
the financial liabilities held for trading.

Financial assets and liabilities held for trad-
ing and other financial assets at fair value 
through profit and loss are initially recog-
nised at fair value. Gains and losses arising 
from the subsequent fair value variation are 
recognised in the income statement.

Derecognition
Assets are derecognised when (i) the con-
tractual rights of the Bank to their respec-
tive cash flows have expired, (ii) the Bank 
transferred substantially all associated risks 
and rewards of ownership, or (iii) notwith-
standing the fact that the Bank may have 
retained part, but not substantially all the 
associated risks and rewards of ownership, 
control over the assets was transferred.

Sale transactions with repurchase 
agreement
Securities sold under repurchase agree-
ments are held in the portfolio where they 
were originally recorded. The funds received 
are recorded as liabilities, on the settlement 
date, and the interest payable is accrued.

Impairment
IFRS 9 introduces the concept of expected 
credit losses that differs significantly from the 
concept of losses incurred under IAS 39, there-
by anticipating the recognition of credit losses 
in the financial statements of the institutions. 
Thus, when determining the ECL, macroeco-
nomic factors are considered, whose changes 
impact the expected losses. IFRS 9 defines that 
the concept of impairment based on expected 
losses be applied to all financial assets other 
than financial assets measured at fair value 
through profit and loss and equity instruments 
measured at fair value through equity.

The Bank applies the concept of expected 
credit losses of IFRS 9 to financial assets at 
amortised cost, debt instruments measured 
at fair value through other comprehen-
sive income, off-balance sheet exposures, 
finance leases, other amounts receivable, 
financial guarantees and loan commitments 
not recorded at fair value.
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The expected loss for credit risk is an esti-
mate weighted by the probability of the 
present value of the credit losses. This esti-
mate results from the present value of the 
difference between the cash flows due to 
the Bank under the contract and the cash 
flows that the Bank expects to receive aris-
ing from the weighting of several future 
macroeconomic scenarios discounted at 
the interest rate of the financial instruments.

The Bank measures the expected loss on an 
individual or collective basis for portfolios of 
financial instruments that share similar risk 
characteristics. The measurement of the pro-
vision for losses is based on the present value 
of the expected cash flows of the asset using 
the asset's original effective interest rate, 
whether measured individually or collectively. 

The ECL determination to be applied depends 
on the allocation of the contract to one of three 
stages. At the initial recognition stage, each 
contract is allocated to stage 1 (with the excep-
tion of Contracts Purchased or Originated 
with Objective Evidence of Loss: Purchased 
or Originated Credit Impaired - POCI). 

For each of the subsequent reporting dates, 
it is necessary to perform an analysis to the 
variation in the default risk from that date 
to the expected maturity of the agreement.

Instruments that are subject to impairment 
calculations are divided in three stages 
considering its credit risk level, as follows: 

Stage 1: no significant increase in cred-
it risk since its initial recognition. In this 
case, impairment losses will correspond 
to expected credit losses resulting from 
default events that may occur within 12 
months after the reporting date;  

Stage 2: instruments in which there is a sig-
nificant increase in credit risk since its initial 
recognition, however no objective evidence 
of impairment exists. In this case, impair-
ment losses will correspond to expected 

credit losses resulting from default events 
that may occur over the expected residual 
life of the instrument;  

Stage 3: instruments for which there is 
objective evidence of impairment losses 
as a consequence of events that resulted in 
losses. In this case, impairment losses will 
correspond to expected credit losses over 
the expected residual life of the instrument.

Depending on the operation’s Stage classifi-
cation, credit losses are estimated according 
to the following criteria:

■ �12-month expected losses: expected loss 
resulting from a loss event occurring with-
in 12 months after the calculation date and 
it is applied for stage 1 operations; and,

■ �Lifetime expected losses: expected loss 
obtained through the difference between 
the contractual cash flows and the cash 
flows that the entity expects to receive 
until the maturity of the agreement. That 
is, the expected loss results from all poten-
tial loss events to maturity and it is applied 
to stage 2 and 3 operations.

With the exception of financial assets pur-
chased or originated with impairment (des-
ignated by POCI), impairment losses must be 
estimated through a provision for losses in an 
amount equal to:

■ �expected loss on a 12-month credit risk, i.e. 
estimated total loss resulting from events 
of default of the financial instrument that 
may occur within 12 months after the 
reporting date (referred to as Stage 1);

■ ��expected loss on a lifetime credit risk, 
i.e. expected loss obtained through the 
difference between the contractual cash 
flows and the cash flows that the entity 
expects to receive until the maturity of 
the agreement, resulting from all pos-
sible events of default of the financial 
instrument (referred to as Stage 2 and 
Stage 3). A provision for the expected 
loss on a lifetime credit risk is required 

for a financial instrument if the credit risk 
of that financial instrument has increased 
significantly since initial recognition or if 
the financial instrument is impaired.

IFRS 9 - "Financial instruments" fails to 
define a concept of default. However, the 
Bank has chosen to update its internal 
default definition by introducing a set of 
criteria to reflect a more forward-looking 
model for the recognition of expected loss-
es on financial assets. For an operation to 
be classified in default, it is only necessary 
that one of the criteria is met. Any particu-
lar operation/customer will no longer be 
classified in default if it fails to comply with 
the respective entry criteria and after that 
quarantine period has been fulfilled.

Impairment requirements of IFRS 9 are 
complex and require management deci-
sions, estimates and assumptions, particu-
larly in the following areas: 

■ �assessment of an increase in significant risk 
since the moment of initial recognition; and

■ �inclusion of forward-looking information 
on the ECL calculation.

ECL calculation
ECLs are weighted estimates of credit losses 
that will be determined as follows:

■ �financial assets with no signs of impairment 
at the reporting date: the present value of 
the difference of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the 
difference between the cash flows due to 
the Bank under the agreement and the 
cash flows the Bank expects to receive); 

■ �financial assets with impairment signs at 
the reporting date: the difference between  
the gross book value and the present 
value of the estimated cash flows;

■ �unused loan commitments: the pres-
ent value of the difference between the 
resulting contractual cash flows if the 
commitment is fulfilled and the cash flows 
that the Bank expects to receive; and

■ �financial guarantees: the present value of 
expected repayments less the amounts that 
the Bank expects to recover.

The concept supporting the Bank’s approach 
for the determination of impairment losses 
on loans subject to collective analysis is 
the definition of homogeneous segments 
that consider the quality of its assets and 
the characteristics of credit/customer risk. 
Accordingly, the Bank ensures that for the 
purposes of analysing these exposures and 
determining the risk parameters (PD and 
LGD), these have similar risk characteristics. 
Each segment is set up based on assump-
tions of statistical materiality (in order to 
estimate its risk profile) and relevance or 
adequacy to the various processes related 
to the Bank’s credit risk management.

In accordance with IFRS 9, the Bank has 
developed ECL lifetime for financial assets 
as the present value of the difference 
between (1) the cash flows to which the 
entity is entitled under the agreement, and 
(2) the cash flows that the entity expects to 
receive. For assets that are not in default, 
the same principle applies.

The Bank defined the 12-month ECL as the 
portion of ECL lifetime that represents  
the expected credit losses that result from 
default events that may occur within 12 
months after the reporting date. Thus, 
this principle applies to assets that are 
not in default. 

The current methodology in the Bank 
defines that, for assets in default, the life-
time ECL is obtained through the loss value 
given the default, depending on the elapsed 
time since the asset entered in default. 

Significant increase in credit risk
The stage 2 rating is based on the observa-
tion of a significant increase in the credit risk 
level. Since the standard does not determine 
how to measure this significant increase, the 
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Bank estimates it by comparing the resid-
ual Lifetime Forward-Looking PDs at the 
reporting date with those estimated in the 
agreement, for the same residual maturity.

Since the Bank does not yet have the required 
rating and scoring models, the stage 2 rating 
is made based on objective triggers with the 
available information. 

Triggers for the significant increase in cred-
it risk are detected through automatic pro-
cesses, based on information stored in the 
Bank’s information systems.

Inputs in ECL measurement
The main inputs used to measure ECLs 
on a collective basis should include the 
following variables:  

■ Probability of Default (PD); 

■ Loss Given Default (LGD); 

■ Exposure at Default (EAD);

■ �Discount rate of cash flows (effective 
interest rate) (Discount Rate – DR); and

■ �These parameters will be achieved through 
internal statistical models and other rel-
evant historical data, tailored to reflect 
forward-looking information.

PDs will be estimated based on a certain his-
torical period, and will be calculated based 
on statistical models. These models will be 
based on internal data comprising both 
quantitative and qualitative factors. If there 
is a change in the risk of the counterparty 
or exposure, the estimate of the associated 
PD will also change. 

The risk levels will be a highly relevant input 
for determining PDs associated with each 
exposure. The Bank will collect perfor-
mance and default indicators on its credit 
risk exposures with analysis by types of 
Customers and products. 

LGD is the extent of the loss that is expect-
ed to occur if the exposure goes into 
default. The Bank estimates LGD parame-
ters based on the historical recovery rates 
after counterparty defaults. LGD models 
consider the associated collaterals and the 
default time.

EAD represents the expected exposure if the 
exposure and /or the customer enter into 
defaults. The Bank will obtain EAD amounts 
from the counterparty's current exposure 
and potential changes to the current allow-
able amount under contractual conditions, 
including amortizations and prepayments. 
For commitments and financial guarantees, 
the EAD amount considers the credit con-
version factor (CCF), which measures the 
proportion of the off-balance sheet exposure 
that is converted into equity exposure until 
the effective date, that is, the prospective 
potential amount that may be used in accord-
ance with the agreement.

The discount rate to use according to the 
standard would be the effective interest 
rate of the contract. 

As described above, with the exception of 
financial assets that consider a 12-month 
PD once they do not present a significant 
increase in credit risk, the Bank will calcu-
late the ECL amount considering the risk 
of default during the maximum contractual 
period of the contract or, in some specific 
situations, based on behavioural maturity.

Forward-looking information
According to this new model recommend-
ed by IFRS 9, the measurement of expect-
ed losses will also require the provision 
of forward-looking information, including 
trends and future scenarios, including mac-
roeconomic data. In this context, estimates 
of expected credit impairment losses will 
include several macroeconomic scenarios 

whose probability will be assessed consider-
ing past events, the current status and future 
macroeconomic trends. In addition, IFRS 9 
also proposes the identification of alternative 
scenarios for impairment calculation.

Under IFRS 9, the Bank conducted several 
correlation tests to incorporate forward-
looking information both in its assessment 
of the significant risk increase and in the 
measurement of ECL. 

A detailed analysis of available macroeconom-
ic data was conducted to determine statisti-
cally significant relationships between them 
and portfolio default rates. Based on this 
analysis, prospective scenarios were assumed 
that include, besides the central scenario, 
best-case and worst-case scenarios. This anal-
ysis and consequent incorporation into the 
impairment model are carried out regularly by 
the Bank, including identification and testing 
of other macroeconomic data.

In this context, the Bank used a linear regres-
sion model to capture the impact of macroe-
conomic factors with a significant influence 
on the probability of default. This model 
considered three different scenarios: (i) an 
economic development best-case scenario; 
(ii) an economic growth best-case scenario; 
and (iii) a worst-case scenario that included 
an increase in inflation rates.

There are two methods for calculating 
impairment fosses: i) individual analysis and 
ii) collective analysis.

The Bank measures the expected loss on an 
individual or collective basis for portfolios of 
financial instruments that share similar risk 
characteristics. The measurement of the pro-
vision for losses is based on the present value 
of the expected cash flows of the asset using 
the asset's original effective interest rate, 
whether measured individually or collectively.

Financial assets impaired
A financial asset is impaired when one or 
more events that have a negative impact on 
the estimated future cash flows of the finan-
cial asset have occurred. Financial assets 
impaired are referred to as Stage 3 assets. 
The Bank has adopted the internal defini-
tion of non-performing loans as a criteria for 
identifying credits under Stage 3. The internal 
definition of non-performing loans is covered 
by objective and subjective criteria and is 
used for the Bank’s credit risk management.

Purchased or originated credit impaired 
(POCI)
Financial assets classified as POCI are treat-
ed differently as these are "impaired". For 
these assets, the Bank, upon its initial rec-
ognition under Stage 3, records the asset at 
the net amount of the expected loss. 

In subsequent measurement, an ECL with 
a lifetime PD is always calculated and its 
changes are recorded in the income state-
ment. The associated interest is calculated 
by applying the effective interest rate to the 
net book value of the asset.

Fair value (IFRS 13)
As mentioned above, financial assets clas-
sified under Financial assets at fair value 
through profit and loss and Available-for-sale 
financial assets are recorded at fair value.
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The fair value of a financial instrument is the 
price at which an orderly sale transaction of 
an asset or transfer of a liability would be 
completed between market players at the 
balance sheet date.

The fair value of securities is determined 
based on the following criteria:

■ �closing price at the balance sheet date, for 
instruments traded in active markets; and

■ �market prices (bid prices) disclosed 
through the financial information media, 
namely Bloomberg.

The fair value of derivatives is determined 
based on the following criteria:

■ �quotations obtained in active markets;

■ �models incorporating valuation tech-
niques accepted in the market, including 
discounted cash flows and options valu-
ation models.

Guarantees provided and irrevocable 
commitments
Liabilities for guarantees and irrevocable 
commitments are recorded under off-bal-
ance-sheet items at their fair value, with 
interest, commissions or other income being 
recorded in the income statement over their 
maturity period.

Performance guarantees are initially recog-
nised at fair value, which is usually evidenced 
by the amount of commissions received over 
the contract period. Upon the breach of con-
tract, the Bank has the right to revert the 
guarantee, and the amounts are recognised 
in Loans and advances to Customers after 
the loss compensation is transferred to the 
collateral taker.

The fair value of financial assets held for trad-
ing and traded in active markets is their most 
representative bid-price, within the bid-ask 
range or their closing price at the balance 
sheet date. If a market price is not available, the 
fair value of the instrument is estimated based 

on valuation techniques, which include pricing 
models or discounted cash flow techniques.

When discounted cash flow techniques are 
used, future cash flows are estimated in 
accordance with management expectations 
and the discounted rate used corresponds 
to the market rate for financial instruments 
with similar characteristics. In pricing mod-
els, the data used corresponds to market 
price information.

The fair value of derivative financial instru-
ments which are not traded on the stock mar-
ket, including the credit risk component allo-
cated to the parties involved in the transaction 
("Credit Value Adjustments" and "Debit Value 
Adjustments"), is estimated based on the 
amount that would be received or paid to set-
tle the contract on the concerned date, consid-
ering the prevailing market conditions, as well 
as the credit quality of the parties involved.

2.6. Equity instruments
A financial instrument is classified as an 
equity instrument when there is no contrac-
tual obligation at settlement to deliver cash 
or another financial asset to another entity, 
regardless from its legal form, showing a 
residual interest in the assets of an entity 
after deducting all of its liabilities.

Transaction costs directly attributable to an 
equity instruments issuance are recognised in 
equity as a deduction to the amount issued. 
Amounts paid or received related to sales or 
acquisitions of equity instruments are recog-
nised in equity, net of transaction costs.

Income from equity instruments (dividends) 
are recognised when the right to receive 
this income is established and are deducted 
to equity.

2.7. Property and equipment

i. �Recognition and measurement
Property and equipment are recorded at 
acquisition cost less accumulated depreci-
ation and impairment losses. Costs includes 

expenses which are directly attributable to 
the acquisition of goods.

ii. Subsequent costs
Subsequent costs are recognised as a sep-
arate asset only when it is likely that future 
economic benefits will result for the Bank. 
All other repairs and maintenance expenses 
are recognised as costs as they are incurred 
following the accrual principle.

iii. Depreciation
Land is not depreciated. Depreciation is 
calculated on a straight-line basis, over 
the following periods which correspond 
to their estimated useful life:

Number of yearsNumber of years

Premises Equipment 25 to 50

Equipment:

Furniture and material 8 to 10

Machinery and tools 4 to 10

IT equipment 3 to 6

Indoor installations 4 to 10

Transport equipment 3 to 4

Security equipment 6 to 15

Whenever there is an indication that prop-
erty and equipment might be impaired, its 
recoverable amount is estimated and an 
impairment loss shall be recognised if the 
net value of the asset exceeds its recovera-
ble amount (IAS 36). Impairment losses are 
recognised in the income statement.

The recoverable amount is determined as 
the highest between the fair value less costs 
to sell and its value in use calculated based 
on the present value of future cash flows 
estimated to be obtained from the contin-
ued use of the asset and its sale at the end 
of the useful life.

2.8. Intangible assets

Software
The costs incurred with the acquisition of 
software to third entities are capitalized as 
well as additional expenses incurred by the 
Bank necessary for their implementation. 
These costs are amortised on a straight-line 
basis over the estimated useful life, which 
normally corresponds to five years

Research and development expenditure
Costs directly related to the development 
of computer applications, whose use can 
be expected to generate future economic 
benefits extending beyond one year, are rec-
ognised and recorded as intangible assets. 

All other charges related to IT services are 
recognised as costs when incurred.

Goodwill
Goodwill recorded in the financial state-
ments results from the difference between 
the values defined in the merger of Banco 
Millennium Angola and the amount by which 
assets and liabilities of that entity were 
recorded in the accounts. Goodwill is rec-
ognised as an asset and recorded at acquisi-
tion cost, and is not subject to amortisation. 

According to IAS 36, the recoverable 
amount of goodwill shall be the highest 
between its value in use (i.e., the present 
value of the future cash flows expected from 
its use) and its fair value less costs of sale. 
Based on these criteria, Atlântico performed 
an evaluation that considers, among others, 
the following factors: 

■ �an estimate of the future cash flows 
generated;

■ �time value of money;

■ �a risk premium related with uncertainty; 
and

■ �other factors related with the markets’ 
financial current situation, in particular 
inflation and exchange rate development 
and interest rates growth.
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This assessment is based on reasonable 
and supportable assumptions that rep-
resent the best estimate of the Board of 
Directors on the economic conditions that 
may affect goodwill and its extrapolation 
for future periods. The assumptions used 
for this assessment may change with the 
change in economic and market conditions. 

The review of the assumptions used and the 
development of macroeconomic and market 
conditions may result in changes in these 
assumptions and, consequently, in the recov-
erable amount of goodwill.

For the purposes of assessing Goodwill, 
estimated data for the following peri-
ods were used, based on the budget and 
future prospects and a discount rate, which 
includes an appropriate risk premium to the 
estimated future cash flows. Based on these 
assumptions, the recoverable amount is 
higher than the balance sheet value.

2.9. Investments in subsidiaries 
and associates
Investments in subsidiaries and associ-
ates are accounted in the Bank’s financial 
statements at their historical cost less any 
impairment losses.

Subsidiaries are entities (including invest-
ment funds and securitization vehicles) 
controlled by the Bank. The Bank controls 
an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, 
to the variability in returns resulting from 
its involvement with that entity and might 
set hold of them through the power it holds 
over its relevant activities (de facto control).

Associates are those entities, in which the 
Bank has significant influence, but not con-
trol, over the financial and operating policy 
decisions of the investee. It is assumed that 
the Bank has significant influence when it 
holds 20% or more of the voting rights of 
the investee. If the Bank holds, directly or 
indirectly less than 20% of the voting rights 
of the investee, it is presumed that the Bank 
does not have significant influence, unless 
such influence can be clearly demonstrated.

The existence of significant influence by 
the Bank is normally demonstrated in one 
or more of the following ways:

■ �representation on the Executive Board of 
Directors or equivalent governing body 
of the investee;

■ �participation in policy-making processes, 
including participation in decisions about 
dividends or other distributions;

■ �material transactions between the Group 
and the investee;

■ interchange of the management team; and

■ provision of essential technical information.

Impairment
The recoverable amount of investments 
in subsidiaries and associates is reviewed 
whenever there is evidence of impairment. 
Impairment losses are determined based 
on the difference between the recover-
able value of investments in subsidiaries 
or associates and their carrying amount. 
Impairment losses identified are recorded 
in the income statement being subsequent-
ly reversed, if there is a reduction of the 
estimated impairment loss, in a subsequent 
period. The recoverable amount is deter-
mined as the highest between the value in 
use of the assets and the fair value less sell-
ing costs, and is calculated using valuation 
methodologies, supported by discounted 
cash flow techniques, considering market 
conditions, time value of money and busi-
ness risks.

2.10. Non-current assets held for sale 
and discontinued operations
Non-current assets, groups of non-current 
assets held for sale (groups of assets togeth-
er and related liabilities that include at least a 
non-current asset) and discontinued oper-
ations are classified as held for sale when there 
is an intention to sell the referred assets and 
liabilities and when the referred assets  
are available for immediate sale and its sale 
is highly probable.

The Bank also classifies as non-current 
assets held for sale those non-current assets 

or groups of assets acquired exclusively with a view to its subsequent dis-
posal, which are available for immediate sale and its sale is highly probable.

Immediately before classification as held for sale, the measurement of the 
non-current assets or all assets and liabilities in a disposal group, is per-
formed in accordance with the applicable IFRS. After their reclassification, 
these assets or disposal groups are measured at the lower of their cost and 
fair value less costs to sell.

The Bank also classifies as non-current assets held for sale, the investments 
arising from recovered loans that are measured initially by the lower of its 
fair value net of selling costs and the loan's carrying amount on the date 
that the recovery occurs or the judicial decision is formalised.

The fair value is determined based on the expected selling price estimated 
through periodic valuations performed by the Bank.

The subsequent measurement of these assets is determined based on 
the lower of the carrying amount and the corresponding fair value net of 
selling costs. In case of unrealized losses, these should be recognised as 
impairment losses against results.

2.11. Leases
The Bank adopted IFRS 16 Leases on 1 January 2019. The standard intro-
duced a unique model for accounting of leases in the Balance Sheet. As 
a result of this adoption, the Bank, as a lessee, recognised assets under 
right of use which represent its rights to use the underlying assets and 
lease liabilities representing its obligations to make lease payments. 
Accounting as a lessor remains unchanged compared to the accounting 
policies already in place.

The Bank has adopted IFRS 16 using the Modified Retrospective approach, 
which has no impact on equity since, with the exception of prior or accrued 
lease payments related to that lease recognised in the Balance Sheet 
immediately before the date of initial application, there are no differences 
between the right to use the asset and the lease liability at the time of initial 
recognition (1 January 2019). The comparative information presented for 
2018 has not been restated - i.e. it is presented, as previously reported, in 
accordance with IAS 17 and related interpretations. The details of changes 
in accounting policies are disclosed in the following paragraphs.

A. Lease definition
Previously, the Bank determined date on which the agreement takes effect 
whether an arrangement is or contains a lease in accordance with IFRIC 
4 - Determining Whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease. The Bank 
evaluates whether an agreement is or contains a lease on the basis of the 
lease definition. In accordance with IFRS 16, an agreement is, or contains, a 
lease if it conveys the right to use an identified asset (the underlying asset) 
for a specified period of time in return for consideration.
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On the commencement date or at the revaluation of an agreement containing 
a leasing component, the Bank allocates the consideration in the agreement 
for each leasing component and not the leasing on the basis of its individual 
relative price. However, for leases in which the entity is a lessee, it has been 
decided not to separate the non-lease components and to account for the 
lease and non-lease components as a single lease component.

B. As a lessee
From the lessee's point of view, the Bank leases a number of real estate prop-
erties used for the Bank's branches and central services.

As a lessee, the Bank previously classified leases as operating or finance leases 
on the basis of an overall assessment of whether the lease transfers substan-
tially all the risks and benefits associated with ownership of the underlying 
assets. In accordance with IFRS 16, the Bank recognises assets under right 
of use and lease liabilities for some classes of assets - i.e. these leases are 
recognised in the entity's balance sheet.

The Bank records assets under right of use in "Property and equipment", that 
is, in the same caption as the underlying assets of the same nature that are 
its property. The carrying amounts of assets under right of use are detailed 
as follows:

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

Real estateReal estate EquipmentEquipment OtherOther TotalTotal

Balance as of 1 
January 2019 7,027,916 - - 7,027,916

Balance as of 31 
December 2019 5,608,353 - - 5,608,353

The Bank records lease liabilities under "Other liabilities" in the Balance Sheet.

The Bank recognises an asset under right of use and a liability for the lease 
at the commencement date of the lease.

Assets under right of use
Assets under right of use are initially measured at cost and subsequently 
at cost less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and 
adjusted for any remeasurements of lease liabilities.

Lease liabilities
Lease liabilities are initially measured at the present value of the lease pay-
ments to be made over the lease term, discounted at the implicit rate of the 

lease or, if the rate cannot be readily deter-
mined, at the Bank's incremental financing 
rate. The Bank generally uses its incremental 
financing rate as the discount rate.

The lease liability is subsequently increased 
by the interest cost on the lease liability and 
decreased by the lease payments made. It is 
remeasured when there is a change in future 
lease payments arising from a change in an 
index or rate, a change in the estimate of the 
expected amount to be paid under a residual 
value guarantee, or, if appropriate, changes in 
the assessment of whether a call or renewal 
option is reasonably certain to be exercised 
or a termination option is reasonably certain 
not to be exercised.

Judgement in determining the term  
of the lease
The Bank has applied judgment to determine 
the lease term of some agreements in which 
it is the lessee, which include renewal and 
termination options. The Bank determines the 
lease term as the non-cancellable period dur-
ing which it has the right to use an underlying 
asset together with the periods covered by an 
option to renew the lease if there is reason-
able certainty of exercising that option and 
the periods covered by a termination option if 
there is reasonable certainty of not exercising 
that option. The assessment of whether or not 
the Bank will exercise such options will have 
an impact on the lease term, which will sig-
nificantly affect the amount of lease liabilities 
and right of use assets recognised.

The Bank has the option, namely in property 
leasing agreements, to lease the assets for addi-
tional periods of 1 to 5 years. The Bank applies 
judgement in assessing whether it is reasona-
bly certain to exercise the renewal option, i.e. 
it considers all relevant factors that create an 
economic incentive to exercise it or not.

ii) Transition
Previously, the Bank classified property leases 
as operating leases in accordance with IAS 17. 
Some leases include options to extend the 
lease for additional periods after the end 
of the non-cancellable period. Some leases 
also provide for additional lease payments 
due to changes in local index prices.

In the transition to leases classified as oper-
ating leases in accordance with IAS 17, lease 
liabilities were measured at the present value 
of the remaining lease payments, discounted 
at the Bank's incremental financing rate as 
at 1 January 2019. Assets under right of use 
are measured at an amount equivalent to 
lease liabilities, adjusted for the amount of 
any advance or accumulated lease payments 
- the Bank has adopted this approach for all 
other leases.

Practical arrangements
The Bank adopted some practical arrange-
ments provided for in the standard when 
applying IFRS 16 for leases previously clas-
sified as operating leases in accordance with 
IAS 17, namely the separation of lease compo-
nents from non-lease components.

For leases that were classified as finance 
leases in accordance with IAS 17, the carr ing 
amount of assets under right of use and lease 
liabilities as at 1 January 2019 were deter-
mined at the carrying amount of the lease 
asset and lease liability in accordance with 
IAS 17 immediately before that date.

C. As a lessor
The accounting policies applicable to the 
Bank as a lessor in the comparative period 
are no different from those applicable under 
IAS 17. Thus, the Bank is not required to make 
any adjustments in the transition to IFRS 16 
for leases where it acts as a lessor.
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D. Impacts on Financial Statements

i.) Impacts on the transition
In the transition to IFRS 16, the Bank recognised the assets under right of use and lease liabil-
ities. The impact on the transition is detailed below.

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

01.01.201901.01.2019

Assets under right of use disclosed in Other property,  
plant and equipment

7,027,916

Lease liabilities 7,027,916

In measuring lease liabilities, the Bank discounted lease payments using its incremental financ-
ing rate as at 1 January 2019.

ii.) Impacts for the period
As a result of the initial application of IFRS 16, in relation to leases that were previously 
classified as operating leases, the Bank has recorded AOA 5,608,353 thousand assets 
under right of use, net of depreciation and AOA 6,017,264 thousand lease liabilities as at 
31 December 2019.

Also in relation to leases under IFRS 16, the Bank recognised depreciation and interest 
expense, rather than operating lease expenses. In the year ended 31 December 2019, the 
Bank recognised AOA 690,705 thousand depreciation charges and AOA 1,880,272 thousand 
interest charges on the above-mentioned leases.

2.12. Taxes

i. Income taxes
Income tax recognised in profit or loss comprises current and deferred tax effects. Income tax 
is recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly to 
reserves in which case it is recognised in reserves. Deferred taxes arising from the revaluation 
of financial assets available for sale and cash flow hedging derivatives are recognised in equity 
and are recognised in profit and loss in the moment the results were originated.

(i.i.) Current taxes
Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates 
enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable 
in respect of previous years.

As established by Law 19/14 of 22 October, which came into force on 1 January 2015, the Industrial 
Tax is provisionally settled in a single instalment to be carried out in August, calculated by apply-
ing a rate of 2% on the amount resulting from financial intermediation, calculated in the first six 
months of the previous fiscal year, excluding income subject to capital gains tax, regardless of 
the existence of taxable income in the year.

(i.ii.) Deferred taxes
Deferred taxes are calculated under the liability method based on the balance sheet date, 
in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 

and its tax base, using the rates of tax approved or substantially approved at the balance 
sheet date in each jurisdiction and which are expected to be applied when temporary 
differences are reversed.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences except for good-
will, not deductible for tax purposes, differences arising on initial recognition of assets and 
liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit and differences relating to invest-
ments in subsidiaries to the extent that probably they will not reverse in the near future.

Deferred taxes assets are recognised to the extent when it is probable that future taxable 
profits, will be available to absorb deductible temporary differences for taxation purposes 
(including reportable taxable losses).

The Bank, as established in IAS 12 – Income Tax, paragraph 74, compensates the deferred tax 
assets and liabilities if, and only if: (i) has a legally enforceable right to set off current  
tax assets against current tax liabilities; and (ii) the deferred tax assets and the deferred tax 
liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same 
taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities 
and assets on a net basis, or to realize the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in 
each future year in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected 
to be settled or recovered.

(i.iii.) Capital Gains Tax (CGT)
Presidential Legislative Decree No. 2/14 of 20 October, in force since 19 November 2014, 
reviewed and introduced several legislative changes to the CGT Code, following the Tax 
Reform project.

CGT is applied generally on income from the Bank's financial investments. The rate varies from 
5% (in case of interest, amortization premiums or reimbursement and other forms of remu-
neration of government securities, bonds, equity securities or other similar securities issued 
by any company, which are admitted to trading on a regulated market and with a maturity 
equal or greater than three years) and 15%. Notwithstanding the above, regarding income 
from government securities, in accordance with the latest understanding of Tax Authorities 
addressed to ABANC (letter with reference number 196/DGC/AGT/2016 of 17 May 2016), 
only those arising from securities issued on or after 1 January 2012 are subject to this tax.

In addition, it should also be noted that according to the Tax Authorities, exchange rate 
revaluations of government securities issued in national currency but indexed to foreign 
currency, issued since 1 January 2012, should be subject to Industrial Tax until the Banco 
Nacional de Angola is in a position to make the appropriate CGT withholding tax.

Moreover, under the terms of article 18 of the Industrial Tax Code, CGT itself is not deduct-
ible as an expense for the purpose of calculating taxable amount, and, on the other hand, 
income subject to CGT will be deducted from taxable income, in accordance with the 
provisions of article 47 of the Industrial Tax Code.

(i.iv.) Special contribution on Foreign Exchange Invisible Current Operations
Special Contribution on Foreign Exchange Invisible Current Operations is levied, at a 10% rate, 
on transfers made under service agreements of foreign technical or management assistance, 
regulated by the provisions of the respective Regulation, approved by Presidential Decree 
No. 273/11 of 27 October, as amended by Presidential Decree No. 123/13 of 28 August.
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ii. Property tax

(ii.i.) Property tax
Because of the amendment introduced by 
Law No. 18/11, of 21 April, the exemption 
previously provided for in the PT Code was 
revoked, with PT being levied at a 0.5% rate 
on the book value of own properties which 
are intended to develop the Bank’s normal 
business (exceeding AOA 5,000 thousand).

(ii.ii.) SISA
Pursuant to the piece of Legislation No. 
230 of 18 May 1931, as well as amendments 
introduced by Law No. 15/92 of 3 July and 
Law No. 16/11 of 21 April, SISA is levied on 
all acts involving the perpetual or tempo-
rary transfer of ownership of any value, 
kind or nature, regardless name or form 
of the ownership title (e.g. acts that affect 
the transmission of improvements in rural 
or urban buildings, real estate transmis-
sions through donations with pensions or 
transfer of real estate through donations) 
at a 2% rate.

iii. Value Added Tax
The Bank, as a taxable person registered with 
the Tax Office of Large Taxpayers, has been 
covered by the general VAT system since 
this tax came into force on 1 October 2019.

Under the terms of the VAT Code approved 
by Law No. 7/19 of 24 April and the amend-
ments introduced by Law No. 17/19 of 13 
August, they are subject to this tax: (i) 
the transfer of goods and services within 
national territory, for consideration, by a 
taxable person acting as such; and (ii) the 
import of goods.

Nevertheless, the VAT Code provides for 
exemptions for certain transactions, includ-
ing those described in Annex III to this Code, 
except for those which give rise to the pay-
ment of a specific and predetermined tax, 
or consideration, for their performance. This 
exemption does not give the taxable person 

the right to deduct the VAT incurred on the 
acquisition of goods and services related to 
exempt transactions.

Considering the Bank is a taxable person 
that carries out transactions which grant 
the right to deduct (i.e. transactions taxed 
on VAT) and transactions which do not 
grant the right to deduct (i.e. transactions 
which are exempt from this tax under the 
aforementioned terms), the VAT incurred 
by the Bank on its purchases of goods and 
services is only partially deductible through 
the pro rata method.

iv. Other taxes
The Bank is also subject to indirect tax-
es, such as Custom Duties, Stamp Duty, 
Consumption Tax, and other taxes.

v. Tax replacement

(v.i.) Capital Gains Tax
In accordance with Presidential Legislative 
Decree No. 2/14, of 20 October, the Bank 
withholds 10% of the interest on term 
deposits paid to Customers at the CGT rate.

(v.ii.) Stamp Duty
According to Presidential Legislative Decree 
No. 3/14 of 21 October, the Bank is responsi-
ble for the settlement and delivery of Stamp 
Duty due by its Customers in all banking 
operations (e.g. financing, interest charge 
on financing, financial services fees), and 
the Bank settles the tax at rates established 
in the Stamp Duty General Chart.

(v.iii.) Industrial Tax
According to the provisions of Article 67 
of Law No. 19/14 of 22 October, services of 
any kind are subject to withholding tax at 
a 6.5% rate.

(v.iv.) Property Tax  
Pursuant to Law No. 18/11 of 21 April, the Bank 
withholds PT at a 15% rate on the payment or 
delivery of rents related to rented properties.

2.13. Employee benefits

i. Defined-contribution plans  
For defined-contribution plans, the liabil-
ities related to the benefit attributable to 
the Bank's employees are recognised as an 
expense of the period when due. Prepaid 
contributions are recognised as an asset if 
a refund or reduction of future payments 
is available.

ii. Long-term employee benefits
The Bank's net liability for long-term employee  
benefits is the amount of future benefit that 
employees are expected to benefit in return for 
their service in the current period and in past 
periods. This benefit is discounted in order to 
determine its present value. Re-measurements 
are recognised in the results for the period.

iii. Benefits associated with the 
termination of functions
Benefits associated with the termination of 
functions are recognised as cost, whichever 
is earlier, between the time where the Bank 
can no longer withdraw the offer of these 
benefits or when the group recognizes costs 
associated with a restructuring. If benefits 
are not expected to be net benefits within 12 
months, these are then discounted.

iv. Short-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits are recorded 
as a cost once the associated service has 
been provided. A liability is recognised for 
the amount expected to be settled if the 
Bank has a present legal or constructive 
obligation to pay this amount as a result of a 
service rendered in the past by the employee 
and that liability can be estimated reliably.

v. Pension fund liabilities
Law No. 07/04 of 15 October, which revoked 
Law No. 18/90, of 27 October, which reg-
ulates the Angolan Social Security system, 
foresees the attribution of retirement pen-
sions to all Angolan workers registered 
at the Social Security. The value of these 

pensions is calculated based on a table 
proportional to the number of service years 
applied to the average monthly gross wag-
es received in the periods immediately 
preceding the date on which the worker 
ceases to work. According to Decree No. 
7/99, of 28 May, the contribution rates for 
this system are 8% for the employer and 3% 
for the workers.

By resolution of the Bank's Board of Directors, 
ATLANTICO is making contributions under 
a defined contribution plan, corresponding 
to a fixed percentage of 8% of the monthly 
pensionable salary of each employee (5% by 
the Bank and 3% by the employee), in order 
to ensure employees hired locally or their 
families, the entitlement to cash benefits 
covering old-age, disability or death pen-
sion supplements. The old-age retirement 
pension is awarded to employees if they 
are 60 years old and have at least 5 years 
of continuous service at the Bank. The disa-
bility benefit is awarded to employees who 
have 5 years of continuous service and who 
have been diagnosed total and permanent 
disability equal to 100%. In case of death, 
employees may appoint beneficiaries and 
respective percentages of the reimburse-
ment’s distribution. 

On December 2017, the Bank has set up a 
Pension Fund to which the amounts of contri-
butions made up to date have been transferred.

vi. Variable remuneration paid  
to employees and directors
The Bank assigns variable remuneration to 
its employees and directors as a result of 
their performance (performance bonus). 
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The Board of Directors and the Evaluation 
and Remuneration Committee establish 
the respective allocation criteria for each 
employee and director, respectively, when-
ever this is attributed. The variable remuner-
ation attributed to employees and directors 
is recorded against income in the period to 
which they relate, although payable in the 
following year (see note 28).

vii. Holiday allowance
General Labour Law, Law 7/15, establishes 
that the amount of holiday allowance payable 
to employees in a given year is a right they 
acquired in the immediately preceding year. 
As a result, the Bank records the amounts 
relating to holiday payable in the following 
year at the end of the year.

2.14. Provisions
Provisions are recognised when (i) the 
Bank has a present obligation (legal or 
resulting from past practices or published 
policies that imply the recognition of cer-
tain responsibilities), (ii) it is probable 
that an outflow of economic benefits will 
be required to settle a present legal or 
constructive obligation as a result of past 
events and (iii) a reliable estimate can be 
made of the amount of the obligation.

The measurement of provisions for loan 
commitments and financial guarantees is 
made in accordance with the impairment 
model implemented when adopting IFRS 9 
described in note 2.5.

The provisions measurement is based on  
the defined principles on IAS 37 regarding the 
best estimate of the expected cost, the most 
probable result of the actions in progress 
and considering the risks and uncertainties 
inherent to the process.

In cases where the discount effect is materi-
al, provisions corresponds to actual value of 
the expected future payments, discounted 
by a rate that considers the associated risk 
of the obligation.

Provisions are reviewed at each balance 
sheet date and adjusted to reflect the best 
estimate, being reverted through profit and 
loss in the proportion of the payments that 
are not probable.

The provisions are derecognised through 
their use for the obligations for which they 
were initially recognised or for the cases 
that the situations were no longer observed.

2.15. Interest income
Interest income and expense for financial 
instruments measured at amortised cost, 
at fair value through other comprehensive 
income or at fair value through profit or 
loss are recognised under interest and sim-
ilar income or interest and similar expense 
captions (Net interest income), using the 
effective interest rate method.

The effective interest rate is the rate that  
exactly discounts estimated future cash 
payments or receipts through the expected 
life of the financial instrument (or, when 
appropriate, for a shorter period), to the 
net carrying amount of the financial asset 
or financial liability.

When calculating the effective interest 
rate, the Group estimates future cash flows 
considering all contractual terms of the 
financial instrument (example: early pay-
ment options) but without considering 
future impairment losses. The calculation 
includes all fees paid or received consid-
ered as included in the effective interest 
rate, transaction costs and all other premi-
ums or discounts directly related with the 
transaction except for assets and liabilities 
at fair value through profit and loss.

If a financial asset or a group of similar 
financial assets has been written down as a 
result of an impairment loss, interest income 
is recognised using the interest rate used 
to discount the future cash flows for the 
purpose of measuring the impairment loss.

For derivative financial instruments, except 
those classified as hedging instruments of 
interest rate risk, the interest component 
is not separated from the changes in the 
fair value and is classified under Net gains/
(losses) arising from assets and liabilities at 
fair value through profit and loss.

2.16. Dividends from equity 
instruments
Dividends (income from equity instruments) 
are recognised in the income statement 
when the right to receive the dividends is 
attributed. Dividends are recorded under 
net income from financial operations, net 
results of other financial instruments at 
fair value through profit or loss or other 
income, depending on the classification of 
the underlying instrument.

2.17. Fee and commission income
Fees and commissions are recognised accord-
ing to performance obligations:

■ �fees and commissions which are earned 
as services are rendered are recognised 
in income over the period in which the 
service is being provided;

■ �fees and commissions that are earned 
on the execution of a significant act, are 
recognised as income when the service 
is completed.

Fees and commissions that are an inte-
gral part of the effective interest rate of a 
financial instrument, are recognised in net 
interest income.

2.18. Fiduciary activities
Assets held under fiduciary activities are 
not recognised in the Bank’s financial 
statements. Fees and commissions arising 
from this activity are recognised in the 
income statement in the period to which 
they relate.

2.19.Financial results
Financial results includes gains and losses 
arising from financial assets and financial 

liabilities at fair value through profit and loss, 
including embedded derivatives and dividends 
received associated with these portfolios. 

These results also includes gains and losses 
arising from the sale of available for sale 
financial assets and investments held to 
maturity. The changes in fair value of hedg-
ing derivatives and hedged items, when fair 
value hedge is applicable, are also recog-
nised in this caption.

2.20. Cash and cash equivalents
For the purposes of the cash flow state-
ment, cash and cash equivalents comprise 
balances with less than three months’ matu-
rity from the balance sheet date, including 
cash and deposits with banks.

Cash and cash equivalents exclude depos-
its part of mandatory reserves with the 
Central Banks.

2.21. Financial guarantees and 
commitments
Financial guarantees are contracts which 
force the Bank to make specific payments 
in order to reimburse the holder for a loss 
incurred as a result of a debtor’s failure to 
comply with a payment. Commitments are 
firm commitments with the purpose of pro-
viding credit under predetermined conditions.

Liabilities arising from financial guarantees 
or commitments given to provide a loan 
at an interest rate below market value are 
initially recognised at fair value and the 
initial fair value is amortised over the use-
ful life of the guarantee or commitment. 
Subsequently the liability is recorded at 
the higher of the amortised amount and the 
present value of any payment expected to 
be settled.

2.22. Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share are calculated 
by dividing net income attributable to the 
Bank’s shareholders by the weighted aver-
age number of ordinary shares outstanding, 
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excluding the average number of own shares 
held by the Bank.

For the diluted earnings per share, the 
weighted average number of ordinary 
shares outstanding is adjusted to consider 
conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary 
shares as dilution. Contingent or potential 
issues are treated as dilutive when their 
conversion to shares decreases earnings 
per share.

If the result per share is changed as a 
result of a premium or discount issue or 
other event that changes the potential 
number of ordinary shares or changes 
in accounting policies, the calculation of 
earnings per share for all periods presented 
is adjusted retrospectively.	

Note 3.
Critical accounting 
estimates and judgments 
used in the preparation  
of the financial statements

IAS/IFRS set forth a range of account-
ing treatments and require the Board of 
Directors to apply judgment and make esti-
mates in deciding which treatment is most 
appropriate. The most significant of these 
accounting policies are discussed in this 
section in order to improve understanding 
of how their application affects the Bank 
reported results and related disclosure. A 
broad description of the main accounting 
policies used by the Bank is presented in 
Note 2 to the financial statements.

Considering that in some cases there are sev-
eral alternatives to the accounting treatment 
chosen by the Board of Directors, the Bank 
reported results would differ if a different 
treatment was chosen. The Board of Directors 
believes that the choices made are appropri-
ate and that the financial statements present 
the Bank‘s financial position and results fairly 
in all material aspects.

3.1. Impairment of financial  
assets at amortised cost 
or fair value through other 
comprehensive income
The critical judgments with the greatest 
impact on the recognised amounts of 
impairment of financial assets at amor-
tised cost and at fair value through equity 
are as follows:

■ �evaluation of the business model: the clas-
sification and measurement of financial 
assets depends on the SPPI test results 
and on the business model definition. 
The Bank determines the business model 
based on how it wants to manage financial 
assets and business objectives. The Bank 
monitors whether the classification of the 
business model is appropriate based on 
the analysis of the early derecognition of 
assets at amortised cost or at fair value 
through equity considering whether a pro-
spective change of the asset is necessary;

■ �significant increase in credit risk: as 
described in policy 2.5 - Financial instru-
ments, the determination of the transfer 
of an asset from stage 1 to stage 2 for 
impairment purposes is carried out based 
on a significant increase in its credit risk, 
and IFRS 9 does not objectively define 
what constitutes a significant increase in 
credit risk;

■ �Banks’ definition for assets with similar 
credit risk characteristics: when expect-
ed credit losses are measured within a 
collective model, financial instruments 
are bundled based on the same risk char-
acteristics. With the purpose to ensure 
that assets are properly reclassified in the 
event of changes in credit risk character-
istics, the Bank monitors their suitability.

Models and assumptions used: the Bank 
uses several models and assumptions when 
measuring the estimate of expected cred-
it losses. The judgment is applied in the 
identification of the most suitable mod-
el for each type of asset as well as in the 
determination of assumptions used in these 
models. In addition, in compliance with the 
IFRS 9 regulation that explains the need for 

the impairment result to consider multiple scenarios, a methodology for 
incorporating scenario analysis into the risk parameters was implemented. 
Thus, the collective impairment calculation considers several scenarios 
with a specific weighting, based on the internal methodology defined on 
scenario - definition of multiple perspectives of macroeconomic develop-
ments, with a relevant probability of occurrence.

Note 4. 
Cash and deposits at central banks 

This balance is analysed as follows:

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

31.12.201931.12.2019 31.12.201831.12.2018

Cash 16,117,014 11,206,639

Deposits at central banks 174,871,434 148,165,613

Banco Nacional de Angola 174,871,434 148,165,613

190,988,448 159,372,252

The balance Cash and deposits at Banco Nacional de Angola corresponds to 
mandatory deposits intended to satisfy legal minimum cash requirements. 
In accordance with Instruction No. 17/2019 of Banco Nacional de Angola, of 
24 October 2019, the minimum reserve requirements on deposits payable on 
demand with BNA are summarised in accordance with the following table:

National National 
CurrencyCurrency

Foreign Foreign 
CurrencyCurrency

Rates on Reserve Base

Central Government,  
Local Governments  
and Local Administration

Daily 
calculation 22% 100%

Other sectors
Weekly 

calculation 22% 15%

Compliance with the minimum mandatory cash requirements for a given 
weekly observation period (Other Sectors) is carried out considering the 
average amount of balances of deposits with the Bank during that period. 
As at 31 December 2019, the total amount of liabilities (Central Government, 
Local Governments, Local Administrations and Other Sectors) amounts to 
AOA 174,871,434 thousand (2018: AOA 148,165,613 thousand). The current 
legislation also allows the Bank to comply with the Minimum Reserves 
through Treasury Securities or Funding to the Ministry of Finance. 

During 2015, Banco Nacional de Angola converted some of the mandatory 
reserves in USD of ATLANTICO into securities denominated in the same 
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currency, the amount of which at 31 December 2019 was AOA 93,585,794 
thousand (2018: AOA 60,258,515 thousand). These debt securities were 
accounted at their acquisition cost and subsequently measured as described 
in accounting policy 2.5.

According to Instruction No. 17/2019 of 24 October (which revoked 
Instruction 10/2018 of 19 July), which entered into force on 24 October 
2019, the mandatory minimum reserves may be established at 20% with the 
amounts deposited with Banco Nacional de Angola and 80% in Treasury 
Bonds in foreign currency, the securities identified in the previous para-
graph are eligible for consideration.

Note 5.
Loans and advances to credit institutions 
repayable on demand

This balance is analysed, regarding its nature, as follows:

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

31.12.201931.12.2019 31.12.201831.12.2018

Loans and advances to credit 
institutions in Angola

Deposits payable on demand 508,865 406,852

Outstanding cheques 814,531 4,565

1,323,396 411,417

Loans and advances to credit 
institutions abroad

Deposits payable on demand 23,104,794 26,328,312

23,104,794 26,328,312

Total 24,428,190 26,739,729

Outstanding checks on credit institutions have been collected in the first 
business days following the reference date.

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, loans and advances at other credit 
institutions do not bear interest.

Note 6.
Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through 
profit and loss

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, this balance is analysed as follows:

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

31.12.201931.12.2019 31.12.201831.12.2018

Financial assets mandatorily at fair value  
through profit and loss

Securities

Other variable income securities 56,701,261 16,387,405

Loans and advances to Customers 12,711,039 10,183,491

69,412,300 26,570,896

Financial assets held for trading

Derivatives

Derivative financial instruments  
with positive fair value

13,064 49,548

13,064 49,548

69,425,364 26,620,444

Financial liabilities held for trading

Derivatives

Derivative financial instruments  
with negative fair value

207,095 50,510

207,095 50,510

207,095 50,510

“During 2015, Banco Nacional de Angola converted some 
of the mandatory reserves in USD of ATLANTICO into 
securities denominated in the same currency,  
the amount of which at 31 December 2019 was AOA 
93,585,794 thousand (2018: AOA 60,258,515 thousand).
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In accordance with IFRS 13, financial instruments are measured according to the following valuation levels described in 
Note 34, as follows:

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

Level 1Level 1 Level 2Level 2 Level 3Level 3 TotalTotal

Financial assets mandatorily at fair value  
through profit and loss

Securities

Other variable income securities - 10,153,291 46,547,970 56,701,261

Loans and advances to Customers - - 12,711,039 12,711,039

- 10,153,291 59,259,009 69,412,300

Financial assets held for trading

Derivatives

Derivative financial instruments  
with positive fair value

- 13,064 - 13,064

- 13,064 - 13,064

Balance on 31 December 2019 - 10,166,355 59,259,009 69,425,364

Financial liabilities held for trading

Derivatives

Derivative financial instruments  
with positive fair value

- 207,095 - 207,095

Balance on 31 December 2019 - 207,095 - 207,095

Financial assets mandatorily at fair value  
through profit and loss

Securities

Other variable income securities - 6,854,053 9,533,352 16,387,405

Loans and advances to Customers - - 10,183,491 10,183,491

Financial assets held for trading

Derivatives

Derivative financial instruments  
with positive fair value

- 49,548 - 49,548

Balance on 31 December 2018 - 6,903,601 19,716,843 26,620,444

Financial liabilities held for trading

Derivatives

Derivative financial instruments  
with positive fair value

- 50,510 - 50,510

Balance on 31 December 2018 - 50,510 - 50,510

The main parameters used during 2019 and 2018 in the valuation model, as well as the description of the valuation levels 
established by IFRS 13, are described in Note 34.

As at 31 December 2019, Other variable income securities refers to the ODELL Liquidez, ATLANTICO Property and 
ATLANTICO Protecção funds, managed by ATLÂNTICO GESTÃO DE ACTIVOS – Sociedade Gestora de Organismos de 
Investimento Colectivo, S.A., valued according to the price quotation published by the entity.

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the maturity of financial assets at fair value through profit and loss is as follows:

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

Below 3 Below 3 
monthsmonths

3 to 12 3 to 12 
monthsmonths

1 to 5 years1 to 5 years Above 5 Above 5 
yearsyears

Undefined Undefined 
maturitymaturity

TotalTotal

Financial assets mandatorily at fair 
value through profit and loss

Securities

Other variable income securities - - - - 56,701,261 56,701,261

Loans and advances to Customers 12,590,568 - 13,896 106,575 - 12,711,039

12,590,568 - 13,896 106,575 56,701,261 69,412,300

Financial assets held for trading

Derivatives

Derivative financial instruments  
with positive fair value 13,064 - - - - 13,064

13,064 - - - - 13,064

Balance on 31 December 2019 12,603,632 - 13,896 106,575 56,701,261 69,425,364

Financial liabilities held for trading

Derivatives

Derivative financial instruments  
with positive fair value 207,095 - - - - 207,095

Balance on 31 December 2019 207,095 - - - - 207,095

Financial assets mandatorily at fair 
value through profit and loss

Securities

Other variable income securities - - - - 16,387,405 16,387,405

Loans and advances to Customers 79,420 9,697,278 87,441 319,352 - 10,183,491

Financial assets held for trading

Derivatives

Derivative financial instruments  
with positive fair value 49,548 - - - - 49,548

Balance on 31 December 2018 128,968 9,697,278 87,441 319,352 16,387,405 26,620,444

Financial liabilities held for trading

Derivatives

Derivative financial instruments  
with positive fair value 50,510 - - - - 50,510

Balance on 31 December 2018 50,510 - - - - 50,510
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Note 7.
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, this balance is analysed as follows:

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

Cost Cost (1)(1)
Potential added valuePotential added value

InterestInterest Book valueBook value
PositivePositive NegativeNegative

Financial assets at fair value through 
other comprehensive income

Bonds and other fixed income securities

Issued by public entities 31,033,187 - (302,967) 1,018,035 31,748,255

Issued by other entities 1,854,719 141,701 - 88,100 2,084,520

Shares 345,683 - - - 345,683

Balance on 31 December 2019 33,233,589 141,701 (302,967) 1,106,135 34,178,458

Financial assets at fair value through 
other comprehensive income

Bonds and other fixed income securities

Issued by public entities 190,369,979 2,834,044 - 3,107,408 196,311,431

Issued by other entities 1,329,384 72,553 - 68,576 1,470,513

Shares 337,782 - - - 337,782

Balance on 31 December 2018 192,037,145 2,906,597 - 3,175,984 198,119,726

(1) Acquisition cost for shares and other equity instruments and amortised cost for debt securities. 

In accordance with the accounting policy described in note 2.5, debt securities at fair value through other comprehensive 
income are impaired as a result of the adoption of IFRS 9, as set out in the defined model.

In accordance with IFRS 9, capital investments are not subject to impairment.

All exposures relating to debt securities disclosed under this caption are positioned at stage 1.

As at 31 December 2019, Bonds and other fixed income securities include the impairment transferred to profit and loss 
in the amount of AOA 534,514 thousand (2018: AOA 492,554 thousand).

As detailed in note 8, the Bank has reconfigured its securities portfolio, in particular the change in the classification of US  
dollar Treasury Bonds and US dollar Indexed Bonds, previously allocated to the Hold to Collect and Sell business model, 
to the business model that foresees the holding of assets until their maturity, Hold to Collect. The amount related to the 
reclassifications refers to AOA 103,395,532 thousand and AOA 37,330,023, respectively.

The balance Shares includes the financial investment in EMIS - Empresa Interbancária de Serviços, S.A. (“EMIS”), which 
was set up to manage electronic facilities for payments and other complementary services. On 31 December 2019, the 
Bank holds a 7.90% interest of this Company’s share capital and additional financial investments amounting to AOA 
337,682 thousand (2018: AOA 337,682 thousand).

During the first half of 2018, the Bank sold the investment held in Atlântico Europa SGPS, S.A., generating a gain as 
described in note 25.

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the analysis of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income, by 
valuation levels, is presented as follows:

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

Level 1Level 1 Level 2Level 2 Level 3Level 3 At costAt cost TotalTotal

Bonds and other fixed  
income securities

Issued by public entities - 31,748,255 - - 31,748,255

Issued by other entities - 2,084,520 - - 2,084,520

Shares - - 345,683 - 345,683

Balance on 31 December 2019 - 33,832,775 345,683 - 34,178,458

Bonds and other fixed  
income securities

Issued by public entities - 196,311,431 - - 196,311,431

Issued by other entities - 1,470,513 - - 1,470,513

Shares - - 337,782 - 337,782

Balance on 31 December 2018 - 197,781,944 337,782 - 198,119,726

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the maturity of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income is 
as follows:

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

Below 3 Below 3 
monthsmonths

3 to 12 3 to 12 
monthsmonths

1 to 5 years1 to 5 years Above 5 Above 5 
yearsyears

Undefined Undefined 
maturitymaturity

TotalTotal

Bonds and other fixed  
income securities

Issued by public entities 804,772 4,406,114 26,537,369 - - 31,748,255

Issued by other entities - - 2,084,520 - - 2,084,520

Shares - - - - 345,683 345,683

Balance on 31 December 2019 804,772 4,406,114 28,621,889 - 345,683 34,178,458

Bonds and other fixed  
income securities

Issued by public entities 2,145,799 16,203,746 101,913,790 76,048,096 - 196,311,431

Issued by other entities - - 1,470,513 - - 1,470,513

Shares - - - - 337,782 337,782

Balance on 31 December 2018 2,145,799 16,203,746 103,384,303 76,048,096 337,782 198,119,726
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The fair value gains or (losses) that would have been recognised under Other Comprehensive Income had the financial 
assets not been reclassified, in the period between the reclassification date and 31 December 2019 are as follows:

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

31.12.201931.12.2019

Bonds and other fixed income securities

Issued by public entities

Bonds indexed to the exchange rate of the United States dollar 355,571

Foreign currency bonds (563,483)

(207,912)

Tax effect 62,374

Total (145,538)

Changes occurred in impairment losses of financial assets as an adjustment to the investment amounts at amortised 
cost were as follows:

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

31.12.201931.12.2019 31.12.201831.12.2018

Balance on 1 January 678,703 -

Impact of transition to IFRS 9 - 478,663

Charge for the period/(Reversals) 8,014,653 200,040

Exchange rate and other differences (414,862) -

Balance on 31 December 8,278,494 678,703

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the maturity of financial instruments held to maturity is as follows: 

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

Below 3 Below 3 
monthsmonths

3 to 12 3 to 12 
monthsmonths

1 to 5 years1 to 5 years Above 5 Above 5 
yearsyears

Undefined Undefined 
maturitymaturity

TotalTotal

Debt securities

Bonds issued by public entities 27,660,108 88,201,058 358,677,914 63,041,820 - 537,580,900

Balance on 31 December 2019 27,660,108 88,201,058 358,677,914 63,041,820 - 537,580,900

Held-to-maturity investments

Bonds issued by public entities 14,579,248 22,851,970 193,744,246 44,471,955 - 275,647,419

Balance on 31 December 2018 14,579,248 22,851,970 193,744,246 44,471,955 - 275,647,419

Note 8.
Financial assets at amortised cost – Debt securities

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, this balance is analysed as follows:

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

31.12.201931.12.2019 31.12.201831.12.2018

Bonds and other fixed income securities

Issued by public entities

Bonds indexed to the exchange rate of the United States dollar 279,117,189 190,561,375

Foreign currency bonds 236,409,487 69,056,073

Non-readjustable bonds 22,054,224 16,029,971

537,580,900 275,647,419

Impairment losses (8,278,494) (678,703)

Total 529,302,406 274,968,716

In accordance with the accounting policy described in note 2.5, debt securities measured at amortised cost are impaired 
as a result of the adoption of IFRS 9, as set out in the defined model.

All exposures relating to debt securities disclosed under this caption are positioned at stage 1.

As at 1 October 2019, the Bank has reconfigured its securities portfolio, in particular the change in the classification of US 
dollar Treasury Bonds and US dollar Indexed Bonds, previously allocated to the Hold to Collect and Sell business model, 
to the business model that foresees the holding of assets until their maturity, Hold to Collect. The amount related to the 
reclassifications refers to AOA 103,395,532 thousand and AOA 37,330,023, respectively.
 
As at 31 December 2019, the Fair Value of the reclassified securities is as follows:

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

Fair value 31.12.2019Fair value 31.12.2019

Bonds and other fixed income securities

Issued by public entities

Bonds indexed to the exchange rate of the United States dollar 48,341,308

Foreign currency bonds 102,832,050

Total 151,173,358
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Note 9.
Loans and advances to Customers

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, this balance is analysed as follows: 

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

31.12.201931.12.2019 31.12.201831.12.2018

Domestic credit

Corporate

Loans 324,656,878 306,529,350

Current account loans 41,847,634 49,644,658

Overdrafts 2,718,806 15,722,409

Credit cards 281,799 167,189

Retail

Loans 16,904,690 14,548,483

Employees 4,484,406 4,469,479

Consumer credit 3,204,329 3,075,426

Mortgage loans 2,815,354 2,885,839

Credit cards 927,000 449,338

Overdrafts 888,963 157,530

398,729,859 397,649,701

Foreign credit

Corporate

Overdrafts - 10

Retail

Credit cards 951,720 499,903

Employees 498,444 509,450

Overdrafts 35,510 448

Loans 14,611 -

Consumer credit 3,646 5,271

1,503,931 1,015,082

Overdue loans

Below 1 year 8,052,183 15,052,227

1 to 3 years 39,445,122 24,963,374

Above 3 years 34,910,648 16,132,996

82,407,953 56,148,597

482,641,743 454,813,380

Interest receivable 69,317,982 44,403,240

551,959,725 499,216,620

Impairment losses (109,258,712) (78,952,043)

Total 442,701,013 420,264,577

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the maturity of loans and advances to 
Customers is as follows:

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

31.12.201931.12.2019 31.12.201831.12.2018

Below 3 months 25,791,809 89,661,510

3 to 12 months 37,208,996 37,311,736

1 to 5 years 131,788,088 77,379,572

Above 5 years 205,444,897 194,311,965

Undefined maturity 82,407,953 56,148,597

Total 482,641,743 454,813,380

Changes occurred in impaired losses referred to in assets as corrected 
loans and advances are as follows:

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

31.12.201931.12.2019 31.12.201831.12.2018

Opening balance 78,952,043 43,057,000

Impact of transition to IFRS 9 - 4,015,291

Charge for the period / Reversals 20,856,131 24,337,850

Charge-off (6,861,851) (4,801,088)

Exchange differences and other 16,312,389 12,342,990

Ending balance 109,258,712 78,952,043

Loans and advances to Customers by interest rate type are as follows:

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

31.12.201931.12.2019 31.12.201831.12.2018

Fixed rate 57,958,616 42,361,333

Variable rate 494,001,109 456,855,287

 Total 551,959,725 499,216,620
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The balance financial leases, by residual maturity, is analysed as follows:

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

31.12.201931.12.2019 31.12.201831.12.2018

Outstanding rents and residual values

Below 1 year 3,897,453 3,189,108

1 to 5 years 2,717,798 3,596,220

Above 5 years 6,686,064 992,694

13,301,315 7,778,022

Outstanding interest

Below 1 year 405,382 788,417

1 to 5 years 1,370,720 1,005,283

Above 5 years 1,798,872 467,339

3,574,974 2,261,039

Outstanding capital

Below 1 year 3,523,159 2,562,080

1 to 5 years 1,347,078 2,590,936

Above 5 years 4,887,192 525,354

9,757,429 5,678,370

Impairment (1,070,582) (975,608)

Total 8,686,847 4,702,762

There are no leasing contracts with contingent rent.

The analysis of exposures and impairment by segment and respective overdue is as follows:

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

SegmentSegment

Exposure as at 31.12.2019Exposure as at 31.12.2019 Impairment as at 31.12.2019Impairment as at 31.12.2019

Total  Total  
exposureexposure

Credit in Credit in 
compliancecompliance

From which From which 
reestruc-reestruc-

turedtured

Default Default 
creditcredit

Total Total 
impairmentimpairment

Credit in Credit in 
compliancecompliance

Default Default 
creditcredit

Corporate

Loans 445,274,263 390,464,917 57,350,114 54,809,346 82,495,849 55,644,061 26,851,787

Current account 
loans 52,278,729 42,483,932 - 9,794,797 4,753,894 1,338,359 3,415,535

Overdrafts 17,183,019 3,593,260 - 13,589,759 8,325,502 786,133 7,539,370

Credit cards 281,859 281,859 - - 12,540 12,540 -

Retail

Loans 22,223,934 18,596,329 4,981,007 3,627,605 12,107,626 5,601,668 6,505,958

Employees 5,004,989 5,002,967 - 2,022 274,315 226,908 47,407

Consumer credit 3,470,162 3,464,222 22,856 5,940 388,175 365,987 22,188

Mortgage loans 2,846,975 2,844,483 - 2,492 343,706 144,328 199,378

Credit cards 1,878,720 1,878,720 - - 55,077 55,077 -

Overdrafts 1,517,075 941,083 - 575,992 502,028 14,133 487,896

Total 551,959,725 469,551,772 62,353,977 82,407,953 109,258,712 64,189,194 45,069,519

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

SegmentSegment

Exposure as at 31.12.2018Exposure as at 31.12.2018 Impairment as at 31.12.2018Impairment as at 31.12.2018

Total Total 
exposureexposure

Credit in Credit in 
compliancecompliance

From which From which 
reestruc-reestruc-

turedtured

Default Default 
creditcredit

Total Total 
impairmentimpairment

Credit in Credit in 
compliancecompliance

Default Default 
creditcredit

Corporate

Loans 384,757,775 350,086,441 31,392,143 34,671,334 57,056,518 43,386,589 13,669,928

Current account  
loans 53,839,728 49,978,287 - 3,861,441 3,557,106 913,800 2,643,306

Overdrafts 30,017,264 15,928,769 - 14,088,495 9,204,498 2,190,415 7,014,083

Credit cards 167,189 167,189 - - 10,041 10,041 -

Retail

Loans 17,607,260 14,581,721 905,185 3,025,539 7,918,335 3,178,029 4,740,306

Employees 4,999,035 4,998,163 - 872 247,649 235,776 11,873

Consumer credit 3,260,019 3,253,907 86,339 6,112 222,486 200,621 21,865

Mortgage loans 2,964,928 2,963,778 - 1,150 284,597 161,910 122,687

Credit cards 949,241 949,241 - - 33,941 33,941 -

Overdrafts 654,181 160,526 - 493,655 416,872 1,882 414,990

Total 499,216,620 443,068,022 32,383,667 56,148,598 78,952,043 50,313,004 28,639,038
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The Stage transfer matrix for the years of 2018 and 2019 is as follows:

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

31.12.201931.12.2019

Stage 1Stage 1 Stage 2Stage 2 Stage 3Stage 3 TotalTotal

Stage as at 01-01-2019

Stage 1 39,825,756 79,033,621 575,101 119,434,478

Stage 2 2,819,942 121,521,499 986,261 125,327,702

Stage 3 - 408,607 165,284,675 165,693,282

Exposures during 2019 56,840,514 50,967,539 33,696,210 141,504,263

Total 99,486,212 251,931,266 200,542,247 551,959,725

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

31.12.201831.12.2018

Stage 1Stage 1 Stage 2Stage 2 Stage 3Stage 3 TotalTotal

Stage as at 01-01-2018

Stage 1 117,877,281 73,891,785 3,531,726 195,300,792

Stage 2 11,117,510 58,849,223 31,219,079 101,185,812

Stage 3 18,367 1,267,852 86,535,211 87,821,430

Exposures during 2018 52,804,299 23,208,617 38,895,670 114,908,586

Total 181,817,457 157,217,477 160,181,686 499,216,620

The breakdown of loans and advances to customer by stage is as follows:

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

31.12.201931.12.2019

Stage 1Stage 1 Stage 2Stage 2 Stage 3Stage 3 TotalTotal

Loans at amortised cost

Gross amount 99,486,212 251,931,266 200,542,247 551,959,725

Impairment losses (1,065,994) (23,389,439) (84,803,279) (109,258,712)

Total 98,420,218 228,541,827 115,738,968 442,701,013

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

31.12.201831.12.2018

Stage 1Stage 1 Stage 2Stage 2 Stage 3Stage 3 TotalTotal

Loans at amortised cost

Gross amount 181,817,457 157,217,477 160,181,686 499,216,620

Impairment losses (1,297,296) (22,256,355) (55,398,392) (78,952,043)

Total 180,520,161 134,961,122 104,783,294 420,264,577



166 6.0  ■  Financial Statements and Notes to the Financial Statements 16719 Annual Report  ■  Banco Millennium Atlântico     

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

31.12.201931.12.2019

SegmentSegment

2016 and preceding years2016 and preceding years 20172017

Number of Number of 
transactionstransactions

AmountAmount ImpairmentImpairment Number of Number of 
transactionstransactions

AmountAmount ImpairmentImpairment
  

Corporate

Loans 446 245,513,854 56,029,049 79 35,478,579 4,069,233

Current account loans 21 3,593,182 2,948,147 - - -

Credit cards 395 102,107 7,017 143 57,752 1,696

Overdrafts 1,642 16,951,714 8,281,843 270 68,428 38,374

Retail

Loans 1,947 7,171,181 5,868,353 73 591,170 508,886

Employees 929 1,625,389 116,143 1,115 2,355,495 118,459

Mortgage loans 25 1,507,306 272,949 5 768,423 16,392

Credit cards 1,499 298,453 17,517 656 1,080,639 27,081

Consumer credit 263 1,431,644 280,482 89 107,548 8,185

Overdrafts 23,978 1,332,963 442,733 5,973 31,706 14,302

Total 31,145 279,527,793 74,264,233 8,403 40,539,740 4,802,608

31.12.201931.12.2019

20182018 20192019 TotalTotal

Number of Number of 
transactionstransactions

AmountAmount ImpairmentImpairment Number of Number of 
transactionstransactions

AmountAmount ImpairmentImpairment Number of Number of 
transactionstransactions

AmountAmount ImpairmentImpairment

107 88,210,802 13,458,347 89 76,071,028 8,939,220 721 445,274,263 82,495,849

9 1,585,776 237,343 82 47,099,771 1,568,404 112 52,278,729 4,753,894

84 36,748 1,580 285 85,252 2,247 907 281,859 12,540

206 14,768 2,834 87 148,109 2,451 2,205 17,183,019 8,325,502

63 9,080,071 4,937,496 54 5,381,512 792,891 2,137 22,223,934 12,107,626

339 583,924 31,400 600 440,181 8,313 2,983 5,004,989 274,315

3 36,559 38,711 4 534,687 15,654 37 2,846,975 343,706

543 144,816 2,534 1,382 354,812 7,945 4,080 1,878,720 55,077

127 588,812 31,220 163 1,342,158 68,288 642 3,470,162 388,175

30,866 72,321 17,273 3,072 80,085 27,720 63,889 1,517,075 502,028

32,347 100,354,597 18,758,738 5,818 131,537,595 11,433,133 77,713 551,959,725 109,258,712

31.12.201831.12.2018

20172017 20182018 TotalTotal

Number of Number of 
transactionstransactions

AmountAmount ImpairmentImpairment Number of Number of 
transactionstransactions

AmountAmount ImpairmentImpairment Number of Number of 
transactionstransactions

AmountAmount ImpairmentImpairment

95 38,764,939 4,342,953 114 75,601,762 10,522,338 872 384,757,775 57,056,518

16 4,465,724 81,226 16 18,270,882 306,908 124 53,839,728 3,557,106

156 43,585 1,987 88 37,048 1,406 687 167,189 10,041

196 8,071,195 1,664,594 86 3,958 1,251 1,845 30,017,264 9,204,498

57 597,521 439,069 38 7,436,627 2,704,736 2,318 17,607,260 7,918,335

1,191 2,486,674 88,607 325 672,860 24,526 1,986 4,999,035 247,649

6 910,747 48,655 2 91,630 49,104 46 2,964,928 284,597

733 614,230 17,483 386 115,750 1,045 2,621 949,241 33,941

110 243,680 12,960 153 726,404 153,146 1,038 3,260,019 222,486

6,050 44,200 26,429 3,448 42,171 6,709 23,152 654,181 416,872

8,610 56,242,495 6,723,963 4,656 102,999,092 13,771,169 34,689 499,216,620 78,952,043

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

31.12.201831.12.2018

SegmentSegment

2015 and preceding years2015 and preceding years 20162016

Number of Number of 
transactionstransactions

AmountAmount ImpairmentImpairment Number of Number of 
transactionstransactions

AmountAmount ImpairmentImpairment     

Corporate

Loans 507 201,067,825 37,049,292 156 69,323,249 5,141,935

Current account loans 76 22,117,388 3,010,057 16 8,985,734 158,915

Credit cards 228 41,341 1,654 215 45,215 4,994

Overdrafts 1,278 20,802,887 7,356,303 285 1,139,224 182,350

Retail

Loans 2,004 8,536,082 4,154,798 219 1,037,030 619,732

Employees 328 1,784,204 133,090 142 55,297 1,426

Mortgage loans 33 1,484,225 178,302 5 478,326 8,536

Credit cards 893 137,655 4,471 609 81,606 10,942

Consumer credit 542 1,945,274 42,244 233 344,661 14,136

Overdrafts 10,914 532,199 366,329 2,740 35,611 17,405

Total 16,803 258,449,080 52,296,540 4,620 81,525,953 6,160,371

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the loan portfolio by segment and by year of operations is presented as follows:
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As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the analysis of the amount of gross credit exposure and the amount of impairment 
recorded for exposures reviewed individually and collectively by segment, business sector and geography is as follows:

1. By segment 

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

20192019
Individual impairmentIndividual impairment Collective impairmentCollective impairment TotalTotal

Total Total 
exposureexposure

ImpairmentImpairment Total Total 
exposureexposure

ImpairmentImpairment Total Total 
exposureexposure

ImpairmentImpairment

Corporate

Loans 360,820,689 69,515,251 84,453,574 12,980,597 445,274,263 82,495,848

Current account loans 14,042,209 2,973,190 38,236,520 1,780,705 52,278,729 4,753,895

Overdrafts 14,909,958 5,794,841 2,273,061 2,530,661 17,183,019 8,325,502

Credit cards 3,834 909 278,025 11,631 281,859 12,540

Retail

Loans 12,669,510 4,586,299 9,554,424 7,521,327 22,223,934 12,107,626

Employees - - 5,004,989 274,315 5,004,989 274,315

Consumer credits 1,230,533 35,257 2,239,629 352,918 3,470,162 388,175

Mortgage loans 192,504 5,516 2,654,471 338,190 2,846,975 343,706

Credit cards 12 - 1,878,708 55,077 1,878,720 55,077

Overdrafts - - 1,517,075 502,028 1,517,075 502,028

Total 403,869,249 82,911,263 148,090,476 26,347,449 551,959,725 109,258,712

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

20182018
Individual impairmentIndividual impairment Collective impairmentCollective impairment TotalTotal

Total Total 
exposureexposure

ImpairmentImpairment Total Total 
exposureexposure

ImpairmentImpairment Total Total 
exposureexposure

ImpairmentImpairment

Corporate

Loans 232,731,959 49,005,268 152,025,816 8,051,250 384,757,775 57,056,518

Current account loans 7,900,338 2,319,031 45,939,390 1,238,075 53,839,728 3,557,106

Overdrafts 23,438,954 6,886,728 6,578,310 2,317,770 30,017,264 9,204,498

Credit cards 3,490 618 163,699 9,423 167,189 10,041

Retail

Loans 10,166,102 2,595,800 7,441,158 5,322,535 17,607,260 7,918,335

Employees - - 4,999,035 247,649 4,999,035 247,649

Consumer credits - - 2,964,928 284,597 2,964,928 284,597

Mortgage loans 142 50 949,099 33,891 949,241 33,941

Credit cards - - 3,260,019 222,486 3,260,019 222,486

Overdrafts 3,041 135 651,140 416,737 654,181 416,872

Total 274,244,026 60,807,630 224,972,594 18,144,413 499,216,620 78,952,043

2. By business sector

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

20192019
Real estateReal estate Wholesale and retail Wholesale and retail 

raderade ConstructionConstruction Manufacturing industryManufacturing industry

Total Total 
exposureexposure

Impair-Impair-
mentment

Total Total 
exposureexposure

Impair-Impair-
mentment

Total Total 
exposureexposure

Impair-Impair-
mentment

Total Total 
exposureexposure

Impair-Impair-
mentment

Corporate

Loans 148,202,180 28,300,840 67,980,535 9,209,097 97,662,031 21,743,934 83,893,178 14,796,367

Current 
account loans

667,596 189,166 12,570,706 2,345,962 25,339,920 969,535 6,888,714 242,306

Overdrafts 4,154,621 2,181,057 5,792,639 2,001,643 4,011,679 2,209,471 1,455,697 1,152,110

Credit cards 1,693 171 54,682 3,878 22,444 638 6,960 1,022

Retail

Loans - - - - - - 378,584 96,060

Employees - - - - - - - -

Mortgage 
loans

- - - - - - - -

Credit cards - - - - - - 8 7

Consumer 
credits

- - - - - - - -

Overdrafts - - - - - - 1,006 992

Total 153,026,090 30,671,234 86,398,562 13,560,580 127,036,074 24,923,578 92,624,147 16,288,864

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

20192019

RetailRetail InstitutionalInstitutional OthersOthers TotalTotal

Total Total 
exposureexposure

Impair-Impair-
mentment

Total Total 
exposureexposure

Impair-Impair-
mentment

Total Total 
exposureexposure

Impair-Impair-
mentment

Total Total 
exposureexposure

Impair-Impair-
mentment

Corporate

Loans 5,406,357 2,160,146 669,013 44,279 41,460,969 6,241,185 445,274,263 82,495,848

Current 
account loans

20,220 - - - 6,791,573 1,006,926 52,278,729 4,753,895

Overdrafts 447,039 74,667 104 9 1,321,240 706,545 17,183,019 8,325,502

Credit cards 77,924 2,949 7,354 144 110,802 3,738 281,859 12,540

Retail

Loans 21,530,539 11,923,175 - - 314,811 88,391 22,223,934 12,107,626

Employees 5,004,989 274,315 - - - - 5,004,989 274,315

Mortgage 
loans

2,846,975 343,706 - - - - 2,846,975 343,706

Credit cards 952,336 40,598 - - 926,376 14,472 1,878,720 55,077

Consumer 
credits

3,470,162 388,175 - - - - 3,470,162 388,175

Overdrafts 1,516,025 500,998 - - 44 38 1,517,075 502,028

Total 41,272,566 15,708,729 676,471 44,432 50,925,815 8,061,295 551,959,725 109,258,712   
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2. By business sector

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

20182018
Real estateReal estate Wholesale and retail Wholesale and retail 

raderade ConstructionConstruction Manufacturing industryManufacturing industry

Total Total 
exposureexposure

Impair-Impair-
mentment

Total Total 
exposureexposure

Impair-Impair-
mentment

Total Total 
exposureexposure

Impair-Impair-
mentment

Total Total 
exposureexposure

Impair-Impair-
mentment

Corporate

Loans 164,540,229 24,784,947 41,105,376 5,084,963 60,566,022 14,063,012 70,197,466 7,486,792

Current 
account loans

872,766 121,598 11,609,283 1,612,261 15,508,616 976,670 14,004,992 408,387

Overdrafts 7,938,073 1,234,638 7,604,586 1,316,516 10,222,631 3,609,576 2,666,965 2,261,206

Credit cards 1,860 163 28,465 3,145 16,149 897 4,621 1,001

Retail

Loans - - - - - - 267,814 17,501

Employees - - - - - - - -

Mortgage 
loans

- - - - - - - -

Credit cards - - - - - - 88 75

Consumer 
credits

- - - - - - - -

Overdrafts - - - - - - 1,263 1,244

Total 173,352,928 26,141,346 60,347,710 8,016,885 86,313,418 18,650,155 87,143,209 10,176,206

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

20182018
RetailRetail InstitutionalInstitutional OthersOthers TotalTotal

Total ex-Total ex-
posureposure

Impair-Impair-
mentment

Total Total 
exposureexposure

Impair-Impair-
mentment

Total Total 
exposureexposure

Impair-Impair-
mentment

Total Total 
exposureexposure

Impair-Impair-
mentment

Corporate

Loans 4,247,910 1,633,596 6,383,997 59,210 37,716,775 3,943,998 384,757,775 57,056,518

Current  
account loans

- - 2,210,669 140 9,633,402 438,050 53,839,728 3,557,106

Overdrafts 71,628 55,252 2,568 81 1,510,813 727,229 30,017,264 9,204,498

Credit cards 49,257 1,687 2,404 3 64,433 3,145 167,189 10,041

Retail

Loans 17,023,317 7,830,927 - - 316,129 69,907 17,607,260 7,918,335

Employees 4,999,035 247,649 - - - - 4,999,035 247,649

Mortgage  
loans

2,964,928 284,597 - - - - 2,964,928 284,597

Credit cards 463,203 24,241 - - 485,950 9,625 949,241 33,941

Consumer 
credits

3,260,019 222,486 - - - - 3,260,019 222,486

Overdrafts 652,918 415,628 - - - - 654,181 416,872

Total 33,732,215 10,716,063 8,599,638 59,434 49,727,502 5,191,954 499,216,620 78,952,043

3. By geography

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

20192019

AngolaAngola PortugalPortugal Other countriesOther countries TotalTotal

Total Total 
exposureexposure

Impair-Impair-
mentment

Total Total 
exposureexposure

Impair-Impair-
mentment

Total Total 
exposureexposure

Impair-Impair-
mentment

Total Total 
exposureexposure

Impair-Impair-
mentment

Corporate

Loans 443,194,447 81,688,411 2,079,816 807,437 - - 445,274,263 82,495,848

Current 
account loans

52,278,729 4,753,895 - - - - 52,278,729 4,753,895

Overdrafts 17,006,572 8,256,245 175,142 67,994 1,305 1,263 17,183,019 8,325,502

Credit cards 281,800 12,488 - - 59 52 281,859 12,540

Retail

Loans 22,209,086 12,107,107 - - 14,848 519 22,223,934 12,107,626

Employees 4,502,792 267,905 499,862 6,133 2,335 277 5,004,989 274,315

Consumer 
credits

3,466,462 388,000 2,238 105 1,462 70 3,470,162 388,175

Mortgage  
loans

2,846,975 343,706 - - - - 2,846,975 343,706

Credit cards 927,001 39,834 7,779 106 943,940 15,137 1,878,720 55,077

Overdrafts 1,474,606 495,669 2,960 2,683 39,509 3,676 1,517,075 502,028

Total 548,188,470 108,353,260 2,767,797 884,458 1,003,458 20,994 551,959,725 109,258,712

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

20182018
AngolaAngola PortugalPortugal Other countriesOther countries TotalTotal

Total Total 
exposureexposure ImpairmentImpairment Total Total 

exposureexposure ImpairmentImpairment Total Total 
exposureexposure ImpairmentImpairment Total Total 

exposureexposure ImpairmentImpairment

Corporate

Loans 383,426,771 56,806,798 1,331,004 249,720 - - 384,757,775 57,056,518

Current  
account loans

53,839,728 3,557,106 - - - - 53,839,728 3,557,106

Overdrafts 29,845,541 9,171,349 170,464 31,982 1,259 1,167 30,017,264 9,204,498

Credit cards 167,189 10,041 - - - - 167,189 10,041

Retail

Loans 17,607,260 7,918,335 - - - - 17,607,260 7,918,335

Employees 4,484,990 240,233 512,215 7,397 1,830 19 4,999,035 247,649

Consumer 
credits

3,254,675 222,240 3,005 116 2,339 130 3,260,019 222,486

Mortgage  
loans

2,964,928 284,597 - - - - 2,964,928 284,597

Credit cards 449,338 24,085 488,893 9,659 11,010 197 949,241 33,941

Overdrafts 647,914 411,683 2,131 1,893 4,136 3,296 654,181 416,872

Total 496,688,334 78,646,467 2,507,712 300,767 20,574 4,809 499,216,620 78,952,043
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The analysis of the fair value of guarantees underlying the loan portfolio of the businesses segments, construction and real 
estate development and mortgage loans as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 is as follows:

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

Fair valueFair value

31.12.201831.12.2018

CorporateCorporate

Real EstateReal Estate Asset-backed loansAsset-backed loans

Number of  Number of  
propertiesproperties

AmountAmount NumberNumber AmountAmount

< 50 MAOA 28 669,279 548 7,650,302

>= 50 MAOA e < 100 MAOA 22 1,577,029 115 8,057,833

>= 100 MAOA e < 500 MAOA 31 7,011,157 129 25,997,345

>= 500 MAOA e < 1,000 MAOA 3 1,838,757 12 8,417,028

>= 1,000 MAOA e < 2,000 MAOA 8 11,324,900 5 6,648,640

>= 2,000 MAOA e < 5,000 MAOA 4 13,734,976 6 17,978,276

>= 5,000 MAOA 2 14,001,426 2 28,330,891

Total 98 50,157,525 817 103,080,316

31.12.201831.12.2018

Construction and real estate developmentConstruction and real estate development Mortgage loansMortgage loans

Real EstateReal Estate Asset-backed loansAsset-backed loans Real EstateReal Estate Asset-backed loansAsset-backed loans

Number of Number of 
propertiesproperties

AmountAmount NumberNumber AmountAmount Number of Number of 
propertiesproperties

AmountAmount NumberNumber AmountAmount

3 60,707 62 703,079 19 551,107 8 40,060

- - 11 784,165 6 477,670 1 50,000

5 1,664,624 29 6,008,641 3 590,311 1 108,012

6 3,757,762 8 6,087,155 - - - -

8 10,440,018 3 4,505,046 - - - -

10 32,615,491 1 4,639,064 - - - -

9 70,668,012 4 33,729,521 - - - -

41 119,206,615 118 56,456,671 28 1,619,088 10 198,072

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

Fair valueFair value

31.12.201931.12.2019

CorporateCorporate

Real EstateReal Estate Asset-backed loansAsset-backed loans

Number of Number of 
propertiesproperties

AmountAmount NumberNumber AmountAmount

< 50 MAOA 31 741,070 733 8,009,468

>= 50 MAOA e < 100 MAOA 21 1,560,334 132 9,167,447

>= 100 MAOA e < 500 MAOA 33 7,527,711 104 21,787,801

>= 500 MAOA e < 1,000 MAOA 3 2,012,416 8 5,367,328

>= 1,000 MAOA e < 2,000 MAOA 9 13,889,343 4 5,295,087

>= 2,000 MAOA e < 5,000 MAOA 2 7,863,748 1 2,870,062

>= 5,000 MAOA 3 27,176,923 3 35,430,031

Total 102 60,771,545 985 87,927,224

31.12.201931.12.2019

Construction and real estate developmentConstruction and real estate development Mortgage loansMortgage loans

Real EstateReal Estate Asset-backed loansAsset-backed loans Real EstateReal Estate Asset-backed loansAsset-backed loans

Number of Number of 
propertiesproperties

AmountAmount NumberNumber AmountAmount Number of Number of 
propertiesproperties

AmountAmount NumberNumber AmountAmount

2 61,062 94 967,903 21 530,921 9 39,336

- - 16 1,168,767 8 603,235 - -

11 3,534,714 26 5,792,487 4 729,534 1 119,095

6 4,478,324 2 1,430,544 - - - -

5 6,333,779 6 7,464,587 - - - -

6 20,471,766 1 3,395,679 - - - -

11 93,048,643 2 17,425,612 - - - -

41 127,928,288 147 37,645,579 33 1,863,690 10 158,431
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The analysis of the fair value and the net book value of properties received as recovery or foreclosure, by type of real 
estate and seniority is as follows:

1. By type of real estate

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

Type of real estateType of real estate

31.12.201931.12.2019 31.12.201831.12.2018

Number of Number of 
propertiesproperties

Fair value of Fair value of 
the assetthe asset

Net book Net book 
valuevalue

Number of Number of 
propertiesproperties

Fair value Fair value 
of the assetof the asset

Net book Net book 
valuevalue

Land

Urban 41 155,855,143 70,904,685 38 90,862,222 59,579,968

Constructed buildings

Commercial 8 19,933,291 13,013,128 2 595,324 798,872

Housing 24 4,119,067 3,011,107 2 4,308,502 4,406,041

Total 73 179,907,501 86,928,920 42 95,766,048 64,784,881

2. By seniority

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

Time since recovery/foreclosure Time since recovery/foreclosure 

31.12.201931.12.2019

<1 year<1 year ≥≥ 1 to 1 to
< 2.5 years< 2.5 years

≥≥ 2.5 to   2.5 to  
< 5 years< 5 years

≥≥ 5 years 5 years TotalTotal

Land

Urban 47,708,534 21,509,745 1,686,406 - 70,904,685

Constructed buildings

Commercial 2,844,608 10,168,520 - - 13,013,128

Housing 2,195,934 815,173 - - 3,011,107

Total 52,749,076 32,493,438 1,686,406 - 86,928,920

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

Time since recovery/foreclosureTime since recovery/foreclosure

31.12.201831.12.2018

<1 year<1 year ≥≥ 1 to 1 to
< 2.5 years< 2.5 years

≥≥ 2.5 to   2.5 to  
< 5 years< 5 years

≥≥ 5 years 5 years TotalTotal

Land

Urban 18,079,924 41,500,044 - - 59,579,968

Constructed buildings

Commercial 798,872 - - - 798,872

Housing 4,406,041 - - - 4,406,041

Total 23,284,837 41,500,044 - - 64,784,881

The disclosure of risk factors associated with the impairment model by segment is as follows:

Impairment as at 31.12.2019Impairment as at 31.12.2019

20192019

Probability of default (%)Probability of default (%)

Loss due to the Loss due to the 
default (%)default (%)

< 30 days < 30 days 
without without 

evidenceevidence

< 30 days with < 30 days with 
evidenceevidence

Between 30 Between 30 
and 60 daysand 60 days

Between 60 Between 60 
and 90 daysand 90 days

Corporate

Loans 3% 12% 43% 62% 86%

Current account loans 3% 12% 43% 62% 78%

Overdrafts 3% 12% 43% 62% 76%

Retail

Loans 5% 40% 43% 66% 85%

Employees 4% 9% 35% 44% 85%

Mortgage loans 6% 12% 26% 43% 85%

Credit cards 1% 2% 23% 35% 85%

Consumer credits 4% 19% 36% 54% 85%

Overdrafts 1% 2% 23% 35% 85%

Impairment as at 31.12.2018Impairment as at 31.12.2018

20182018

Probability of default (%)Probability of default (%)

Loss due to the Loss due to the 
default (%)default (%)

< 30 days < 30 days 
without without 

evidenceevidence

< 30 days with < 30 days with 
evidenceevidence

Between 30 Between 30 
and 60 daysand 60 days

Between 60 Between 60 
and 90 daysand 90 days

Corporate

Loans 8% 28% 59% 81% 58%

Current account loans 10% 30% 46% 71% 58%

Overdrafts 27% 56% 53% 74% 58%

Retail

Loans 5% 40% 43% 66% 43%

Employees 4% 50% 56% 89% 32%

Mortgage loans 17% 75% 68% 83% 43%

Credit cards 2% 3% 19% 40% 43%

Consumer credits 13% 43% 54% 81% 43%

Overdrafts 15% 69% 36% 63% 43%
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Note 10.
Other loans and advances to central banks and credit institutions

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, this balance is analysed as follows:

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

31.12.201931.12.2019 31.12.201831.12.2018

Loans and advances to credit institutions in Angola

Operations with resale agreement 12,433,000

Interest receivable 81,965 -

Loans and advances to credit institutions abroad

Loans and advances 4,496,521 13,273,297

Interest receivable 796 39,268

Total 17,012,282 13,312,565

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the maturity of investments from central banks and other credit institutions is as 
follows:

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

31.12.201931.12.2019 31.12.201831.12.2018

Below 3 months 16,523,369 10,690,531

3 to 12 months 406,152 2,582,766

Total 16,929,521 13,273,297

The balance Other loans and advances to central banks and other credit institutions earn interest at a 13.96% average 
rate for national currency (2018: 20.36%) and 1.00% for foreign currency (2018: 0.82%).

Note 11.
Property and equipment

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, this balance is analysed as follows:

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

31.12.201931.12.2019 31.12.201831.12.2018

Acquisition value

Real estate

For own use 29,049,382 36,805,474

Other 5,667,202 8,190,585

34,716,584 44,996,059

Assets under right of use

Real estate 5,608,353 -

5,608,353 -

Equipment

IT equipment 8,895,979 6,520,912

Interior installations 1,494,159 1,378,663

Furniture and material 3,159,630 3,100,040

Security equipment 2,460,740 2,386,256

Machinery and tools 1,078,033 967,697

Transport equipment 3,203,899 3,077,322

Other 252,834 239,609

20,545,274 17,670,499

Assets under construction

Improvements in rented buildings 17,347,782 17,689,478

Equipment 302,317 303,977

Other 104,023 51,853

17,754,122 18,045,308

Other assets

Other 1,279,942 1,270,247

1,279,942 1,270,247

79,904,275 81,982,113

Accumulated depreciation

Charge for the period 4,147,687 3,282,554

Accumulated charge in previous periods 16,273,009 14,671,249

Disposals and Transfers (1,798,494) (1,680,794)

18,622,202 16,273,009

Total 61,282,073 65,709,104
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During 2019, changes in the balance Property and equipment are analysed as follows:

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

Balance atBalance at
01.01.201901.01.2019

Acquisitions/Acquisitions/
ChargesCharges

Disposals/Disposals/
Write-offsWrite-offs

TransfersTransfers Balance atBalance at
31.12.201931.12.2019

Acquisition cost
Real estate

For own use 36,805,474 2,071,342 (9,827,434) - 29,049,382
Other 8,190,585 347,850 (2,871,233) - 5,667,202

44,996,059 2,419,192 (12,698,667) - 34,716,584
Assets under right of use
Real estate - 5,608,353 - - 5,608,353

- 5,608,353 - - 5,608,353
Equipment

IT equipment 6,520,912 2,379,944 (4,877) - 8,895,979
Interior installations 1,378,663 119,010 (3,514) - 1,494,159
Furniture and material 3,100,040 62,179 (2,589) - 3,159,630
Security equipment 2,386,256 74,484 - - 2,460,740
Machinery and tools 967,697 110,581 (245) - 1,078,033
Transport equipment 3,077,322 247,162 (120,585) - 3,203,899
Other 239,609 13,232 (7) - 252,834

17,670,499 3,006,592 (131,817) - 20,545,274
Assets under construction

Improvements in rented 
buildings

17,689,478 4,541,946 (4,883,642) - 17,347,782

Equipment 303,977 4,697 (6,357) - 302,317
Other 51,853 56,656 (4,486) - 104,023

18,045,308 4,603,299 (4,894,485) - 17,754,122
Other assets

Other 1,270,247 9,738 (43) - 1,279,942
1,270,247 9,738 (43) - 1,279,942
81,982,113 15,647,174 (17,725,012) - 79,904,275

Accumulated amortization
Real estate

For own use 4,514,269 668,985 (1,377,939) - 3,805,315
4,514,269 668,985 (1,377,939) - 3,805,315

Assets under right of use
Real estate - 690,704 - - 690,704

- 690,704 - - 690,704
Equipment

IT equipment 4,748,934 988,719 (173,980) - 5,563,673
Interior installations 704,765 174,559 11,707 - 891,031
Furniture and material 1,662,201 322,630 (13,968) - 1,970,863
Security equipment 1,192,657 251,843 (78) - 1,444,422
Machinery and tools 634,586 117,305 58,864 - 810,755
Transport equipment 1,858,466 607,276 (167,179) - 2,298,563
Other 101,419 271,912 378,198 - 751,529

10,903,028 2,734,244 93,564 - 13,730,836
Other assets

Other 855,712 53,754 (514,119) - 395,347
855,712 53,754 (514,119) - 395,347

16,273,009 4,147,687 (1,798,494) - 18,622,202
Total 65,709,104 11,499,487 (15,926,518) - 61,282,073

As at 31 December 2019, the balance assets under right of use corresponds to the impact of the adoption of IFRS 16, as 
at 1 January 2019, as described in note 2.11.

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the balance assets under construction includes the amount of AOA 12,551,873 thousand 
related to the construction of the Bank’s new headquarters building in Baía de Luanda.

Note 12.
Intangible assets

This balance is analysed as follows:

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

31.12.201931.12.2019 31.12.201831.12.2018

Purchased from third parties

Automated data-processing system 15,698,749 10,154,807

Other 723,431 695,140

16,422,180 10,849,947

Goodwill

Millennium incorporation 25,632,743 25,632,743

Work in progress

Automated data-processing system 253,854 208,650

Accumulated amortization

Charge for the period 2,276,883 1,326,023

Accumulated charge in previous periods 4,065,767 2,720,253

Disposals and Transfers (15,563) 19,491

6,327,087 4,065,767

Total 35,981,690 32,625,573

Changes in this balance is as follows:

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

Balance atBalance at
01.01.201901.01.2019

Acquisitions/ Acquisitions/ 
ChargesCharges

Disposals/ Disposals/ 
Write-offsWrite-offs

Transfers and Transfers and 
perimeter perimeter 

changeschanges

Balance atBalance at
31.12.201931.12.2019

Purchased from third parties

Automated data-
processing system

10,154,807 5,415,589 (82,110) 210,463 15,698,749

Other 695,140 43,325 (15,034) - 723,431

10,849,947 5,458,914 (97,144) 210,463 16,422,180

Goodwill 25,632,743 - - - 25,632,743

Work in progress 208,650 255,667 - (210,463) 253,854

Accumulated amortization

Automated data-
processing system

3,619,240 2,266,156 (15,563) - 5,869,833

Other 446,527 10,727 - - 457,254

4,065,767 2,276,883 (15,563) - 6,327,087

Net balance at 31 December 32,625,573 3,437,698 (81,581) - 35,981,690

Goodwill recognised under the merger results from the difference between the book value of the assets and liabilities 
and the amount calculated on the evaluation.
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Note 13.
Non-current assets held for sale

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, this balance is analysed as follows:

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

31.12.201931.12.2019 31.12.201831.12.2018

Non-current assets held for sale

Real estate 92,303,461 67,768,063

92,303,461 67,768,063

Impairment losses (3,674,682) (1,977,402)

Total 88,628,779 65,790,661

The amounts presented relate to real estate and similar properties received in donation 
and facilities that are not in use, available for immediate sale. As at 31 December 2019, 
the value of real estate and similar properties amounted to AOA 90,246,647 thousand 
(2018: AOA 64,784,882 thousand) and the value of facilities that are not in use amounted 
to AOA 2,056,854 thousand (2018: AOA 2,983,181 thousand) and the Bank recorded an 
impairment for these assets in the total amount of AOA 3,674,682 thousand (2018: AOA 
1,977,402 thousand). 

Changes occurred in impairment losses were as follows:

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

31.12.201931.12.2019 31.12.201831.12.2018

Opening balance 1,977,402 707,322

Charge for the period/(Reversals) 1,697,280 1,201,429

Charge off - -

Exchange differences and other - 68,651

Closing balance 3,674,682 1,977,402

 

Changes in non-current assets held for sale during 2019 and 2018 were as follows:

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

31.12.201931.12.2019 31.12.201831.12.2018

Opening balance 67,768,063 44,251,822

Increases 56,792,066 29,114,740

Disposals (36,399,943) (6,163,080)

Reclassifications/transfers 4,143,275 564,581

Closing balance 92,303,461 67,768,063

In 2019 and 2018, inflows relate to land received as recovery in compliance with the restruc-
turing of a set of loans related with a real estate project.

Where the asset is not disposed of within two years, the Bank assesses whether the 
requirements continue to be met, in particular if the sale has not taken place for reasons 
other than the Bank. The Bank shall ensure that all necessary actions have been taken to 
enable the sale and that the asset continues to be actively marketed and at reasonable 
selling prices given the market circumstances. As a result of the efforts made, disposals 
of a pool of assets amounting to AOA 36,399,943 thousand were made.

Note 14.
Taxes

The Bank is subject to Industrial Tax, and is considered a Group A tax payer. 

Income taxes (current or deferred) are recognised in profit and loss for the year, except 
where transactions giving rise to it have been carried in other equity items. In such situa-
tions, the corresponding tax is also carried against equity, and does not affect profit and 
loss for the year.

The current tax for the years ended on 31 December 2019 and 2018 was calculated in 
accordance with article 64, paragraph 1 of Law No. 19/14, of 22 October, using the appli-
cable tax rate of 30%.

Tax returns are subject to review and correction by tax authorities for a 5-year period. This 
could result in different interpretations of tax law, resulting in corrections to taxable profit 
for the last five years. However, no significant correction is to be expected in respect to 
those years and, if it occurs, no significant impacts on the financial statements are expected.

Taxes losses generated in each year, as set out in article 48 (paragraph 1) of the Industrial 
Tax Code, can be deducted from taxable income for 3 subsequent years.

Deferred taxes are calculated using the tax rates expected to be in force when the tem-
porary differences are reversed, which correspond to the rates enacted or substantively 
enacted at the balance sheet date. Thus, for the periods ended 31 December 2019 and 
2018, deferred tax was generally calculated based on a 30% rate.
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 are analysed as follows:

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

AssetsAssets LiabilitiesLiabilities NetNet

31.12.201931.12.2019 31.12.201831.12.2018 31.12.201931.12.2019 31.12.201831.12.2018 31.12.201931.12.2019 31.12.201831.12.2018

Loans to Customers 
(direct and indirect)

418,349 1,680,334 - - 418,349 1,680,334

Available-for-sale 
securities portfolio

152,159 203,611 68,602 862,012 83,557 (658,401)

Other provisions 1,718,482 703,674 - - 1,718,482 703,674

Other - (51,000) - - - (51,000)

Deferred tax assets/
(liabilities) 2,288,990 2,536,619 68,602 862,012 2,220,388 1,674,607

Changes in deferred taxes recorded in the balance sheet were offset as follows:

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

31.12.201931.12.2019 31.12.201831.12.2018

Opening balance 1,674,607 (588,867)

Impact of transition to IFRS 9 - 1,654,999

Recognised in the income statement (247,629) 787,589

Recognised in reserves – other comprehensive income 793,410 (116,139)

Exchange differences and other - (62,975)

Closing balance (assets/(liabilities)) 2,220,388 1,674,607

Tax recognised in the income statement and reserves during the periods ended on 31 December 2019 and 2018 have the 
following sources:

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

31.12.201931.12.2019 31.12.201831.12.2018

Recognised in the Recognised in the 
income statementincome statement

Recognised in Recognised in 
reservesreserves

Recognised in the Recognised in the 
income statementincome statement

Recognised in Recognised in 
reservesreserves

Loans to Customers (direct 
and indirect)

(1,261,985) - 39,311 -

Available-for-sale securities portfolio (51,452) 793,410 60,012 (116,139)

Provisions 1,014,808 - 688,266 -

Other 51,000 - - -

Deferred taxes (247,629) 793,410 787,589 (116,139)

Current taxes - - 131,263 -

Total tax recognised (247,629) 793,410 918,852 (116,139)

The reconciliation of the effective tax rate, with respect to the amount recognised in the income statement, is analysed 
as follows:

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

31.12.201931.12.2019 31.12.201831.12.2018

%% ValueValue %% ValueValue

Profit before tax - 30 712 491 - 26,306,236

Tax rate 30.0 - 30.0 -

Tax based on the tax rate - 9,213,747 - 7,891,871

Life and health insurance (Article 18) 0.0 8,396 0.0 8,324

Exceeding amortizations (Article 40) 0.4 109,215 0.3 67,163

Provisions (Article 36) 1.9 571,385 5.1 1,353,573

Capital Gains Tax and Property Tax (Article 18) 3.2 983,760 2.5 651,501

Fines and charges (Article 18) 0.0 7,311 0.5 133,622

Grants (Article 18) 0.9 271,563 0.3 82,433

Social welfare charges (Article 15) 0.1 42,116 0.2 51,770

Changes related to previous periods  
and extraordinary (Article 18)

0.4 108,580 1.2 324,978

Non-specified expenditure 1.0 302,843 1.2 319,635

Income subject to Capital Gain Tax (Article 47) (38.1) (11,712,340) (39.0) (10,265,277)

Other (0.6) (189,041) (2.4) (631,388)

Tax payable – current tax liabilities - - - -

Other charges – Industrial tax - - - (131,263)

Income tax for the period - - - (131,263)

Income from public debt securities resulting from Treasury Bonds and Treasury Bills issued by the Angolan Government, 
whose issue is regulated by Presidential Decree No. 259/10, of 18 November and Presidential Decree No. 31/12, 30 of 
January, is exempted from all taxes. 

In addition, Presidential Legislative Decree No. 5/11, of 30 December (revised and republished through Presidential 
Legislative Decree No. 2/14, of 20 October) implemented a rule of subjection to CGT over income of public debt securities 
resulting from Treasury Bonds and Treasury Bills issued by the Angolan Government.

Nevertheless, and in accordance with article 47 of the Industrial Tax Code (Law No. 19/14, of 22 October), in force since 
1 January 2015, to determine the taxable income, income subject to Capital Gains Tax will be deducted. 

Thus, to determine taxable income for the years ended on 31 December 2019 and 2018, such income was deducted from 
taxable income.

Likewise, the expenditure calculated with the settlement of Capital Gains Tax is not accepted for tax purposes for the 
calculation of the taxable amount, as set out in subparagraph a) of paragraph 1 of article 18 of the Industrial Tax Code.
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Note 15.
Other assets

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the balance Other assets is analysed as follows:

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

31.12.201931.12.2019 31.12.201831.12.2018

Debtors from promissory purchase contracts 56,124,841 41,521,330

Other debtors 35,352,664 22,436,954

Pending transactions 8,752,265 3,358,234

Deferred costs 7,187,876 7,862,082

Escrow accounts 2,943,724 2,004,093

Administrative public sector 49,233 1,758,085

Precious metals, coins, medals and other resources 2,210 2,210

Other assets 143,892 60,250

110,556,705 79,003,238

Impairment losses (7,351,564) (7,306,020)

Total 103,205,141 71,697,218

The balance Other debtors includes: (i) the advance in the amount of AOA 9,358,511 thousand (2018: AOA 5,133,063 
thousand), carried out in the framework of a residential project and (ii) the advance payment of AOA 2,471,654 thousand 
(2018: AOA 2,432,530 thousand) for the construction project of a University Hospital.

Changes occurred in impairment losses in Other assets are disclosed as follows:

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

31.12.201931.12.2019 31.12.201831.12.2018

Opening balance 7,306,020 1,656,357

Impact of transition to IFRS 9 - (170,000)

Charges for the period/(Reversals) (615,611) 5,039,289

Charge-off (1,437) (263,767)

Reclassifications - -

Exchange differences and others 662,592 1,044,141

Closing balance 7,351,564 7,306,020

Note 16.
Deposits from central banks and other credit 
institutions

This balance is analysed as follows:

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

31.12.201931.12.2019 31.12.201831.12.2018

Deposits from central banks

Transactions with repurchase agreement 20,033,025 -

Deposits from central banks  
and other credit institutions

Loans 150,976,417 154,659,025

Deposits 1,667,229 1,536,815

152,643,646 156,195,840

Other deposits 3,275,629 481,681

Interest payable 541,338 3,377,059

Total 176,493,638 160,054,580

The balance Deposits from other credit institutions is analysed as follows:

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

31.12.201931.12.2019 31.12.201831.12.2018

Domestic

Loans 29,000,000 70,629,105

Other deposits 3,275,629 481,681

Interest payable 528,079 3,325,039

Transactions with repurchase agreement 20,033,025 -

52,836,733 74,435,825

Abroad

Loans 121,976,417 84,029,920

Deposits 1,667,229 1,536,815

Interest payable 13,259 52,020

123,656,905 85,618,755

Total 176,493,638 160,054,580
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As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the maturity of deposits from central banks and other 
credit institutions is as follows:

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

31.12.201931.12.2019 31.12.201831.12.2018

Below 3 months 152,643,646 146,195,840

3 to 12 months - 10,000,000

Total 152,643,646 156,195,840

Deposits from other credit institutions bear interest at an average rate of 22.79% for national 
currency (2018: 18.58%) and 4.21% for foreign currency (2018: 3.54%).

Note 17. 
Deposits from Customers

The balance Deposits from Customers, by its nature, is analysed as follows:

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

31.12.201931.12.2019 31.12.201831.12.2018

Deposits repayable on demand

Deposits repayable on demand 480,107,421480,107,421 425,015,653

Term deposits

Term deposits 746,669,643 609,536,265

Interest payable 8,208,524 8,372,630

754,878,167 617,908,895

Total 1,234,985,588 1,042,924,548

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the maturity of deposits from Customers is as follows:

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

31.12.201931.12.2019 31.12.201831.12.2018

Payable immediately 480,107,421 425,015,653

Payable term

Below 3 months 181,766,299 324,866,543

3 to 12 months 564,903,344 284,669,722

746,669,643 609,536,265

Total 1,226,777,064 1,034,551,918

Deposits from Customers and other loans bear interest at an average rate of 11.85% for national currency (2018: 9.19%) 
and 3.33% for foreign currency (2018: 3.36%).

Note 18.
Provisions

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the balance Provisions is analysed as follows:

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

Provisions for guarantees Provisions for guarantees 
and other commitmentsand other commitments

Provisions for other Provisions for other 
liabilities and chargesliabilities and charges TotalTotal

Balance at 31 December 2017 373,268 2,080,933 2,454,201

Charge for the period/Reversals 177,032 2,688,831 2,865,863

Charge-off - (379,485) (379,485)

Reclassifications/Transfers - (1,448,495) (1,448,495)

Exchange differences and other 441,244 1,227,773 1,669,017

Balance at 31 December 2018 991,544 4,169,557 5,161,101

Charge for the period/Reversals (432,466) 2,115,473 1,683,007

Charge-off - (465,517) (,465,517)

Reclassifications/Transfers - (41,819) (41,819)

Exchange differences and other 279,749 1,765,497 2,045,246

Balance at 31 December 2019 838,827 7,543,191 8,382,018

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the balance Provisions for guarantees and commitments records provisions for doc-
umentary credit granted and guarantees provided.

The balance of Other provisions for risks and charges covers certain properly identified contingencies arising from the 
Bank's activity which are reviewed on each reporting date with the purpose to reflect the best estimate of the amount 
and associated probability of payment.
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Note 19.
Other liabilities

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, this balance is analysed as follows:

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

31.12.201931.12.2019 31.12.201831.12.2018

Other liabilities

Lease liabilities 6,017,264 -

Accrued expenses 3,598,482 3,117,426

Tax charges payable – with held from third parties 3,336,207 1,734,681

Sundry debtors 2,208,925 2,897,606

Liabilities with employees 1,126,545 6,668,590

Administrative and marketing costs 216,325 22,045

Social Security contribution 133,652 49

Dividends payable 974 974

Other sundry liabilities 1,386,169 238,356

Total 18,024,543 14,679,727

As at 31 December 2019, the balance Lease liabilities corresponds to the impact of the adoption 
of IFRS 16, as at 1 January 2019, as described in note 2.11.

The balance Accrued expenses includes costs to be settled to Banco Atlântico Europa, S.A. 
in the amount of AOA 333,195 thousand (2018: AOA 285,296 thousand) related to services 
rendered by this entity. In addition, this balance includes amounts payable to service providers 
associated with telecommunications, security, transport and cleaning services, among others.

The balance Liabilities with employees includes the amount of AOA 914,413 (2018: AOA 870,336 
thousand) related to holiday allowances.

As at 31 December 2018, the balance Bonds with employees also included the amount of 
AOA 5,612,525 thousand related to variable remuneration for the financial year of 2018, 
to be settled in the following year.

Note 20.
Share capital, Share premiums and Treasury stock

Ordinary shares
The Bank was incorporated with a share capital of AOA 801,728 thousand (being worth 
USD 10,000,000 at the exchange rate in force on 6 and 21 November 2006), represented 
by 1,000,000 nominal shares of ten US dollars (USD) each, having been fully subscribed 
and paid in cash.

In June 2009, a capital increase amounting to AOA 6,510,772 thousand (being worth USD 
55,000,000), represented by 5,500,000 new shares with a nominal value of USD 10 each, 

was fully subscribed and paid up by the incorporation of retained earnings 
(AOA 268,346 thousand), conversion of a subordinated loan (AOA 300,886 
thousand), cash inflows (AOA 3,504,040 thousand) and through the issue 
of preferred shares without voting rights in the amount of AOA 2,437,500 
thousand (being worth USD 32,500,000). Preferred shares were issued for 
USD 25.14 each, which included a share premium of USD 15.14 per share.

In June 2011, a capital increase amounting to AOA 4,949,243 thousand (being 
worth USD 52,500,000), represented by 5,250,000 new shares with a nominal 
value of USD 10 each, was fully subscribed and paid up by the incorporation of 
retained earnings (AOA 3,764,524 thousand) and cash inflows (AOA 1,183,719 
thousands). In November 2011, a further injection of capital amounting to 
AOA 4,763,650 thousand (being worth USD 50,000,000), represented by 
5,000,000 new shares with a nominal value of USD 10 each, was fully sub-
scribed and paid up through cash inflows. As part of this new capital increase, 
additional cash inflows amounting to AOA 2,029,207 thousand were made 
with the purpose to maintain the equivalent in kwanzas of all the USD shares 
incorporated, based on the exchange rate of 13 December 2011.

In September 2013, ATLANTICO incorporated in its share capital, share 
premiums of preferred shares, issued in June 2009, amounting to AOA 
1,467,930 thousand, through the issue of 1,144,740 new ordinary shares, 
with a nominal value of AOA 1,000 each, in the amount of AOA 1,144,740 
thousand and changed the nominal value of 1,292,760 preferred shares for 
AOA 1,000, amounting to AOA 323,190 thousand. In addition, on the same 
date, ATLANTICO increased its capital by incorporating retained earnings, 
in the amount of AOA 205,400, therefore the Bank’s share capital would 
worth USD 200,000,000, at the exchange rate of 6 September 2013.

In December 2013, the Bank converted preferred shares without voting 
rights in the amount of AOA 1,292,760 thousand into ordinary shares in 
equal number and nominal value. Also in December 2013, a capital increase 
amounting to AOA 14,897,900 thousand, represented by 14,897,900 new 
shares with the nominal value of AOA 1,000, was fully subscribed, through 
the incorporation of retained earnings in the amount of AOA 4,879,700 
thousand (being worth USD 50,000,000 at the exchange rate of 17 
December 2013) and cash inflows in the amount of AOA 9,759,400 thou-
sand (being worth USD 100,000,000 at the exchange rate of 17 December 
2013). As of 31 December 2013, this capital increase was not yet fully paid up, 
with cash advances amounting to AOA 975,940 thousands still to be under-
taken. As part of this new capital increase, retained earnings amounting to 
AOA 258,800 thousand were also incorporated as to maintain the share 
capital of ATLANTICO in kwanzas, corresponding to USD 350,000,000 at 
the exchange rate of 17 December 2013. In 2014, cash inflows amounting 
to AOA 975,940 thousand were made and the above-mentioned capital 
increase was fully paid up. 

As a result of the operations described above, as at 31 December 2015, the 
Bank’s share capital amounts to AOA 34,157,900 thousand, represented by 
34,157,900 ordinary shares with a nominal value of AOA 1,000.

During 2015, the main shareholder of ATLANTICO, Global Pactum, Gestão 
de Activos, S.A., sold the majority of its shareholding in the Bank, resulting 
in a new shareholder structure.
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In 2016, with the merger and contribution in kind made with Millennium's assets, the capital 
increase referred to in the minutes was fulfilled, amounting to AOA 21,939,787 thousand, 
corresponding to 21,939,787 new shares. Simultaneously, a share premium of AOA 40,782,829 
thousand was generated. 

Considering the existence of own shares received within the merger, it was decided to cancel 
the own shares held. On this basis, the share capital of ATLANTICO is reduced from AOA 
56,097,687 thousand to AOA 53,821,603 thousand, as a result of the extinction of 2,276,084 
fully paid-up own shares of which, as a result of the merger, ATLANTICO will become holder, 
based on articles 461 and 372, paragraph 4, subparagraph a), of the Companies Code.

As at 31 December 2019, the Bank’s share capital in the amount of AOA 53,821,603 thou-
sand was represented by 53,821,603 ordinary shares, fully subscribed and paid up by 
different shareholders.

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Shareholder structure is as follows:

(% Capital)(% Capital)

31.12.201931.12.2019 31.12.201831.12.2018

Interlagos equity Partners 29.77% 29.77%

BCP África, SGPS, Lda. 22.52% 22.52%

Atlântico Financial Group, S.à.r.l. 19.80% 19.80%

Jasper Capital Partners - Investimentos  
e Participações, S.A.

15.12% 15.12%

Quadros - Gestão de Activos, S.A. 4.13% 4.13%

Economus - Capital, Lda. 3.00% 3.00%

Fundação ATLANTICO 2.00% 2.00%

Gemcorp Fund I 1.90% 1.90%

Own shares 0.91% 0.91%

Other entities 0.85% 0.85%

100.00% 100.00%

Share premium
The capital increase made in 2016 under the merger by incorporation led to a share premium of 
AOA 40,782,829 thousand. The amount of the share premium has been cut up in the amount 
of AOA 4,589,246 as a result of the dividends distributed in 2016 in 2015 related to Banco 
Millennium Angola and in the amount of AOA 1,361,574 thousand under the acquisition of own 
shares. Moreover, the amount related to costs with the capital increase amounts to AOA 21,940 
thousand. As at 31 December 2019, the share premium amounts to AOA 34,810,069 thousand.

Own shares
During 2016, the Bank acquired its own shares amounting to AOA 492,182 thousand 
with a corresponding share premium of AOA 1,361,574 thousand under a settlement of 
an amount receivable by a shareholder. The share price calculation within this operation 
was based on the same market multiple adopted for the ATLANTICO merger with Banco 
Millennium Angola.

Note 21.
Reserves and Retained earnings

Legal reserve
This balance consists entirely of Legal reserve, which can only be used to cover previous year losses or to increase 
share capital.

Angolan legislation applicable to the banking sector requires that 10% of the profit for the year must be transferred to 
the legal reserve until it is equal to the share capital.

Fair value reserves
Fair value reserves represent the potential gains and losses on financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive 
income, net of impairment recognised in the income statement in the period and/or in prior periods. The value of this reserve 
is disclosed net of deferred taxes.

Changes in these balances are analysed as follows:

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

Fair value reserveFair value reserve Other reserves and retained earningsOther reserves and retained earnings

Gross fair Gross fair 
value value 

reservereserve

Deferred Deferred 
tax reservestax reserves

Total fair Total fair 
value value 

reservereserve

Legal Legal 
reservereserve

Other  Other  
reserves reserves 

and  and  
retained retained 
earningsearnings

Total other Total other 
reserves reserves 

and  and  
retained retained 
earningsearnings

Total  Total  
reserves reserves 

and  and  
retained retained 
earningsearnings

Balance at 31 
December 2017 2,487,605 (746,113) 1,741,492 13,463,496 1,366,561 14,829,558 16,571,050

Transition 
adjustments 
to IFRS 9

(1,419,600) - (1,419,600) - (2,442,065) (2,442,065) (3,861,665)

Balance  
at 1 January 2018 1,068,005 (746,113) 321,892 13,463,496 (1,075,504) 12,387,493 12,709,385

Fair value changes 2,141,643 (116,139) 2,025,504 - - - 2,025,504

Legal reserves - - - 2,382,850 - 2,382,850 2,382,850

Transfer to retained 
earnings

- - - - 2,382,850 2,382,850 2,382,850

Dividends  
from own shares

- - - - 174,324 174,324 174,324

Balance at 31 
December 2018 3,209,648 (862,252) 2,347,396 15,846,346 1,481,670 17,327,517 19,674,913

Fair value changes (2,980,175) 793,410 (2,186,765) - - - (2,186,765)

Legal reserves - - - 2,722,510 - 2,722,510 2,722,510

Transfer to retained 
earnings

- - - - 24,502,579 24,502,579 24,502,579

Balance at 31 
December 2019 229,473 (68,842) 160,631 18,568,856 25,984,249 44,552,606 44,713,237
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Changes in fair value reserve, net of deferred taxes, can be analysed as follows:

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

31.12.201931.12.2019 31.12.201831.12.2018

Balance at the beginning of the period 2,347,396 1,741,492

Impact of transition to IFRS 9 - (1,419,600)

Fair value changes (2,102,009) 4,849,335

Disposals for the period (1,053,520) (2,729,250)

Impairment recognised in the period 175,354 (210,720)

Deferred taxes recognised in reserves 793,410 116,139

Balance at the end of the period 160,631 2,347,396

Note 22.
Net interest income

This balance is analysed as follows:

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

31.12.201931.12.2019 31.12.201831.12.2018

Interest and similar income

Interest from financial assets at amortised cost

Interest from loans to Customers 77,542,704 82,445,042

Interest from debt securities 26,729,347 23,201,761

Interest from deposits and other investments 597,400 342,623

Interest from financial assets at fair value through comprehensive income 14,041,621 12,431,476

Interest from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 702,373 32,063

119,613,445 118,452,965

Interest and similar expenses

Interest from deposits of Customers 38,065,653 34,351,133

Interest from loans of central banks and other financial institutions 13,309,407 16,872,213

Interest from leases 1,880,272 -

Interest from subordinated liabilities - -

53,255,332 51,223,346

Net interest income 66,358,113 67,229,619

The balance Interest from loans to Customers include (i) the positive amount of AOA 1,835,576 thousand (2018: AOA 
1,452,060 thousand) related to commissions and other income accounted for using the effective interest rate, as set out 
in IFRS and explained in note 2.3 and (ii) the amount of AOA 6,071,773 thousand related to financial assets in Stage 3 
(2018: AOA 7,705,484 thousand).

Note 23.
Net fee and commission income

This balance is analysed as follows:

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

31.12.201931.12.2019 31.12.201831.12.2018

Fee and commission income 16,813,068 21,250,115

Documentary credits openings 4,914,483 5,255,694

Transfers issued/received 2,641,791 3,163,471

VISA fees 2,169,633 2,107,014

Electronic transactions 2,142,534 2,131,526

Credit facilities openings/extension and maintenance 1,457,265 1,743,306

Maintenance of demand deposits accounts 1,000,424 987,831

Guarantees provided 687,345 2,390,735

Foreign currency transactions 174,965 1,409,190

Customs – revenue collection 171,048 604,439

Withdrawals 168,076 117,677

Structuring operations and financial advisory 56,508 36,650

Other fee and commission income 1,228,996 1,302,582

Fee and commission expense (1,786,607) (610,385)

Foreign transactions (685,925) (504,951)

Electronic transactions (626,627) -

Other fee and commissions (474,055) (105,434)

Total 15,026,461 20,639,730
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Note 24.
Net gains/(losses) arising from financial assets and liabilities at fair 
value through profit and loss

This balance is analysed as follows:

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

31.12.201931.12.2019 31.12.201831.12.2018

GainsGains LossesLosses TotalTotal GainsGains LossesLosses TotalTotal

Financial assets at fair value 
through profit/(loss)

Securities

Other variable income 
securities 1,408,904 - 1,408,904 1,463,795 - 1,463,795

Loans and advances  
to Customers

- (1,690,686) (1,690,686) - (2,728,414) (2,728,414)

1,408,904 (1,690,686) (281,782) 1,463,795 (2,728,414) (1,264,619)

Financial assets held  
for trading

Derivatives

Interest rates contracts - (5,871) (5,871) 129,722 - 129,722

- (5,871) (5,871) 129,722 - 129,722

Total 1,408,904 (1,696,557) (287,653) 1,593,517 (2,728,414) (1,134,897)

This caption includes the gains following the disposals of securities recorded in the portfolio and financial assets at fair 
value through profit and loss, as defined in Note 2.5.

Note 25.
Gains arising from financial operations

This balance is analysed as follows:

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

31.12.201931.12.2019 31.12.201831.12.2018

GainsGains LossesLosses TotalTotal GainsGains LossesLosses TotalTotal

Bonds and other fixed  
income securities

Issued by public entities 1,053,520 - 1,053,520 1,574,837 - 1,574,837

Shares - - - 1,154,413 - 1,154,413

Total 1,053,520 - 1,053,520 2,729,250 - 2,729,250

As at 31 December 2018, the balance Shares includes the amount of AOA 1,080,604 relating to the net gain resulting 
from the sale of the total shareholding held in Atlântico Europa SGPS, as referred to in note 7.

Note 26.
Net gains/(losses) arising from foreign exchange differences

This balance is analysed as follows:

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

31.12.201931.12.2019 31.12.201831.12.2018

Gains/(losses) arising from currency transactions 6,373,933 (6,815,076)

Gains/(losses) arising from revaluation of assets and liabilities (3,249,298) 20,271,334

Total 3,124,635 13,456,258

This caption includes the results from foreign exchange differences of monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currency 
in accordance with the accounting policy described in Note 2.3.

Note 27.
Net gains/(losses) arising from the sale of other assets

The balance of this caption in the amount of AOA 25,719,887 thousand (2018: AOA 2,770,784) refers to the gains and 
losses obtained with the sale of non-current assets held for sale.

Note 28.
Staff costs

This balance is analysed as follows:

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

31.12.201931.12.2019 31.12.201831.12.2018

Wages and salaries 13,728,932 16,576,036

Remunerations 13,728,932 16,576,036

Mandatory social charges 2,988,012 1,498,033

Other staff costs 4,430,030 4,407,522

Total 21,146,974 22,481,591

The balance Remunerations includes the amount of AOA 957,914 thousand regarding variable remuneration (2018: AOA 
5,857,285 thousand) of employees and management bodies for the 2019 period, already settled.

The balance Other staff costs includes the amount of AOA 708,640 thousand referring to loans granted to employees 
and management bodies as defined in IAS 19 (2018: AOA 503,727 thousand).
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The number of Bank employees, considering permanent and fixed-term employees, is broken down by professional 
category, as follows:

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

31.12.201931.12.2019 31.12.201831.12.2018

Senior management functions 117 119

Management functions 313 275

Specific functions 1,357 1,371

Administrative and other functions 25 55

Total 1,812 1,820

Note 29.
Supplies and services

This balance is analysed as follows:

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

31.12.201931.12.2019 31.12.201831.12.2018

Communications costs 2,750,579 2,145,389

Audit and advisory 2,621,959 3,299,493

Security and surveillance 1,861,327 2,413,748

Maintenance and repair 1,701,009 1,876,283

Advertising costs 1,307,986 1,123,179

Travel, hotel and representation costs 1,236,754 1,549,113

Consumables 585,924 1,149,834

Water, energy and fuel 287,267 665,089

IT services 148,248 277,346

Rental costs 66,380 2,073,584

Other 288,373 373,190

Total 12,855,806 16,946,248

Note 30.
Other operating income

This balance is analysed as follows:

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

31.12.201931.12.2019 31.12.201831.12.2018

Other operating income/(expense)

Non-recurring income from credit operations 55,495 1,757,502

Direct and indirect taxes (4,724,228) (3,005,103)

Deposit collateral provision (2,566,238) -

Contributions and donations (674,774) (167,577)

Other (485,271) (77,723)

Total (8,395,016) (1,492,901)

The balance Direct and indirect taxes includes (i) the amount of AOA 2,094,457 thousand (2018: AOA 1,650,132 thousand) 
related to Capital Gains Tax.

Note 31.
Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share
Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to the Bank’s shareholders by the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

31.12.201931.12.2019 31.12.201831.12.2018

Net profit attributable to the shareholders of the Bank 30,464,862 27,225,088

(-) Remuneration of perpetual liabilities - -

(+) Gains/losses registered in reserves - -

Adjusted net consolidated profit attributable to the shareholders of the Bank 30,464,862 27,225,088

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (thousands) 53,821,603 53,821,603

Weighted average number if own shares in portfolio (thousands) (492,182) (492,182)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding (thousands) 53,329,421 53,329,421

Basic earnings per share attributable to the Bank's shareholders (AOA thousand) 0.57 0.51
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Diluted earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share are calculated by adjusting the effect of all potential dilutive ordinary shares to the weighted average 
number of ordinary shares outstanding and to the net profit attributable to the Bank’s shareholders.

As at 31 December 2019, diluted earnings per share, considering the effect of treasury stock, is 0.57 (2018: 0.51).

Note 32.
Guarantees and other commitments

This balance is analysed as follows:

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

31.12.201931.12.2019 31.12.201831.12.2018

Guarantees received 1,996,520,658 1,524,585,950

Liabilities for services provided 641,585,214 421,271,481

Guarantees granted 69,398,163 107,797,642

Commitments to third parties 13,521,899 27,551,001

Total 2,721,025,934 2,081,206,074

Bank guarantees granted are financial operations that do not translate into mobilisation of Funds by the Bank.

The breakdown of guarantees and commitments provided by stage is as follows:

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

31.12.201931.12.2019

Stage 1Stage 1 Stage 2Stage 2 Stage 3Stage 3 TotalTotal

Gross amount 58,199,435 9,491,887 1,706,841 69,398,163

Impairment losses (173,092) (120,821) (548,730) (842,643)

Total 58,026,343 9,371,066 1,158,111 68,555,520

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

31.12.201831.12.2018

Stage 1Stage 1 Stage 2Stage 2 Stage 3Stage 3 TotalTotal

Gross amount 65,372,999 40,988,223 1,436,420 107,797,642

Impairment losses (287,028) (380,908) (323,608) (991,544)

Total 65,085,971 40,607,315 1,112,812 106,806,098

Documentary credits correspond to irrevocable commitments with the Bank’s customer, 
which ensure the payment of a determined amount to customer’s suppliers, within a fixed 
term, against the presentation of the documentation confirming the shipment of goods or the 
rendering of services. The irrevocable condition arises from the fact that the commitment is 
not cancellable or amended without the agreement of all parties involved.

Revocable and irrevocable commitments represent contractual agreements to extend credit 
to the Bank’s Customers (for example unused credit lines). These agreements are generally, 
contracted for fixed periods of time or with other expiring requirements, and usually require 
the payment of a commission. Substantially, all credit commitments require that Customers 
maintain certain conditions verified at the time the credit was granted.

Notwithstanding the particular characteristics of these commitments, the analysis of these 
operations follows the same basic principles of any commercial operation, namely the solven-
cy of the underlying customer and business, being that the Bank requires these operations 
to be adequately covered by collaterals when needed. Considering that is expected that the 
majority of these commitments expire without having being used, the indicated amounts do 
not represent necessarily future cash flow needs.

Financial instruments recorded as Guarantees and other commitments are subject to the 
same approval and control procedures applied to the credit portfolio, namely regarding 
the analysis of objective evidence of impairment, as described in Note 2.5. The maximum 
credit exposure is represented by the nominal value that could be lost related to guaran-
tees and commitments undertaken by the Bank in the event of default by the respective 
counterparties, without considering potential recoveries or collaterals.

For financial assets recognised in the Balance Sheet, the maximum exposure to credit risk 
is represented by the net carrying amount of impairment. For off-balance sheet items, the 
maximum collateral exposure is the maximum amount that the Bank would have to pay if 
collaterals were forfeited. For loans and other commitments related to irrevocable credit, the 
maximum exposure is the total amount of commitments undertaken.

The Bank provides custody services, asset management, investment management and advi-
sory services that involve taking decisions of buying and selling several types of financial 
instruments. For certain services rendered, targets and profitability levels are set out for 
assets under management.

In the context of fiduciary activities, the Bank provides custody services to its Customers. 
Recognition in off-balance sheet items is described in the accounting policy of note 2.21.
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Note 33.
Transactions with related parties

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the balances and transactions with related parties are presented as follows:

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

31.12.201931.12.2019

ShareholdersShareholders Executive Executive 
CommitteeCommittee

Other key Other key 
management and management and 

family membersfamily members

Other related Other related 
partiesparties

TotalTotal

Assets

Loans and advances  
to credit institutions 
repayable on demand

7,289,654 - - 1,344,604 8,634,258

Financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss

- - - 54,885,423 54,885,423

Deposits with credit 
institutions

1,852,909 - - - 1,852,909

Loans and advances  
to Customers

7,818,226 1,959,512 8,734,867 29,091,954 47,604,559

Other assets 5,971,381 - - 184,672 6,156,053

Total assets 22,932,170 1,959,512 8,734,867 85,506,653 119,133,202

Liabilities

Deposits from central 
banks and other credit 
institutions

113,335,811 - - 8,653,865 121,989,676

Deposits from Customers 3,306,323 13,323,732 7,051,156 9,124,571 32,805,782

Other liabilities - - - 1,750,124 1,750,124

Total Liabilities 116,642,134 13,323,732 7,051,156 19,528,560 156,545,582

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

31.12.201831.12.2018

ShareholdersShareholders Executive  Executive  
CommitteeCommittee

Other key Other key 
management and management and 

family membersfamily members

Other related Other related 
partiesparties

TotalTotal

Assets

Loans and advances  
to credit institutions 
repayable on demand

8,175,207 - - - 8,175,207

Deposits with credit 
institutions

9,404,932 - - - 9,404,932

Loans and advances  
to Customers

6,803,463 1,304,300 2,724,471 282 10,832,516

Other assets 4,656,507 - - 238,789 4,895,296

Total assets 29,040,109 1,304,300 2,724,471 239,071 33,307,951

Liabilities

Deposits from central 
banks and other credit 
institutions

83,976,728 - - - 83,976,728

Deposits from Customers 6,101,994 3,638,203 4,921,488 806,113 15,467,798

Total Liabilities 90,078,722 3,638,203 4,921,488 806,113 99,444,526

The Bank considers the following related parties: 

a) �All entities holding qualified shareholdings: shareholders holding, directly 
or indirectly, a percentage equal to or greater than 10% of ATLANTlCO’s 
share capital;

b)� �All entities that are directly or indirectly owned by more than 10% by the 
shareholders, falling within the previous point;

c) �All entities in which ATLANTICO owns, directly or indirectly, at least 10% 
of the share capital or voting rights of the subsidiary company or that, 
for any reason, allows for the exercise of the control and /or significant 
influence in the management of the subsidiary company;

d) �Any person or entity, irrespective of its legal form, that has a relationship 
with the shareholder, is one of the following:

■ �Spouse or unmarried partner, parents, grandparents, children, grand-
children and household members;

■ �Entities in which some of the above listed persons hold a qualified 
shareholding.

e) �Entities that are directly or indirectly in a control or group relationship 
with ATLANTICO;

f) �Members of the administrative and/or supervisory bodies of ATLANTICO 
as well as any person or entity, irrespective of its legal form, that has a 
relationship with a member of the administrative and/or supervisory 
bodies of one of the following:

■  �Spouse or unmarried partner, parents, grandparents, children, grand-
children and household members;

■  �Entities controlled by the member of the administrative and/or super-
visory bodies, and entities in which they hold a qualified shareholding;

■  �Entities controlled by one of the persons listed in the first sub-para-
graph of point f).

g) �Entities whose majority of the members of the administrative or manage-
ment bodies match with those of the ATLANTICO or, in case of distinct 
people, are connected between by marriage, unmarried partnership or 
kinship in direct line up to the second degree;

h)	� Other key management of ATLANTICO and family members: First-line 
Directors, their spouses, descendants or ascendants, in direct line up to 
the second degree;

i) �Entity hired by ATLANTICO to provide post-employment benefit plans 
for ATLANTICO employees.
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The members of the Board of Directors and of the Supervisory Board,  
as at 31 December 2019, are as follows:

Board of Directors:
António João Assis de Almeida
Miguel Maya Dias Pinheiro
Atanas Stefanov Bostandjiev
Daniel Gustavo Carvalho dos Santos
Augusto Costa Ramiro Baptista
Paulo Fernando Cartaxo Tomás 
Ana Patrícia Pereira Gabriel Tavares
Éder Nuno Vicente Samuel de Sousa
João da Conceição Ribeiro Mendonça
Odyle Vieira Dias Cardoso
Diogo Baptista Russo Pereira da Cunha
Elpídio Ferreira Lourenço Neto
Hermenegilda de Fátima Agostinho Lopes Benge
José Miguel B. S. da Silva Pessanha
José Miguel Nunes Anacoreta Correia

Supervisory Board:
António Guilherme Rodrigues Frutuoso de Melo
Luís Carlos Costa Prazeres
José Pedro Porto Dordio
Nelson Luís Vieira Teixeira
Maria Cristina Santos Ferreira

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Bank does not have associates, joint 
ventures and jointly controlled entities.

All transactions with related parties are carried out at regular market prices, 
using the principle of fair value.

Note 34.
Fair value of financial assets and liabilities

Fair value is based on quoted market prices, whenever available. Otherwise, 
fair value is determined based on cash flow discounting techniques. Cash 
flows for the different instruments are calculated according with its financial 
characteristics and discount rates used include both the market interest rate 
curve and the current risk levels of the respective issuer.

Therefore, the fair value obtained is influenced by parameters used in the 
evaluation model that, necessarily have some degree of judgment and reflect 
exclusively the value attributed to different financial instruments.
 

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Bank’s fair value of financial assets and liabilities is analysed as follows:

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

Measured at Fair ValueMeasured at Fair Value

Amortised Amortised 
Cost Cost 

Market Market 
pricesprices

Valuation Valuation 
models with  models with  
observable  observable  

market  market  
parametersparameters

Valuation models Valuation models 
with parameters with parameters 

not observable in not observable in 
the marketthe market

 Total book  Total book 
valuevalue

Fair value Fair value 

(Level 1)(Level 1) (Level 2)(Level 2) (Level 3)(Level 3)

31 December 2019

Assets

Cash and deposits  
at central banks

190,988,448 - - - 190,988,448 190,988,448

Loans and advances 
to credit institutions 
repayable on demand

24,428,190 - - - 24,428,190 24,428,190

Financial assets at fair 
value through profit 
or loss

- - 10,166,355 59,259,009 69,425,364 69,425,364

Financial assets at 
fair value through 
other comprehensive 
income

- - 33,832,775 345,683 34,178,458 34,178,458

Financial assets  
at amortised cost

Debt securities 529,302,406 - - - 529,302,406 532,604,339

Loans and 
advances to 
Customers

442,701,013 - - - 442,701,013 441,712,983

Other loans and 
advances to credit 
institutions

17,012,282 - - - 17,012,282 17,012,282

Financial assets 1,204,432,339 - 43,999,130 59,604,692 1,308,036,161 1,310,350,064

Deposits from central 
banks and other credit 
institutions

176,493,638 - - - 176,493,638 176,493,638

Financial liabilities 
at fair value through 
profit or loss

- - - 207,095 207,095 207,095

Deposits from 
Customers and  
other loans

1,234,985,588 - - - 1,234,985,588 1,234,985,588

Financial liabilities 1,411,479,226 - - 207,095 1,411,686,321 1,411,686,321



204 6.0  ■  Financial Statements and Notes to the Financial Statements 20519 Annual Report  ■  Banco Millennium Atlântico     

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

Measured at Fair ValueMeasured at Fair Value

Amortised Amortised 
Cost Cost 

Market Market 
pricesprices

Valuation Valuation 
models with  models with  
observable  observable  

market  market  
parametersparameters

Valuation models Valuation models 
with parameters with parameters 

not observable in not observable in 
the marketthe market

 Total book  Total book 
valuevalue

Fair value Fair value 

(Nível 1)(Nível 1) (Nível 2)(Nível 2) (Nível 3)(Nível 3)

31 December 2018

Assets

Cash and deposits  
at central banks

159,372,252 - - - 159,372,252 159,372,252

Loans and advances 
to credit institutions 
repayable on demand

26,739,729 - - - 26,739,729 26,739,729

Financial assets at fair 
value through profit 
or loss

- - 6,903,601 19,716,843 26,620,444 26,620,444

Financial assets at 
fair value through 
other comprehensive 
income

- - 197,781,944 337,782 198,119,726 198,119,726

Financial assets  
at amortised cost

Debt securities 274,968,716 - - - 274,968,716 272,409,571

Loans and 
advances to 
Customers

420,264,577 - - - 420,264,577 418,456,722

Other loans and 
advances to credit 
institutions

13,312,565 - - - 13,312,565 13,312,565

Financial assets 894,657,839 - 204,685,545 20,054,625 1,119,398,009 1,115,031,009

Deposits from central 
banks and other 
credit institutions

160,054,580 - - - 160,054,580 160,054,580

Deposits from 
Customers 

1,042,924,548 - - - 1,042,924,548 1,042,924,548

Financial liabilities 1,202,979,128 - - - 1,202,979,128 1,202,979,128

The Bank uses the following hierarchy for fair value with 3 levels in the evaluation of financial 
instruments (assets and liabilities), which reflects the level of judgment, the observability of 
the data used and the importance of the parameters used in determining the fair value meas-
urement of the instrument, as referred in IFRS 13:

Level 1: Fair value is determined based on unadjusted quoted prices, captured in transactions 
in active markets involving identical instruments to the ones being valued. If there is more than 
one active market for the same financial instrument, the relevant price is what prevails in the 
main market of the instrument, or most advantageous market for which there is access;

Level 2: Fair value is determined based on evaluation techniques supported by observable inputs 
in active markets, being direct data (prices, rates, spreads, etc.) or indirect data (derivatives), and 
evaluation assumptions similar to what an unrelated party would use in estimating the fair value 
of that financial instrument. It also includes instruments whose valuation is obtained through 
quotations disclosed by independent entities but whose markets have the lowest liquidity; and

Level 3: Fair value is determined based on unobservable inputs in active markets, using tech-
niques and assumptions that market participants would use do evaluate the same instruments, 
including assumptions about the inherent risks, the evaluation technique used and inputs used 
and review processes to test the accuracy of the values obtained.

The Bank considers an active market for a given financial instrument at the measurement date, 
depending on the turnover and liquidity of the transactions carried out, the relative volatility 
of quoted prices and the readiness and availability of the information, and the following con-
ditions should apply:

■ Existence of frequent daily prices trading in the last year;

■ The above quotations are exchanged regularly;

■ There are executable quotes from more than one entity.

A parameter used in a valuation technique is considered observable in the market, if the fol-
lowing conditions are met:

■ If its value is determined in an active market;

■ �If there is an OTC market and it is reasonable to assume that the conditions of an active market 
are met, with the exception of the condition of trading volumes; and

■ �The parameter value can be obtained by the inverse calculation of prices of financial instru-
ments or derivatives where the remaining parameters required for initial assessment are 
observable in a liquid market or an OTC market that comply with the preceding paragraphs.

The main methodologies and assumptions used in estimating the fair value of financial 
assets and liabilities recorded in the balance sheet at amortised cost are analysed as follows:
 
Cash and deposits at central banks, Loans and advances to credit 
institutions and Other loans and advances to central banks and credit 
institutions
Considering the short maturity of these financial instruments, the amount in the balance 
sheet is a reasonable estimate of its fair value.
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Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss and Financial assets 
at fair value through other comprehensive income
These financial instruments are measured at fair value for the Angolan public debt securities. 
Fair value is based on market prices (BODIVA), whenever these are available. Otherwise, fair 
value is estimated through numerical models based on cash flow discounting techniques, 
using the interest rate curve adjusted for factors associated, predominantly the credit risk 
and liquidity risk, determined in accordance with the market conditions and time frame.

Interest rates are determined based on information disseminated by financial content 
providers and BNA. Interest rates for specific periods of the cash flows are determined 
by appropriate interpolation methods. The same interest rate curves are also used in the 
projection of the non-deterministic cash flows, such as indexes.

For investment funds, the best fair value estimate considered is the financial statements of 
these bodies at the Bank’s balance sheet date and, where possible, with the Auditor’s Report.

Financial assets at amortised cost
The fair value of these instruments is based on market prices, whenever these are avail-
able. Otherwise, fair value is estimated through the update of expected cash flows of 
future capital and interest for these instruments.

For disclosure purposes, Treasury Bills have short-term residual maturities and Treasury 
Bonds in foreign currency bear interest rates in line with the comparable market rates 
in force, and therefore their carrying amount represents substantially the fair value of 
these assets.

Loans and advances to Customers
The fair value of loans and advances to Customers is calculated based on the update 
of expected principal and interest future cash flows, considering that the payments 
of the instalments occur in the contractually defined dates. The expected future cash 
flows of homogeneous credit portfolios, such as mortgage loans, are estimated on a 
portfolio basis. The discount rates used are the current rates charged for loans with 
similar characteristics.

Deposits from central banks and other credit institutions
The fair value of loans and advances to Customers is calculated based on the update of 
expected principal and interest future cash flows, considering that the payments of the 
instalments occur in the contractually defined dates.

Deposits from Customers
The fair value of these financial instruments is calculated based on the expected principal and 
interest future cash flows. The discount rate used reflects the rates charged for deposits with 
similar characteristics at the balance sheet date. Considering that the applicable interest rates 
are renewed for periods of less than one year, there are no material differences in their fair value.

Exchange rates
Concerning the exchange rates, the Bank uses in its valuation models the spot rate 
observed in the market at the time of the valuation.

Note 35.
Risk Management

Main risk categories
Credit – Credit risk is the uncertainty of recovery of an investment and its return, due to the 
debtor’s (or guardian, if applicable) inability to fulfil its financial commitments to the Bank, caus-
ing a financial loss to the creditor. Credit risk is reflected in debt securities or other receivables.

Market – Market risk reflects the potential loss that can be registered by a given portfolio as 
a result of changes in rates (interest and exchange rates) and/or the prices of the different 
financial instruments that comprise it, considering both the correlations between them and the 
respective volatilities. Therefore, Market Risk encompasses the risk of interest rate, exchange 
rate and other price risks.

Liquidity – Liquidity risk reflects the inability of the Bank to meet its liabilities associated with 
financial liabilities on each maturity date without incurring significant losses as a result of a 
deterioration in the conditions of access to financing (financing risk) and/or sale of its assets 
for amounts lower than the amounts usually practiced in the market (market liquidity risk).

Real Estate - Real estate risk is the probability of negative impacts on income and/or capital 
due to unfavourable changes in the market price.

Operating – Operating risk is the probability of failures or inappropriateness of internal proce-
dures, information systems, human behaviour or external events.

Risk Assessment

Credit Risk
Credit risk models play a key role in the credit decision process. Therefore, the loan portfolio’s 
decision-making process is based on a set of policies, through scoring models for Private and 
Business Customers’ portfolios and rating for the corporate segment.

Credit decisions depend on risk classifications and compliance with several rules on the finan-
cial standing and behaviour of the proposers. There are relative scoring models for the main 
credit portfolios of private Customers, namely mortgage loans and individual loans, including 
the necessary segmentation between Customers and non-Customers (or recent Customers).

The main goals of credit risk management are:

■ Define the provisioning rules/impairment calculations;

■ Define the process of risk analysis;

■ Analyse the sectorial and geographical risks;

■ Analyse the non-diversification risks;

■ Define and monitoring the internal boundaries for counter parties 

■ �Monitoring the implementation of risks cutback plans, through a follow-up of the overdue 
credit portfolio.
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In order to mitigate the credit risk, the portfolio analysis includes the following criteria:

■ Customer’s background, to seek the existence of credit defaults, pledges or debts;

■ �Exposure limits to credit risk, where, in accordance with the counterparties’ credit capacity, it is established an internal 
rating, as well as the definition of maximum limits to counterparties;

■ Default risk, where the Customers with ratings of high default probability are rejected;

■ �Personal or real guarantees at the credit conception, in order to mitigate the Bank’s exposure to the respective counterparty.

The Bank's exposure to credit risk is presented as follows:

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

31.12.201931.12.2019

Gross book valueGross book value ImpairmentImpairment Net book valueNet book value

Balance sheet items

Cash and deposits at central banks 174,871,434 - 174,871,434

Loans and advances to credit institutions 
repayable on demand

24,428,190 - 24,428,190

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 69,425,364 - 69,425,364

Financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income

34,178,458 - 34,178,458

Financial assets at amortised cost

Loans and advances to Customers 551,959,725 (109,258,712) 442,701,013

Debt securities 537,580,900 (8,278,494) 529,302,406

Other loans and advances to credit 
institutions

17,012,282 - 17,012,282

Debtors from promissory  
purchase contracts

56,124,841 (3,680,572) 52,444,269

Other debtors 35,352,664 (3,374,377) 31,978,287

1,500,933,858 (124,592,155) 1,376,341,703

Off-balance sheet items

Documentary credit 58,380,008 (692,846) 57,687,162

Guarantees provided 11,018,155 (149,797) 10,868,358

69,398,163 (842,643) 68,555,520

Total 1,570,332,021 (125,434,798) 1,444,897,223

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

31.12.201831.12.2018

Gross book valueGross book value ImpairmentImpairment Net book valueNet book value

Balance sheet items

Cash and deposits at central banks 148,165,613 - 148,165,613

Loans and advances to credit institutions 
repayable on demand

26,739,729 - 26,739,729

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 26,620,444 - 26,620,444

Financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income

198,119,726 - 198,119,726

Financial assets at amortised cost

Loans and advances to Customers 499,216,620 (78,952,043) 420,264,577

Debt securities 275,647,419 (678,703) 274,968,716

Other loans and advances to credit 
institutions

13,312,565 - 13,312,565

Debtors from promissory  
purchase contracts

41,521,330 (3,970,210) 37,551,120

Other debtors 22,436,954 (3,042,601) 19,394,353

1,251,780,400 (86,643,557) 1,165,136,843

Off-balance sheet items

Documentary credit 89,789,769 (640,932) 89,148,837

Guarantees provided 18,007,873 (350,612) 17,657,261

107,797,642 (991,544) 106,806,098

Total 1,359,578,042 (87,635,101) 1,271,942,941
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As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Bank’s exposure to credit risk, by sector of activity, is presented as follows:

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

31.12.201931.12.2019

Loans to CustomersLoans to Customers Guarantees Guarantees 
provided and provided and 
credit letterscredit letters

Total exposureTotal exposure ImpairmentImpairment

DueDue Past duePast due AmountAmount Impairment/ Impairment/ 
Total Total 

exposureexposure

Real Estate 89,423,829 30,202,963 106,068 119,732,860 30,671,234 26%

Wholesale  
and retail trading

65,537,408 16,762,035 34,227,738 116,527,181 13,724,781 12%

Buildings and 
construction

107,501,342 9,425,787 7,042,093 123,969,222 25,015,058 20%

Manufacturing 
industry

62,515,043 15,256,065 8,395,001 86,166,109 16,356,160 19%

Private 34,146,754 4,573,104 831,506 39,551,364 16,139,204 41%

Institutional 626,581 104 - 626,685 44,432 7%

Others 40,482,834 6,187,894 18,795,757 65,466,486 8,150,486 12%

Total 400,233,791 82,407,953 69,398,163 552,039,907 110,101,355 137%

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

31.12.201831.12.2018

Loans to CustomersLoans to Customers Guarantees Guarantees 
provided and provided and 
credit letterscredit letters

Total exposureTotal exposure ImpairmentImpairment

DueDue Past duePast due AmountAmount Impairment/ Impairment/ 
Total Total 

exposureexposure

Real Estate 159,166,414 14,186,515 334,745 173,687,674 26,141,631 15%

Wholesale  
and retail trading

50,217,274 10,130,436 69,979,330 130,327,040 8,544,084 7%

Buildings and 
construction

75,873,357 10,440,061 16,529,084 102,842,502 18,964,480 18%

Manufacturing 
industry

77,491,412 9,651,797 8,224,582 95,367,791 10,245,759 11%

Private 29,974,706 3,757,510 48,540 33,780,756 10,717,410 32%

Institutional 8,599,537 102 - 8,599,639 59,435 1%

Others 41,745,323 7,982,176 12,681,361 62,408,860 5,270,789 8%

Total 443,068,023 56,148,597 107,797,642 607,014,262 79,943,588 92%

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the geographical concentration of credit risk is presented as follows:

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

31.12.201931.12.2019

Geographical areaGeographical area

AngolaAngola PortugalPortugal OtherOther TotalTotal

Loans and advances to Customers 548,188,470 2,767,797 1,003,458 551,959,725

Guarantees provided and credit letters 68,994,388 - 299,831 69,294,219

Total 617,182,858 2,767,797 1,303,289 621,253,944

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

31.12.201831.12.2018

Geographical areaGeographical area

AngolaAngola PortugalPortugal OtherOther TotalTotal

Loans and advances to Customers 496,688,334 2,507,712 20,574 499,216,620

Guarantees provided and credit letters 107,502,974 - 294,668 107,797,642

Total 604,191,308 2,507,712 315,242 607,014,262

Real estate guarantees and financial collaterals, which allow a direct reduction in the position value, are important for 
credit risk mitigation. Personal protection guarantees, with a substitution effect in the position at risk, are also considered.

Credit operations collateralised by financial guarantees are considered for direct reductions, namely, deposits, Angolan 
state bonds and other similar guarantees.

Regarding real mortgage guarantees, the valuation of assets are performed by independent appraisers. The revaluation 
of the assets is performed through assessments on-the-site, performed by a technical appraiser, in accordance with best 
market practices.

The Bank's Calculation Model of Impairment Losses of the Loans Portfolio has been in production since 2018 and is gov-
erned by the general principles defined in IFRS 9, as well as by the guidelines and iterations for the implementation of 
IAS/IFRS with Banco Nacional de Angola, in order to align the calculation process with the best international practices.

The Bank's impairment model begins with the segmentation of the credit portfolio Customers into separate groups, 
according to their stage and depending on the existence of signs of impairment (which include internal and external 
information) and the size of the set of exposures of each economic/customer group:

Individually Significant: Customers or Economic Groups that meet at least one of the following requirements are subject 
to an individual analysis.
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For each one of the Customers/active loans, a set of impairment signs is verified, which 
includes internal and external information. This information increases impairment values, 
since these represent an increase in the risk of default.

It should be noted that a restructured loan is a sign of impairment and, therefore, the loan 
portfolio marked as restructured is included in the loans with signs of impairment.

In the group of homogeneous populations, customer exposures are subject to collec-
tive analysis. 

Impairment value for Individually Significant Customers is determined through the dis-
counted cash flows method. Essentially, the impairment value corresponds to the difference 
between the credit value and the sum of the expected cash flows for the several operations 
of the customer, which are updated according to the interest rates of each operation.
 
Market Risk
Market Risk is controlled, in a short and long-term vision, for the bank portfolio. The main 
actors in the daily management of Market and Liquidity Risk are the Treasury and Markets 
Department and the Risk Department.

The Treasury and Markets Department is responsible for the selection and performance 
of market operations and for liquidity management, considering the limits defined in the 
Bank's risk profile.

The Risk Department is responsible for the identification, measurement and monitoring 
of risks, always ensuring that the defined limits are met.

The Bank also complies with Notice No. 08/2016 of 16 May, regarding the Interest Rate 
Risk in the banking portfolio (financial instruments not held in the portfolio of financial 
assets at fair value through profit and loss).

The investment portfolio is mainly concentrated in National Treasury bonds and, by 31 
December 2019, it represented 90.3% (31 December 2018: 99.99%) of the total portfolio of 
financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income and at amortised cost.

The assessment of the interest rate risk originated by operations from the banking port-
folio is made by risk sensitivity analysis.

Based on the financial characteristics of each contract, cash flows are projected according 
to the dates of rate re-establishment and possible behavioural assumptions considered.

The aggregation of the expected cash flows, at each time frame, for each of the currencies 
analysed, allows the determination of the interest rate gaps by refixing periods.

Following the recommendations of Instruction No. 06/2016 of 8 August of Banco Nacional 
de Angola, the Bank calculates its exposure to the balance sheet interest rate risk based 
on the methodology defined in the Instruction.

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Bank’s assets and liabilities by type of rate, are analysed as follows:

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

31.12.201931.12.2019

Exposure toExposure to Not subject  Not subject  
to risk ofto risk of

interest rateinterest rate

DerivativesDerivatives TotalTotal

Fixed rateFixed rate Variable rateVariable rate

Assets

Cash and deposits  
at central banks

- - 190,988,448 - 190,988,448

Loans and advances 
to credit institutions 
repayable on demand

- - 24,428,190 - 24,428,190

Financial assets at fair 
value through profit  
or loss

- 12,711,039 56,701,261 13,064 69,425,364

Financial assets at fair 
value through other 
comprehensive income

31,748,255 2,084,520 345,683 - 34,178,458

Financial assets  
at amortised cost

Debt securities 529,302,406 - - - 529,302,406

Loans and advances 
to Customers

57,958,616 494,001,109 - - 551,959,725

Other loans and 
advances to credit 
institutions

17,012,282 - - - 17,012,282

636,021,559 508,796,668 272,463,582 13,064 1,417,294,873

Liabilities

Deposits from central 
banks and other credit 
institutions

126,932,534 49,561,104 - - 176,493,638

Deposits from Customers 
and other deposits

754,878,167 - 480,107,421 - 1,234,985,588

Total 881,810,701 49,561,104 480,107,421 - 1,411,479,226
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(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

31.12.201831.12.2018

Exposure toExposure to Not subject  Not subject  
to risk ofto risk of

interest rateinterest rate

DerivativesDerivatives TotalTotal

Fixed rateFixed rate Variable rateVariable rate

Assets

Cash and deposits  
at central banks

- - 159,372,252 - 159,372,252

Loans and advances 
to credit institutions 
repayable on demand

- - 26,739,729 - 26,739,729

Financial assets at fair 
value through profit  
or loss

- 10,183,491 16,387,405 49,548 26,620,444

Financial assets at fair 
value through other 
comprehensive income

196,311,431 1,470,513 337,782 - 198,119,726

Financial assets  
at amortised cost

Debt securities 274,968,716 - - - 274,968,716

Loans and advances 
to Customers

42,361,333 456,855,287 - - 499,216,620

Other loans and 
advances to credit 
institutions

13,312,565 - - - 13,312,565

526,954,045 468,509,291 202,837,168 49,548 1,198,350,052

Liabilities

Deposits from central 
banks and other credit 
institutions

86,112,479 73,942,101 - - 160,054,580

Deposits from Customers 
and other deposits

617,908,895 - 425,015,653 - 1,042,924,548

Total 704,021,374 73,942,101 425,015,653 - 1,202,979,128

The following table presents the average interest rates for the major categories of the Bank’s financial assets and liabil-
ities for the period ended on 31 December 2019 and 2018, as well as the respective average balances and income and 
expenses for the period:

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

31.12.201931.12.2019 31.12.201831.12.2018

Average Average 
balance for balance for 
the periodthe period

Interest for Interest for 
the periodthe period

Average Average 
Interest rateInterest rate

Average Average 
balance for balance for 
the periodthe period

Interest for Interest for 
the periodthe period

Average Average 
interest interest 

raterate

Investments

Cash 28,095,286 - 0.00% 17,164,087 - 0.00%

Financial assets  
at amortised cost

Loans and 
advances  
to Customers

431,379,790 77,542,704 17.98% 423,380,954 82,445,042 19.47%

Debt securities 452,073,608 26,729,347 5.91% 284,170,006 23,201,761 8.16

Other loans and 
advances to credit 
institutions

19,340,883 597,400 3.09% 19,366,401 342,623 1.77%

Interest from 
financial assets at 
fair value through 
comprehensive 
income

109,514,321 14,041,621 12.82% 182,132,045 12,431,476 6.83%

Interest from financial 
assets at fair value 
through profit and 
loss

45,065,378 702,373 1.56% 26,602,446 32,063 0.12%

Total Investments 1,085,469,266 119,613,445 - 952,815,940 118,452,965 -

Resources

Deposits from 
Customers

1,191,157,255 38,065,653 3.20% 1,008,058,404 34,351,133 3.41%

Interbank resources 161,765,720 13,309,407 8.23% 171,600,104 16,872,213 9.83%

Leases interest 6,953,282 1,880,272 27.04% - - -

Financial liabilities 1,359,876,257 53,255,332 - 1,179,658,508 51,223,346 -

Net interest income - 66,358,113 - - 67,229,619 -

The sensitivity to the balance sheet interest rate risk, by currency, is calculated through the difference between the present 
value of the interest rate mismatch, discounted at market interest rates in force, and the discounted value of the same cash 
flows simulating parallel shifts of the market interest rate yield curve.
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As at 31 December 2019 and 2018 and according to the information reported to BNA, the financial instruments sensitivity 
analysis to interest rate changes are as follows:

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

Exposure by maturity intervals or rate re-adjustment – impact in equityExposure by maturity intervals or rate re-adjustment – impact in equity

Dec. 2019Dec. 2019

Time gapTime gap AssetsAssets LiabilitiesLiabilities Off-balance sheet Off-balance sheet 
itemsitems

PositionPosition EquityEquity

(+)(+) (-)(-)
Weighting Weighting 

factorfactor
Weighted Weighted 

positionposition

At sight - 1 
month

257,110,181 404,206,900 24,616,121 24,519,175 (146,999,773) 0.08% (117,600)

1 - 3 months 102,071,497 245,376,730 - - (143,305,233) 0.32% (458,577)

3 - 6 months 70,748,857 201,073,768 - - (130,324,911) 0.72% (938,339)

6 - 12 months 190,110,934 266,815,666 - - (76,704,732) 1.43% (1,096,878)

1 - 2 years 104,787,007 33,891,791 - - 70,895,216 2.77% 1,963,797

2 - 3 years 188,624,622 32,926,558 - - 155,698,064 4.49% 6,990,843

3 - 4 years 58,491,060 32,123,836 - - 26,367,224 6.14% 1,618,948

4 - 5 years 133,542,350 32,123,836 - - 101,418,514 7.71% 7,819,367

5 - 7 years 60,047,733 32,123,836 - - 27,923,897 10.15% 2,834,276

7 - 10 years 41,543,507 32,123,836 - - 9,419,671 13.26% 1,249,048

10 - 15 years 17,926,871 32,123,836 - - (14,196,965) 18.84% (2,674,708)

15 - 20 years 15,293,838 32,123,836 - - (16,829,998) 22.43% (3,774,969)

> 20 years 14,329,234 32,123,836 - - (17,794,602) 26.03% (4,631,935)

Total 8,783,274

Accumulated impact of instruments sensitive to interest rate 8,783,274

Regulatory own funds 110,657,159

Impact on economic value/own funds 7.94%

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

Exposure by maturity intervals or rate re-adjustment – impact in equityExposure by maturity intervals or rate re-adjustment – impact in equity

Dec. 2018Dec. 2018

Time gapTime gap AssetsAssets LiabilitiesLiabilities Off-balance sheet  Off-balance sheet  
itemsitems

PositionPosition EquityEquity

(+)(+) (-)(-)
Weighting Weighting 

factorfactor
Weighted Weighted 

positionposition

At sight - 1 
month

255,877,587 320,571,769 18,468,420 32,651,899 (78,877,660) 0.08% (63,102)

1 - 3 months 109,556,714 259,214,138 - - (149,657,423) 0.32% (478,904)

3 - 6 months 92,127,127 168,149,498 - - (76,022,370) 0.72% (547,361)

6 - 12 months 72,554,994 169,707,927 14,203,965 27,828 (82,976,796) 1.43% (1,186,568)

1 - 2 years 124,456,408 55,370,405 - - 69,086,003 2.77% 1,913,682

2 - 3 years 121,651,187 30,503,241 - - 91,147,946 4.49% 4,092,543

3 - 4 years 121,706,197 28,851,696 - - 92,854,501 6.14% 5,701,266

4 - 5 years 38,006,301 28,335,351 - - 9,670,950 7.71% 745,630

5 - 7 years 113,557,868 28,335,351 - - 85,222,517 10.15% 8,650,085

7 - 10 years 37,658,608 28,335,351 - - 9,323,257 13.26% 1,236,264

10 - 15 years 13,176,281 28,335,351 - - (15,159,070) 18.84% (2,855,969)

15 - 20 years 13,357,566 28,335,351 - - (14,977,785) 22.43% (3,359,517)

> 20 years 16,580,106 28,335,351 - - (11,755,245) 26.03% (3,059,890)

Total 10,788,160

Accumulated impact of instruments sensitive to interest rate 10,788,160

Regulatory own funds 101,138,615

Impact on economic value/own funds 10.67%

According to Article 6 of Notice No. 08/2016 of 16 May, the Bank shall inform Banco Nacional de Angola whenever there 
is a potential decrease in economic value in its banking portfolio equal or higher than 20% of regulatory own funds. 
During 2019 and 2018, the Bank complied with this requirement.
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As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the breakdown of assets and liabilities, by currency, is analysed as follows:

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

31.12.201931.12.2019

KwanzasKwanzas Kwanzas Kwanzas 
indexed at indexed at 
American American 

dollarsdollars

American American 
dollarsdollars

EuroEuro Other  Other  
currenciescurrencies

TotalTotal

Assets

Cash and deposits at central  
banks

98,294,369 - 90,743,585 1,399,185 551,309 190,988,448

Loans and advances to credit 
institutions repayable on  
demand

504,495 - 2,529,825 20,284,756 1,109,114 24,428,190

Financial assets at fair value  
through profit or loss

55,850,206 - 1,004,832 12,570,326 - 69,425,364

Financial assets at fair value  
through other comprehensive 
income

- 32,093,132 2,085,326 - - 34,178,458

Financial assets  
at amortised cost

- - - - - -

Debt securities 21,748,999 274,824,002 232,729,405 - - 529,302,406

Loans and advances  
to Customers

351,506,676 34,075,923 53,754,564 3,363,842 8 442,701,013

Other loans and advances  
to credit institutions

12,515,024 - 3,280,301 1,216,957 - 17,012,282

Other tangible assets 61,282,073 - - - - 61,282,073

Intangible assets 35,981,690 - - - - 35,981,690

Non-current assets  
held for sale

88,628,779 - - - - 88,628,779

Current tax assets 2,056,239 - - - - 2,056,239

Deferred tax assets 2,288,990 - - - - 2,288,990

Other assets 29,721,102 5,989,804 61,573,608 5,857,748 62,878 103,205,140

760,378,642 346,982,861 447,701,446 44,692,814 1,723,309 1,601,479,072

Liabilities

Deposits from central banks  
and other credit institutions

52,818,310 - 114,989,257 8,686,071 - 176,493,638

Deposits from Customers 
and other deposits

507,681,101 39,290,772 622,004,964 64,885,207 1,123,544 1,234,985,588

Financial assets at fair value  
through profit or loss

207,095 - - - - 207,095

Current tax assets - - - - - -

Deferred tax liabilities - 33,486 35,116 - - 68,602

Provisions 236,796 5,786,724 75,587 2,282,646 265 8,382,018

Other liabilities 15,173,747 - 917,914 1,892,667 40,215 18,024,543

576,117,049 45,110,982 738,022,838 77,746,591 1,164,024 1,438,161,484

Total 184,261,593 301,871,879 (290,321,392) (33,053,777) 559,285 163,317,588

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

31.12.201831.12.2018

KwanzasKwanzas Kwanzas Kwanzas 
indexed at indexed at 
American American 

dollarsdollars

American American 
dollarsdollars

EuroEuro Other  Other  
currenciescurrencies

TotalTotal

Assets       

Cash and deposits at central 
banks

95,665,319 - 62,242,504 1,121,223 343,206 159,372,252

Loans and advances to credit 
institutions repayable on 
demand

407,181 - 7,673,129 17,877,926 781,493 26,739,729

Financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss

26,620,444 - - - - 26,620,444

Financial assets at fair value 
through other comprehensive 
income

82,146,938 73,654,676 42,318,112 - - 198,119,726

Financial assets  
at amortised cost

- - - - - -

Debt securities 15,351,265 190,561,375 69,056,076 - - 274,968,716

Loans and advances  
to Customers

318,910,000 19,249,412 71,612,644 10,492,518 3 420,264,577

Other loans and advances 
to credit institutions

- - 10,645,977 2,666,588 - 13,312,565

Other tangible assets 65,709,104 - - - - 65,709,104

Intangible assets 32,625,573 - - - - 32,625,573

Non-current assets  
held for sale

65,790,661 - - - - 65,790,661

Current tax assets 1,419,014 - 299,444 - - 1,718,458

Deferred tax assets 1,832,945 - - - - 1,832,945

Other assets 31,370,086 - 36,791,267 3,496,676 39,188 71,697,217

737,848,530 283,465,463 300,639,153 35,654,931 1,163,890 1,358,771,967

Liabilities

Deposits from central banks 
and other credit institutions

70,575,290 - 89,088,605 390,685 - 160,054,580

Deposits from Customers  
and other deposits

492,386,131 50,935,880 457,729,474 41,159,474 713,589 1,042,924,548

Financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss

50,510 - - - - 50,510

Current tax assets - - - - - -

Deferred tax liabilities 490,164 - 371,848 - - 862,012

Provisions 540,410 2,777,463 356,042 1,487,177 9 5,161,101

Other liabilities 5,129,315 11,046,598 (2,615,673) 1,022,593 96,893 14,679,726

569,171,820 64,759,941 544,930,296 44,059,929 810,491 1,223,732,477

Total 168,676,710 218,705,522 (244,291,143) (8,404,998) 353,399 135,039,490
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The sensitivity analysis of the book value of financial instruments to changes in exchange rates, as at 31 December 2019 
and 2018 is presented as follows:

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

31.12.201931.12.2019

-20%-20% -10%-10% -5%-5% 5%5% 10%10% 20%20%

CurrencyCurrency

American dollars 58,064,278 29,032,139 14,516,070 (14,516,070) (29,032,139) 58,064,278

Kwanzas indexed  
at American dollars

(60,374,376) (30,187,188) (15,093,594) 15,093,594 30,187,188 (60,374,376)

Euro 6,610,755 3,305,378 1,652,689 (1,652,689) (3,305,378) 6,610,755

Other currencies (111,858) (55,929) (27,964) 27,964 55,929 (111,857)

Total 4,188,800 2,094,401 1,047,200 (1,047,200) (2,094,401) 4,188,801

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

31.12.201831.12.2018

-20%-20% -10%-10% -5%-5% 5%5% 10%10% 20%20%

CurrencyCurrency

American dollars 48,858,229 24,429,114 12,214,557 (12,214,557) (24,429,114) 48,858,229

Kwanzas indexed  
at American dollars

(43,741,104) (21,870,552) (10,935,276) 10,935,276 21,870,552 (43,741,104)

Euro 1,681,000 840,500 420,250 (420,250) (840,500) 1,681,000

Other currencies (70,681) (35,340) (17,670) 17,670 35,340 (70,680)

Total 6,727,443 3,363,722 1,681,861 (1,681,861) (3,363,722) 6,727,444

The result of the presented stress test corresponds to the expected impact (before taxes) on shareholders’ equity, due 
to a 20% valuation in the exchange rate of each currency against the kwanza.

Liquidity Risk
The assessment of the liquidity risk is made using internal metrics, defined by the Bank’s management, namely, exposure 
limits. This control is reinforced with monthly execution of stress tests, in order to characterize the Bank’s risk profile and 
ensure that fulfils its obligations in a liquidity crisis scenario.

The purpose of liquidity management is to maintain adequate liquidity levels to meet short, medium and long term fund-
ing needs. Liquidity risk is monitored on a daily basis and several reports are prepared for control, monitor and support 
to the decision-making process of the Risk Committee.

The evolution of the liquidity situation is performed based particularly on future cash flows estimated for various time 
horizons, considering the Bank’s balance sheet. To the calculated values is added the analysis day’s liquidity position 
and the amount of assets considered highly liquid in the portfolio of uncommitted assets, determining the cumulative 
liquidity gap for different time horizons. Additionally, it is also performed a follow-up of liquidity positions of a prudential 
point of view, calculated under the rules required by Banco Nacional de Angola (Instruction No. 06/2016 of 8 August).

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the residual maturities of the Bank's financial assets and liabilities had the fol-
lowing structure:

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

31.12.201931.12.2019

Maturity datesMaturity dates

On demandOn demand Within 3 Within 3 
monthsmonths

3 to 12  3 to 12  
monthsmonths

1 to 5  1 to 5  
yearsyears

Above Above 
5 years5 years

Undeter-Undeter-
minedmined

TotalTotal

AssetsAssets

Cash and 
deposits at 
central banks

190,988,448 - - - - - 190,988,448

Loans and 
advances to 
credit institutions 
repayable on 
demand

24,428,190 - - - - - 24,428,190

Financial assets 
at fair value 
through profit  
or loss

- 12,603,632 - 13,896 106,575 56,701,261 69,425,364

Financial assets 
at fair value 
through other 
comprehensive 
income

- 804,772 4,406,114 28,621,889 - 345,683 34,178,458

Financial assets 
at amortised cost

Debt 
securities - 27,660,108 88,201,058 358,677,914 63,041,820 - 537,580,900

Loans and 
advances to 
Customers

- 25,791,809 37,208,996 131,788,088 205,444,897 82,407,953 482,641,743

Other loans 
and advances 
to credit 
institutions

- 16,517,468 405,748 - - - 16,923,216

215,416,638 83,377,789 130,221,916 519,101,787 268,593,292 139,454,897 1,356,166,319

Liabilities

Deposits from 
central banks 
and other credit 
institutions

- 152,643,646 - - - - 152,643,646

Deposits from 
Customers and 
other deposits

480,107,421 181,766,299 564,903,344 - - - 1,226,777,064

Financial 
liabilities at fair 
value through 
profit or loss

- 207,095 - - - - 207,095

480,107,421 334,617,040 564,903,344 - - - 1,379,627,805

Net exposure (264,690,783) (251,239,251) (434,681,428) 519,101,787 268,593,292 139,454,897 (23,461,486)
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(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

31.12.201831.12.2018

Maturity datesMaturity dates

On demandOn demand Within 3 Within 3 
monthsmonths

3 to 12  3 to 12  
monthsmonths

1 to 5  1 to 5  
yearsyears

Above Above 
5 years5 years

Undeter-Undeter-
minedmined

TotalTotal

AssetsAssets

Cash and deposits 
at central banks

159,372,252 - - - - - 159,372,252

Loans  
and advances 
to credit 
institutions 
repayable on 
demand

26,739,729 - - - - - 26,739,729

Financial assets at 
fair value through 
profit or loss

- 128,968 9,697,278 87,441 319,352 16,387,405 26,620,444

Financial assets 
at fair value 
through other 
comprehensive 
income

- 2,145,799 16,203,746 103,384,303 76,048,096 337,782 198,119,726

Financial assets 
at amortised cost

Debt 
securities - 14,579,248 22,851,970 193,744,246 44,471,955 - 275,647,419

Loans  
and advances 
to Customers

- 89,661,510 37,311,736 77,379,572 194,311,965 56,148,597 454,813,380

Other loans 
and advances 
to credit 
institutions

- 10,690,531 2,582,766 - - - 13,273,297

186,111,981 117,206,056 88,647,496 374,595,562 315,151,368 72,873,784 1,154,586,247

Liabilities

Deposits from 
central banks 
and other credit 
institutions

- 146,195,840 10,000,000 - - - 156,195,840

Deposits from 
Customers and 
other deposits

425,015,653 324,866,543 284,669,722 - - - 1,034,551,918

Financial 
liabilities at fair 
value through 
profit or loss

- 50,510 - - - - 50,510

425,015,653 471,112,893 294,669,722 - - - 1,190,798,268

Net exposure (238,903,672) (353,906,837) (206,022,226) 374,595,562 315,151,368 72,873,784 (36,212,021)

The Bank already calculates the Liquidity Ratio in accordance with Instruction 19/2016 of 
30 August. This Instruction defines, as a minimum, a 100% ratio in kwanzas and 150% for 
the exposure in foreign currency. 

Real Estate Risk
As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, exposure to real estate and investments real estate fund 
units presented the following values:

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

31.12.201931.12.2019 31.12.201831.12.2018

Real estate received as loan guarantee 90,246,647 64,784,882

Real estate reclassified from property  
and equipment

2,056,814 2,983,181

Total 92,303,461 67,768,063

Operating Risk
The Bank’s Risk Department performs the corporate operational risk management function 
of the Bank, which is supported by the existence of counterparts in different organizational 
units that ensure the adequate implementation of operational risk management in the Bank.

The Bank has initiated a set of guidelines and actions aimed at better alignment of 
systems, human resources and processes in order to allow an effective continuous mit-
igation of Operating Risk, making a continuous investment to be in line with the best 
international practices.

ATLANTlCO's operating risk management is based on a process-based organizational 
model that allows the Bank to adopt an end-to-end perspective of the value chain of 
products and services in Operating Risk management, involving the whole organization 
and enhancing cross-responsibility.

The identification of events that might generate Operating Risk and respective assess-
ment is performed at the level of the organic units by the process owners of the different 
Operating Risk processes.

Operating Risk management is performed using three instruments:

■ �actions performed by Departments;

■ �Risk self-assessment meetings organized by those responsible for each process and 
which allow the Bank to take a qualitative approach to identifying potential risks through 
a structured analysis from a procedural perspective;

■ �Identification and quantification of Key Risk Indicators (KRI) or, in other words, metrics 
that identify changes in the risk profile or in the processes controls effectiveness, allowing 
the preventive implementation of corrective actions.

Capital Management and Solvency Ratio
The Bank's own funds are calculated in accordance with the applicable regulatory stand-
ards, namely with Notice no. 02/2016 of 28 April and Instruction no. 18/2016 of 08 August. 
The solvency ratio reflects the ratio of regulatory own funds and the sum of the value of 
regulatory own funds requirements for credit risk and counterparty credit risk (Notice 
No. 3/2016), own funds requirements for market risk and credit risk of counterparties in 
the trading portfolio (Notice 04/2016) and own funds requirements for operational risk 
(Notice no. 05/2016).
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Angolan financial institutions shall maintain a level of own funds compatible with the nature 
and scale of operations, duly weighted by the risks inherent to the operations, with a minimum 
regulatory Solvency Ratio of 10%.

Regulatory Own Funds comprise:

1. �Original Own Fund – comprise: (i) paid-up share capital; (ii) share premiums relating to 
elements included in the previous paragraph; (iii) reserve for monetary adjustments of 
paid-up share capital; (iv) positive retained earnings from previous periods; (v) legal, 
statutory and other reserves resulting from undistributed income/profit, or incorporated 
for capital increase and (vi) positive net income of the previous period; (vii) provisional 
positive net income of the current period; (viii) portion of the reserve and net income 
related to deferred tax assets, provided that they relate to losses containing as a neg-
ative element original own funds, and (ix) instruments whose issuance conditions were 
previously approved by Banco Nacional de Angola.

Negative elements of the Original Own Funds – comprise: (i) own shares in the portfolio, at 
the book value in the balance sheet; (ii) negative income, retained from previous periods; 
(iii) negative net income from the previous period; (iv) negative latent income relating to 
revaluation of securities; (v) negative latent income relating to the revaluation of avail-
able-for-sale securities and cash flow hedges and investments abroad; (vi) provisional 
negative net income for the current period; (vii) intangible assets net of depreciations; 
(viii) deferred costs relating to pension liabilities; (ix) portion of the reserve and net 
income related to deferred tax liabilities, provided that they relate to gains containing 
as a positive element original own funds; (x) positive revaluation differences resulting 
from the application of the equity method; (xi) lack of provisions under the provisions 
of Notice 12/2014, of 17 December, on the constitution of provisions; and (xii) actuarial 
losses not recognised in profit and loss.

2. �Additional Own Funds – comprise: fixed-term preferred shares; (ii) generic funds and 
provisions; (iii) reserves resulting from real estate for own use; (iv) subordinated debt, in 
the form of loans or bonds issued, whose issuance conditions were previously approved 
by Banco Nacional de Angola; (v) positive latent income relating to the revaluation of 
available-for-sale securities and cash flow hedges and investments abroad, up to 45% 
(forty five percent) of their value (by the amount of the net effect of the hedge) before 
taxes; (vi) other instruments whose issuance conditions have been previously approved 
by Banco Nacional de Angola. 

3. �Deductions – comprise: (i) instruments issued or obtained by other financial institutions, 
of which the Institutions are holders, provided for in Article 5 (2) (a) and (i) and Article 
7 (2) (a), (d) and (f), both of Notice 02/2016. This deduction should consider the book 
value in the balance sheet, net of provisions, and should met the following conditions:

	 a) �If the Institution has a participation above 10% (ten percent) of the investee’s share 
capital, all of the aforementioned instruments shall be deducted, or 

	 b) �If the Institution has a participation below or equal to 10% (ten percent) of the inves-
tee’s share capital, and if above ten 10% (ten percent) of the investor’s share capital, 
all of the aforementioned instruments shall be deducted, except 10% (ten percent) 
of the investor’s own funds, determined before this deduction;

(ii) the surplus against the limits established in Notice 9/2016, on prudential limits to 
large exposures. 

Positive income referred to in the previous points may only be considered 
when certified by the chartered accountant, member of the supervisory 
board or statutory auditor and by the external auditor.

An overview of the Bank’s capital requirements calculations for 31 
December 2019 is as follows:

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

31.12.201931.12.2019

Regulatory Own Funds Requirements

Credit and counterparty risk 59,016,619

Operating risk 13,639,753

Market risk and counterparty credit risk 
in the trading portfolio

3,458,533

A 76,114,905

Regulatory Own Funds

Original own funds 127,398,142

Additional own funds 103,263

Discounts from basic and 
complementary own funds

(16,844,246)

B 110,657,159

Regulatory solvency ratio C=B/A*10% 14.54%

(AOA thousand)(AOA thousand)

31.12.201831.12.2018

Regulatory Own Funds Requirements

Credit and counterparty risk 46,996,166

Operating risk 13,686,072

Market risk and counterparty credit risk 
in the trading portfolio

2,798,783

 A 63,481,021

Regulatory Own Funds

Original own funds 99,629,575

Additional own funds 1,509,040

 B 101,138,615

Regulatory solvency ratio C=B/A*10% 15.93%
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Note 36. 
Recently issued accounting standards and 
interpretations

The accounting standards and interpretations recently issued that have 
become effective and that the Bank has applied in preparing its financial 
statements are as follows:

IFRS 16 – Leases
IASB, issued on 13 January 2016, IFRS 16 Leases, of mandatory applica-
tion for periods beginning on or after 01 January 2019. The standard was 
endorsed in the European Union by European Commission Regulation 
1986/2017 of 31 October. Early adoption is permitted provided that IFRS 
15 is also adopted. This standard revokes IAS 17 – Leases.

IFRS 16 removes the classification of leases as operating or financial (for the 
lessor – the customer of the lease), treating all leases as financial.

Short-term leases (less than 12 months) and leases of low-value assets (such 
as personal computers) are exempt from the requirements of the standard.

IFRIC 23 – Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatment
On 7 June 2017 was issued an interpretation on how to handle, in an account-
ing manner, uncertainties about the tax treatment of income taxes, especially 
when tax legislation requires that a payment be made to the Authorities in the 
context of a tax dispute and the entity intends to appeal to a tax examination 
which resulted in a payment to a taxation authority.

The interpretation has determined that the payment can be considered as a 
tax asset, if it is related to income taxes, in accordance with IAS 12 applying 
the criterion of probability defined by the standard as to the favourable 
outcome in favour of the entity on the matter concerned. 

In this context, the entity may use the most likely amount method or, if the 
resolution can dictate ranges of values, use the expected value method.

IFRIC 23 was adopted by EU Commission Regulation 2018/1595 of 23 October 
and is mandatory for financial years starting on or after 1 January 2019 and 
may be adopted in advance.

No significant changes have been recorded in the adoption of this interpretation.

The Bank has decided not to apply in advance the following standards 
and/or interpretations adopted by the European Union:

Definition of Materiality (amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8)
On 31 October 2018, the IASB issued amendments to its definition of mate-
riality to help companies make materiality judgments.

The amendments consist of (a) replacing the term 'may influence' with 'may rea-
sonably be expected to influence'; (b) including the concept of 'concealment' 
together with the concepts of 'omission' and 'misstatement' of information in 
the definition of materiality; (c) clarifying that the 'users' referred to are the 
primary users of the general financial statements referred to in the Framework; 
and (d) aligning the definition of materiality among IFRS disclosures.

The amended definition of materiality therefore states that 'The information 
is material if it can reasonably be expected that its omission, misstatement or 
concealment could influence the decisions that primary users of the general 
financial statements will make on the basis of those financial statements, which 
provide the financial information about a particular reporting entity'.

The amendments are effective from 1 January 2020, but can be imple-
mented in advance. 

Amendments to references to the IFRS standards framework
In March 2018, the IASB issued a comprehensive set of financial reporting 
concepts, the revised Framework for Financial Reporting (Framework), 
which aims to update, in the existing standards, references and citations 
to the existing version of the Framework or the version that was replaced 
in 2010, replacing them with references to the revised Framework.

The revised Framework is effective from 1 January 2020 – with early 
adoption permitted – for companies that use the Framework to develop 
accounting policies when no IFRS standard applies to a specific transaction.

Reform of Interest Rate Benchmarks (amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 
and IFRS 7)
On 26 September 2019, the IASB issued amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 
and IFRS 7. The amendments modify some specific hedge accounting 
requirements to ease the potential effects of the uncertainty caused by 
the IBOR reform. Moreover, the amendments require companies to provide 
additional information to investors about their hedging relationships, which 
are directly affected by these uncertainties.
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The amendments provide exceptions for entities to apply hedge accounting requirements, 
assuming that the interest rate benchmark, on which the hedged risk, the hedged item's 
cash flows or the hedged instrument's cash flows are based, is not changed as a result of 
the IBOR reform. The proposed exceptions apply only to hedge accounting requirements 
and the amendments do not provide any cushion against other consequences arising from 
the reform of the interest rate benchmark.

The amendments have a limited scope. If a hedge relationship no longer meets the hedge 
accounting requirements for reasons other than those specified in the amendments, dis-
continuing hedge accounting remains necessary.

In addition, the amendments clarify that if an entity designates cash flows based on inter-
est rate benchmarks as the hedged item in a cash flow hedge, the entity does not assume, 
for the purpose of measuring the ineffectiveness of the hedge, that expected replacement 
of the interest rate benchmark with an alternative benchmark will result in no cash flow after 
replacement. The gain or loss on the hedge shall be measured using cash flows based on an 
interest rate benchmark when applying a present value technique, discounted at a market 
discount rate that reflects market participants' expectations about the uncertainty resulting 
from the reform.

Amendments are mandatory for all hedge relationships to which the exceptions apply.

The amendments have an effective date of adoption of annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2020. Early adoption is allowed. Amendments are applied retrospectively 
to hedging relationships existing at the beginning of the reporting period in which the 
entity first applies the amendments and to the gain or loss recognised in comprehensive 
income at the beginning of the period in which the entity first applies the amendments 
(that is, even if the reporting period is not an annual period).

Standards, amendments and interpretations issued but not yet in force 
for the Bank

Clarification of requirements for classifying liabilities as current or non-current 
(amendments to IAS 1 – Presentation of Financial Statements)
The IASB issued on 23 January 2020 an amendment to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial 
Statements to clarify how to classify debt and other liabilities as current and non-current.

The amendments aim to promote consistency in the application of requirements to help 
companies determine whether, in the statement of financial position, debt or other liabil-
ities with an uncertain settlement date should be classified as current (to be settled or 
potentially settled within one year) or non-current. The amendments include clarification 
on the debt classification requirements that a business can settle by converting into capital.

This amendment becomes effective for periods after 1 January 2022.

Note 37.
Events after the reporting period

With regard to the public health pandemic associated with the new COVID-19 virus, since it 
is not yet possible to determine the possible impacts, the Bank's Board of Directors has been 
monitoring developments at national and international level in order to take timely action to 
mitigate any impact that may arise. In this sense, the Bank has defined a Contingency Plan 
aimed at preventing and mitigating the risks associated with the spread of the virus, which 
determines the adoption of measures that allow: ensuring the lives and health of employees 
and their safety conditions by providing preventive information and appropriate means of 
protection, maintaining essential services in operation, ensuring the operation and function-
ing of infrastructures and assessing the asset value impacts.

Although Governments and Central Banks and Multilateral Agencies are developing packages 
with measures to stimulate economies – such as the easing of deadlines for compliance with 
credit obligations determined in Instruction No. 04/2020 of the Banco Nacional de Angola – the 
existing data do not allow the quantification of financial impacts in a reliable manner. However, 
the Bank is taking steps to minimise these impacts on its solvency and liquidity.

Note 38.
Explanation added for translation

These financial statements and corresponding notes are a free translation of the financial 
statements and notes to the financial statements originally issued in Portuguese in accord-
ance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union. 
In the event of discrepancies, the Portuguese language version prevails.


	6.0 Financial Statements and Notes to the Financial Statements
	Financial Statements
	Balance Sheet as at 31 December 2019 and 2018
	Income Statement for the periods ended at 31 December 2019 and 2018
	Statement of Comprehensive Income for the periods ended at 31 December 2019 and 2018
	Changes in equity for the periods ended  at 31 December 2019 and 2018
	Cash Flow Statement for the periods ended at 31 December 2019 and 2018

	Notes to the Financial Statements
	Index
	Note 1. Introduction
	Note 2. Accounting policies
	Note 3. Critical accounting estimates and judgments used in the preparation of the financial statements
	Note 4. Cash and deposits at central banks 
	Note 5. Loans and advances to credit institutions repayable on demand
	Note 6. Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit and loss
	Note 7. Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
	Note 8. Financial assets at amortised cost – Debt securities
	Note 9. Loans and advances to Customers
	Note 10. Other loans and advances to central banks and credit institutions
	Note 11. Property and equipment
	Note 12. Intangible assets
	Note 13. Non-current assets held for sale
	Note 14. Taxes
	Note 15. Other assets
	Note 16. Deposits from central banks and other credit institutions
	Note 17. Deposits from Customers
	Note 18. Provisions
	Note 19. Other liabilities
	Note 20. Share capital, Share premiums and Treasury stock
	Note 21. Reserves and Retained earnings
	Note 22. Net interest income
	Note 23. Net fee and commission income
	Note 24. Net gains/(losses) arising from financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit and loss
	Note 25. Gains arising from financial operations
	Note 26. Net gains/(losses) arising from foreign exchange differences
	Note 27. Net gains/(losses) arising from the sale of other assets
	Note 28. Staff costs
	Note 29. Supplies and services
	Note 30. Other operating income
	Note 31. Earnings per share
	Note 32. Guarantees and other commitments
	Note 33. Transactions with related parties
	Note 34. Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
	Note 35. Risk Management
	Note 36. Recently issued accounting standards and interpretations
	Note 37. Events after the reporting period
	Note 38. Explanation added for translation





